
 
 

Borough of Tamworth 

 

 
15 February 2021 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of this Borough to be 
held on TUESDAY, 23RD FEBRUARY, 2021 at 6.10 pm in the ONLINE MEETING, for 
the transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 24) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 
in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
 

4 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader, Members of the 
Cabinet or the Chief Executive  

5 Question Time:  

 (i) To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to 
Procedure Rule No. 10. 

 

(ii) To answer questions from members of the Council pursuant to 
Procedure Rule No. 11 

 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



6 Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021/22 (Pages 25 - 194) 

 (Report of the Leader of the Council) 
 

7 Appointment of the Leader of the Council  
 

8 Recommendation from the Corporate Scrutiny Committee - Cemeteries 
Regulations  

 (To receive an update from the Chair of Corporate Scrutiny Committee) 
 

 
 
Yours faithfully  
 

 
 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

_____________________________________ 

Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 

possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 

of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 

public being accidentally filmed.    

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 

location of any cameras when selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 
 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


Marmion House 
Lichfield Street 
Tamworth 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

COUNCIL 
HELD ON 15th DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor R Claymore (Mayor), Councillors M Oates, 

R Kingstone, M Bailey, D Box, P Brindley, J Chesworth, R Bilcliff, 
T Clements, D Cook, M Cook, C Cooke, S Doyle, A Farrell, 
J Faulkner, R Ford, S Goodall, M J Greatorex, T Jay, K Norchi, 
J Oates, S Peaple, Dr S Peaple, B Price, R Pritchard, S Pritchard, 
R Rogers, P Standen, M Summers and P Thurgood 

 
The following officers were present: Andrew Barratt (Chief Executive), Anica 
Goodwin (Executive Director Organisation), Stefan Garner (Executive Director 
Finance), Sarah McGrandle (Assistant Director Operations and Leisure), Lynne 
Pugh (Assistant Director Finance), Rebecca Neill (Head of Audit & Governance 
and  Monitoring Officer), Tracey Pointon (Legal Admin & Democratic Services 
Manager), Jodie Small (Legal, Democratic and Corporate Support Assistant) and 
Adam Deakin (Technical Infrastructure Engineer) 
 
Apologies received from: Councillor(s)  
 

32 TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27th October 2020 were approved and signed 
as a correct record with the agreed amendment to “Heart of Tamworth” from “Part 
of Tamworth” on Agenda item 4, Questions from members of the council no.3, 
supplementary from Councillor P Standen. 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor Dr S Peaple) 
 

33 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

34 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, LEADER, 
MEMBERS OF THE CABINET OR THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
Councillor R Pritchard made the following announcement - 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor with your indulgence Madam Mayor in light of our 
experiences this year and adapting to the format of meetings in this public health 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

2 
 

situation, I would like to move the following motions without notice under rule 
4.2.27 and 4.13q  
 
 
No 1 that the Council formally thank all officers for their efforts to ensure that this 
Council could still meet during the pandemic  
 
No 2, that in order to help the authority begin to deliver the early stage of the 
reset and recovery plan, the Council continue to hold virtual meetings for the 
coming municipal year subject to legislation; 
 
No 3 that we return to the constituted membership for Cabinet meetings, and;  
 
No, 4 we ask Officers to continue to seek feedback to improve both members and 
the publics experience of virtual meetings and I hope for a seconder Madam 
Mayor.” 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor C Cooke) 
 
A vote was taken the 4 motions were carried. 
 
 
Councillor D Cook made the following announcement - 
 
"Thank you Madam Mayor and Merry Christmas 

Please can I ask Councillor and Officer Colleagues of Tamworth Borough Council 
to note my intention to resign as Leader of the Council. 

I have been Leader of this Council for 11 years and 8 days, and other than my 
family, it has been the greatest privilege of my life and I hope you all agree I gave 
it my all. I never took it for granted and was honoured to be this Councils choice 
for so long. 

During this period I have also held a full time day job and was for a couple of 
years of my leadership I was also a single father – again while fully employed in 
the demanding Logistics sector and Leader of this Council 24/7. That takes a lot 
of managing - and is exhausting. But I made it work as best as my abilities 
enabled. 

However, 11 years is long enough for anyone to juggle these demands. Being 
Leader of TBC is all my youngest daughter remembers me ever being – she is 
actually in pieces knowing I do this because she sees it as part of who her father 
is. 

For those who did not know, my wife Cllr Michelle Cook is pregnant and it is time 
for me to give her my fuller attention as well as my daughters. 

Leadership has been a journey full of up’s and down’s, full of success and the 
odd failure. I have never believed I am infallible and I am certainly not perfect, but 

Page 6



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

3 
 

no one can be, certainly not when governing for 77,000 people and their complex 
needs and desires. 

I am a great believer in “Time will not dim the glory of their deeds.” a quote from 
General John J. Pershing. 
 

I say this because I recall a conversation as my leadership began so long ago 
with two former Council Leaders, Cllr Jeremy Oates and Cllr Peter Seekings - 
who sadly passed away a few years ago. They asked me over a cup of tea what 
legacy I wanted. I responded, “Not to be remembered”. Simply because 99% of 
the time in politics you are remembered for your failings rather than your 
successes. It is a cruel truth. 

As the sun sets on my time in this role, I see it different now. I look back with pride 
on the journey undertaken, on how we collectively moved the Council and the 
Town forward with confidence and energy. Its strange how at the end, you start to 
recall the beginning. 

Early December 2009, I was on a training course called the “Leadership 
Academy” in Coventry and on this day my predecessor resigned as Council 
Leader. I walked into the course on Monday 8am as Deputy Leader, by 6pm I 
was Leader of the Council (well while awaiting a Council vote). The company 
running the course still dine out on that, Deputy Leader walked in to our 
Leadership Academy training course and he was Leader 10 hours later. 

I will never forget that Monday afternoon, on the phone with former Council 
Leader Jeremy Oates. It was clear one of us needed to step up to Leader. It was 
an hour’s conversation along the lines of - you have to take Leadership, no way, 
you do. No you do. I’m not, you do it. This went on a long time before I caved. 

I had declined Leadership 5 months earlier in June 2009, so tried twice to refuse, 
succeeded once. 

I never aspired to Leader and yet here I am 11 years later. 

I think of the challenges myself and colleagues met head on. We didn’t always 
make popular choices, but we made the choices with the evidence available. 

HRA Reform in 2011 as the nature of financing Council Housing stock budgets 
changed. A massive long term financial commitment 

 

The decade of Austerity we navigated was challenging year to year since the first 
government cut to our finances in February 2010 from Gordon Brown. 7.2% if 
memory serves. The fact that today we still have not ceased a Council service to 
our residents gives me great pride. Yes, some services are different and some 
changed to deliver outcomes differently, but they all still exist. 

We had the courage to finally resolve the financial black hole that was Tamworth 
Golf Course and provide much needed houses. This was a hard road to walk and 
I recall answering 100’s of E-mails at 2am / 3am some nights from residents, as I 
insisted it was my role to stand on the front line of the decision and give residents 
the answers myself. Leaders lead from the front. 

Page 7



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

4 
 

 

Had the courage to introduce Green Bin charges, not a single Councillor wanted 
to do this, including me? Still hate it! However, we knew it had to be done due to 
the changing nature of Recycling credits. 

 
The demolition and re-build of Tinkers Green and the Kiera housing estates. In 
the 21st Century, people should not have to live in homes of that poor quality. 

 

We took our involvement in economic development away from just Staffordshire, 
but joined Economic Partnerships with Councils around Greater Birmingham. This 
is where Tamworth’s economy truly sits and we wanted a seat at the table. 

 

Resourcing £1.1million pounds to secure the foundations of the castle in 2011/12 
ensuring it stands for future generations to enjoy. 

 

Securing £6 million plus to bring the Assembly Rooms back to life. It looks and is 
spectacular again. It is just a shame that during Covid 19 it remains temporarily 
closed. 

 

Agreed to take refugee families from war torn Syria and give them homes in 
Tamworth. And then almost hand in hand with Cllr Simon Peaple, Leader of the 
Labour Councillors faced down an EDL protest over the decision. 

 

I recall that in 2015 for the first time since 1981 we actually increased the number 
of Council houses the council had in total over that 12 months. In fact, in my own 
ward we doubled the number of Council houses. Not many Conservative Leaders 
can state that, well if any. In fairness, it went from 8 to 16, but there you go! 

 

The largest percentage drop in unemployment in the UK between 2008 and 2015 
– a fall of 71% in unemployment. 

 
Led the 2019 campaign “Tamworth – What’s next”. From this campaign, we are 
designing a master plan to change our Town Centre and evolve it into a 
21st century destination of choice. 

Watched this Council and our superb voluntary sector navigate the Pandemic, 
working so hard to help and protect those who needed us. I will never be able to 
thank Council officers and volunteers fully for their efforts. 

 

But one of my proudest successes is under my Leadership was I led us away 
from Political whims and ideology, all our policies and decisions became purely 
evidence based working hand in hand with public sector partners. Let us recall 
that our Peer Review in 2013, completed by the Local Government Association 
stated the council has “Strong Political Leadership”. 

 

Oh and also spent the 2015 General Election dealing with a pig with a 
Policeman’s helmet, Great fun! 

Page 8



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

5 
 

 
In my time of Leadership, I have employed 3 Chief Executives, a total of 12 
Cabinet members and had some great sparring sessions with 3 different 
Opposition Leaders. Hence my point, 11 years is enough for the present. Always 
leave with them wanting more. (I say tongue in cheek). 

At this point Madam Mayor, I wish thank a few colleagues for support and 
friendship over the last decade or so. I hope all appreciate I cannot thank 
everyone tonight, there are simply too many and in my own time I will thank them 
all personally. However, here is a few who deserve mention. 

My rock, Cllr Robert Pritchard. You have been my deputy leader for 10 years, In 
fact, you were never a deputy, you were stood with me every day shoulder to 
shoulder, a rock of political advice and support. 

My great friend Cllr Jeremy Oates. I was your deputy leader so long ago and you 
taught me so much. Your continued advice and sound thinking has been 
essential. In fact, my wife thinks I talk to you more than her. 

My go to guy, Cllr Stephen Doyle. I have changed your Cabinet position so often I 
cannot remember them all. This was not because you ever failed, but that you are 
so capable of bringing fresh insight and hitting the ground running no matter the 
terrain. I will never be able to fully thank you and your wife Jenny for all the 
childcare you provided for my daughter during some hard times and making her 
so welcome in your home. 

The legend, Cllr Steve Claymore. As we all know, Steve sadly passed away in 
2019, without Steve my leadership would have been a failure. His achievements 
for Tamworth out live him and he was the finest cabinet member I ever saw 
operate. 

And of course, the two Chief Executives I gave the roles. Tony Goodwin and 
Andrew Barratt, I would not have changed either of you for any other Chief Exec I 
ever met. Your professionalism and passion for Tamworth shine through daily. 

As I say, others need to be thanked and I will be doing the rounds so to speak. 

So Madam Mayor, I stated at the beginning of this short speech it was my 
intention to resign. I will now set out the timetable for this. 

I invite this Council to elect a new Leader at the Council meeting of 23rd February 
2021 after I have presented the Budget, the new leader to take the office on the 
1st March 2021. 
 
My intention is to ensure over the next two months that the Council sets a solid 
budget for the coming years and this will be challenging. We know the impact of 
the pandemic and of the proposed government changes to retained Business 
Rates have put a hole in our finances and strong Leaders do not run from a 
problem. Thus, I will deliver the budget in February, the Council will then elect a 
new Leader and I have a few days for a smooth hand over leading to the 
1st March. 
 

Page 9



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

6 
 

I feel this is the right time for me to stop, a decision I took while on family holiday 
in Crete in July 2020. In fact I had already informed the CEO and Leader of the 
Opposition this would be my final year no matter what earlier than that. The 
timeline gives a new Leader the right to set the State of the Borough Debate in 
March 2021 and potentially outline their vision. The new Leader can then lead 
their political group into the next local elections. 

It is not for me to decide who follows me Madam Mayor; it is for all the Councillors 
to decide on the 23rd February. I am sure all Political groups will discuss this over 
coming weeks leading to a democratic vote. 
 
Let me finish with some hard-earned advice for whoever follows me into 
Leadership. Be strong, be honest, be humble, never hide and hold the line on 
your decisions, don’t see a popularity contest, see long-term opportunities to 
improve the lives of the residents we serve. Follow the evidence, not an ideology.  
And, never underestimate the intelligence of the residents of Tamworth. 

Tamworth is a magnificent place. Full of diverse and wonderful people. They 
deserve our best and I know we all give all of ourselves to the principle. We might 
not always align in agreement, but I know every single Councillor in Tamworth 
came into the role with the right intentions. 

Therefore, it’s not quite goodbye yet, but the process can begin. It been an 
honour to continue to gain your support year after year and I thank you for the 
confidence you have shown in me. 

I believe tonight that I see how lucky I am to have had something that makes 
saying Goodbye so hard, but the earth continues to turn and the seasons change 
for us all. Few things are constant and we all move through life in the best way we 
know how. 

It is time for a new challenge. Leadership is about strong character, I leave the 
same way as I arrived, head held high and determined. I have a quotation from 
Bret Stephens, a New York Times reporter I believe is apt, “Before the word 
'resignation' became a euphemism for being fired, it connoted a sense of public 
integrity and personal honour.” I leave on my terms Madam Mayor and with a 
sense of pride. 
 
I look forward to spending more time with my perfect wife Michelle, my two 
daughters, my granddaughter and the little bundle of joy currently doing 
gymnastics inside Michelle. 

Thank you Madam Mayor." 

 
Councillor R Claymore made the following announcement-  
 
 
“Thank you Danny. I have a list of people here that want to speak but can you just 
please indulge me for a couple of minutes, just to say that I can’t really let this 
moment go without saying a huge thank you to Danny for his unfailing dedication 
to the role as Leader and his commitment to ensure he’s always done his best for 

Page 10



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

7 
 

the people of Tamworth and I know that has meant a lot to you Danny, and on a 
personal level, Danny has supported me through some difficult times and I’m 
proud to call him my friend.” 
 
Councillor J Oates made the following announcement- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor like yourself I couldn’t let this moment go without 
saying thank you to Danny Cook, and I’m going to start with a big wow for 
somebody that wanted to be forgotten or not remembered as he put it that is one 
heck of a legacy. It’s difficult to add to his list of achievements there. Danny as 
you know I was Leader for a Short period before you and I experienced a couple 
of years at it nowhere near 11 and I know it’s tough and all the things you said 
there I recognise, it’s tough answering emails at 3 o’clock in the morning, it’s 
tough being stuck between policy procedure and doing what is the right thing, and 
you’ve held that office and you’ve done that and achieved that consistently 
throughout the whole 11 years that you have been Leader. you’ve took a 
Conservative group which was all be it five years into control was fractious and 
with significant divisions and very quickly you swept that to one side and you did 
that by engaging with people, by ignoring the old fractions and actually getting on 
and getting stuck in and building those bridges and I know I’m being party political 
now but the Conservative group changed significantly when you became Leader 
and is also privilege to work with you during that but also to watch your growth 
and maturity. The brash lad from Yorkshire who would enter the eighth floor 
having being upset by something that had happened we knew Danny had arrived 
we could hear the door bang at the end of the corridor, to now the measured 
individual who yes you still get emotional, you still get excited about things but the 
balance and the approach really illustrates the statesman position that you’ve got. 
You’ve done a cracking job Danny I’m not going to speak for too long as it’s 
already nearly 7 o’clock I’m privileged to have worked with you on your Cabinet 
 
I’m privileged to have worked so closely with you and also very privileged in the 
times when I know you’ve had to have that conversation when something has 
been on your mind for example when your phone bleeps and you look down and 
it’s a message from Danny saying I could do with a pint mate then you know 
there’s a tough decision going on and it’s been a privilege to be one of those 
people that had those text messages, gone out for a pint with you and  dealt with 
the business and then had an enjoyable evening.  
 
Don’t go too far away you have still got two months of this and hopefully you’ve 
got plenty more to give afterwards but fully appreciate the position. 11 years as I 
say wow and what a legacy, you’ve listed a number of items there Danny you 
should be proud of what you’ve achieved, politically and as Leader of the Council 
and Madam Mayor I think Danny deserves a big pat on the back and a big thank 
you from this Borough Council. 
 
Councillor Dr S people made the following announcement  
 
“Thank you madam Mayor first of all when I asked to speak I was going to make 
the point following the previous vote that in order that there is no 
misrepresentation to the staff I shall be writing to the Chief Executive on behalf of 

Page 11



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

8 
 

the opposition to state that we had no difficulty with the motion to thank them for 
all their work and that the vote was effectively driven by a political decision  
 
Second  thing that I will say then Madam Mayor and I acknowledge the kind 
comment that Councillor Cook made in his speech indicating that he is going to 
step down in the near future that personally on a personal level we’ve managed 
to get on very well occupying our roles and have usually manage to do so with 
courtesy as he said to me once not long after I became Leader of the opposition 
there’s days when we’ve got a throw bricks at each other proverbial bricks at each 
other but because our sides expect it but we know that we have to work together 
and that we have done in an appropriate manner he did indeed tell me about his 
intentions to step down and I kept that to myself as appropriate apologies if you’re 
getting any  background there, so that’s what I wanted to say with regards to the 
point that Councillor Oates made about how Councillor  Cook swept away 
fractions well recent coverage following Councillor Kingstone’s resignation, some 
of the group suggests that they may be re-emerging and tonight‘s decision to be 
more party political has only re-emphasised that but I would personally on a 
personal level say to Councillor Cook thank you for working together in where we 
can and I shall say more when he formally steps down thank you.” 
 
Councillor R Prichard made the following announcement - 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor so I just wanted to add my thoughts on this 
announcements without a doubt Danny was the best man for the job he only ever 
wanted the best for the town and its people I think sometimes far more important 
than some of the achievements that have taken place over the years is the 
integrity and the candid mind-set that he brought to the role as Leader his years 
will be a legacy of guts, determination, careful reflection and action. It has been 
an absolute honour to be his Deputy and by his side during these years. Danny 
has never been interested in in the headlines, in the glitz or the glamour just 
about getting the job done, knuckling down making sure the work is done in the 
background. He can hold his head high, he can reflect on a decade of 
achievements and growth and stability and I think on behalf of all of us we can 
thank Danny for the work he has done for this town and the Council over the past 
decade.” 
 
 
Councillor A Farrell made the following announcement - 
 
“Thank you madam Mayor it’s just a quick one I’m conscious of the time. I just 
want to pass my thanks onto to Danny if it wasn’t for him I wouldn’t be here. I’ve 
only been on the Council for about a year and a half now, we met 11 years ago 
he had just become Leader, he took me for a drink and two hours later I joined 
the Conservative party, for my sins. He’s been there by my side ever since I’m 
thankful I’ve been able to join the Council recently and experience his leadership 
first hand.  Danny brings people together he is a fantastic Leader and I hope you 
won’t go too far away and I’m sure he’ll be back in the future.” 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

9 
 

35 QUESTION TIME:  
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC NO. 1 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 10, Paul Sharman of Tamworth will ask the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor D Cook  the following question:- 
 

“Councillor Peaple asked for an information update on the acquisition of the 
Police Station at the October Council Meeting. He was in essence informed that 
negotiations were ongoing. What progress has been made in the intervening 
period and how much longer is our Council prepared to protract the negotiations, 
rather than simply issue a Compulsory Purchase Order so that its plans can be 
implemented in timely fashion and not be subject to the indeterminate delays 
created by the current owner?” 
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor, 
 
Thank you for the question. There have been a number of meetings between the 
Police and the Borough Council since October in relation to the potential 
acquisition and future regeneration/development of their site.  
 
You may be aware that the Police Station site has been marketed on the open 
market to enable its disposal. So far, purposeful discussions have been held to 
support the police in this process and to ensure that the Council’s aspirations for 
the site are reflected in any decisions taken by the Police for the future purpose of 
this site 
 
At this point in time it is not felt that using CPO powers are helpful, especially as 
there are positive and proactive discussions underway. The Council is working 
with the current owners, their agent and potential purchasers in an attempt to 
arrive an outcome that is beneficial to all parties without the need to resort to 
using any process. 
 
Making use of Compulsory Purchase Order powers is not something to be taken 
lightly and where possible other mechanisms to either acquire a site or achieve 
the desired outcomes for the site are preferable. A Compulsory Purchase Order 
always remains an option open to the Council but there are no guarantees that it 
will be granted and the process itself can be both time consuming and costly. 
 
 In fact one of the tests for a successful CPO application is all parties have 
exhausted every avenue of negotiation and discussion – Clearly at this point in 
time we have not. Further, if we can facilitate and influence regeneration without 
acquisition it provides a more sustainable position for the wider site. 
 
To deliver regeneration across the Gungate site will require a high level of 
investment. If we as a Council can get another party to deliver part of the plan 
and finance it that would take some pressure from us. We just need to ensure it 
all dovetails with our aspirations for the whole piece of regeneration that our town 
desperately needs.” 

Page 13



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

10 
 

 
 
 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC NO. 2 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 10, Mark Hopkins of Tamworth will ask the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor D Cook, the following question:- 
 

“Under what circumstances might Council consider it appropriate for Councillors 
to promote non-Council events or business activities and use the "Councillor" title 
before their name?” 
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“As Councillor’s we have many different roles to balance. While our primary role is 
to represent our wards and the people who live in them, we are also community 
leaders who work in partnership with local communities and organisations, 
including the public, voluntary, community and private sectors, to develop a vision 
for our local area, working collaboratively to improve services and quality of life for 
our citizens. These are appropriate circumstances for us to use the title Councillor 

in undertaking legitimate council business.”  
 
 Mr M Hopkins asked the following supplementary question- 
 
“Thank you for the response Councillor, what is the Councillors opinion on the 
wisdom of Councillors promoting a festival during a pandemic/ Tier 3 situation 
noting that there has been no public statement of whether or not the regulations 
in the future time are being permitted unless of course the Councillors have or 
Councillor has prior knowledge of the future regulatory position.” 
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor, I understand where Mr Hopkins is coming from, 
however what a Councillor chooses to do in their own personal time to promote 
any event is entirely their own business as long as it is compliant with legislation. 
Thank you Madam Mayor.” 
 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC NO. 3 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 10, Ron Brown, of Tamworth will ask the Mayor, 
Councillor Rosey Claymore the following question:- 
 

“Independent studies - including evaluations with multiple participants - reveal 
that removal of the Speaker video component from a Teams event must be 
invoked, as a deliberate act. (None of our neighbouring Local or County 
Authorities do that.) 
 
 

Page 14



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

11 
 

Which elected Council Representatives, by name please, have authorised this 
“Speaker-video-removed” regime of information limitation, imposed upon all 
Public Viewers, over the last 6 months?” 
 
Councillor R Claymore gave the following reply:- 
 
“New regulations (The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020) came into force in April 2020 to allow 
Councils to re-commence Council and Committee meetings safely and remotely 
during the pandemic. These Regulations addressed the previous condition of 
Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972, which required that Councillors 
must be present at a  meeting in ‘one place’ (i.e. Marmion House or the Town 
Hall) for Council and Committee meetings. The minimum requirement of the 
Regulations is that a person participating in such meetings remotely, must be 
able to hear and be heard (and where practicable, see and be seen) by the other 
members in attendance at the meeting. The same conditions apply where 
members of the public attend remotely. 
 
This Council uses Teams Live Events to publically live stream our meetings as 
this meets the requirements of the Regulations. The current arrangements were 
implemented following the advice and support of officers from Governance, IT 
and Democratic Services and was the choice for many other local authorities, and 
government bodies. The Cabinet were kept appraised of the situation during 
implementation.”    
 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC NO. 4 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 10, Ron Brown, of Tamworth will ask the Leader 
of the Council, Councillor D Cook, the following question:- 
 
“What documented steps has our Council taken to produce a regularly-updated, 
and timely record of Town footfall and traffic flows made from specifically-planned 
sampling operations, from our Town’s existent multiple-CCTV camera 
recordings?” 
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank for your question.  I can confirm that the Council entered into a shared 
CCTV service with West Midlands Combined authority on the 31st March 2020, 
which not only provided significant savings to the councils operating costs but has 
improved the service offer through increased and accelerated investment in the 
camera infrastructure of over £150k in its first year.  The shared service has 
continued uninterrupted during COVID due to the organisational resilience with its 
dedicated operators and our staff. 
  
The cameras are there for public safety, reassurance and prevention of crime.  
They are not installed for traffic flow/footfall monitoring - this type of monitoring 
remains a Staffordshire County Council Highways function.  Recordings are not 
reviewed unless required by the Police investigating crime and subject to strict 

Page 15



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

12 
 

data control and audit arrangements to ensure data breaches or collateral 
intrusion is mitigated.   
  
It has been agreed that Officers together with WMCA will attend IS&G scrutiny 
committee in February 2021 to discuss performance and outcomes from the new 
services as always we welcome that debate and any service improvement can be 
built into the future plan. 
 
To be fair, the data we have we get from town centre businesses as trend 
analysis, but the data does not belong to us so is commercially sensitive. But we 
do have it. 
 
Subject to award of Future High Streets Fund, we must monitor and evaluate the 
success and impact of the project and its components, and the wider medium 
term change in the Town Centre. This will result in the purchase and ongoing 
costs of digital footfall counters (one off purchase funded through existing budget) 
and the tender and award of a specialist evaluation consultant to monitor and 
evaluate the impact of the FHSF project. The proposal results in a 6 years 
revenue fund of £20k per annum to cover day to day costs of footfall monitoring 
and the cost of the contract for the monitoring and evaluation service. 
 
The FHSF requires footfall monitoring as part of the evaluation of the project. We 
have tendered and have chosen a preferred supplier, but have not awarded – 
waiting instead for the FHSF announcement (due imminently).The approach of 
the preferred supplier is to use a data based approach, there’s no physical 
infrastructure, cameras, monitoring etc. Real world location behaviour insight is 
captured by tracking the anonymised GPS events captured from GDPR compliant 
3rd party mobile apps. The GPS data is used to get patterns and trends. 
 
In short the monitoring will not be undertaken via CCTV camera.” 
 
 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL NO.1 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 11, Councillor Dr S Peaple will ask the Portfolio 
Holder for Assets and Finance, Councillor R Pritchard, the following 
question:- 
 
“In conducting casework on behalf of a self-employed person, it has now been 
confirmed to me that the pot of money allocated to those asked to self-isolate by 
Track and Trace, has run out. Does the Portfolio Holder agree with me that this 
demonstrates that having let down councils by not fully funding the cost of covid 
measures; the government is now letting down those individuals who are trying to 
do the right thing? Will the Portfolio Holder raise this issue with his colleagues on 
the local outbreak control board as this will only further discourage people from 
getting tested?” 
 
Councillor R Pritchard gave the following reply:- 

“Thank you Madam Mayor. Thank you Councillor Peaple for your question. 
Tamworth Borough Council and other local Councils have been at the forefront of 

Page 16



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

13 
 

the national response to the pandemic providing invaluable support to 
communities, businesses and vulnerable people. The spread of the virus has 
placed unprecedented demands on local services and I’m proud of our key and 
public sector workers. You could not accuse the Government of being insensitive 
to the needs of individual businesses and organisations. The UK Government has 
introduced some of the most generous support schemes in the world. An 
unprecedented package of financial support has been made available. Since 
March, £7.2 billion pounds worth in funding has been made available to Councils 
to relieve local pressure and help vulnerable people, this includes 4.6 billion in un 
ringed funding, 1.1 billion for care homes, 300, Million to support test and trace as 
well as funding allocated to Councils from local alert level systems and a number 
of grants to support businesses, communities and vulnerable people. Funding to 
address homelessness people during this crisis and rough sleeping has been 
raised by over 750 million alongside 1.3 billion towards adults and children’s 
social care. 220 million is been allocated to help local areas prepare for the 
shared prosperity fund. I’m encouraged because this additional funding will 
provide local authorities with resources they need to recover from the outbreak. 
The Government has being nothing but generous to Local Government during 
this pandemic. Is the funding system perfect? No!, I myself have been helping 
people who had issues claiming some of the available support grants and 
benefits available. No system is perfect but the one thing you can’t complain 
about is the funds being made available to Local Government. The funding 
available to local authorities is not an issue I would raise with the local control 
board so I’m not sure why the Leader of the opposition is asking this. I believe 
this is an issue that should be raised with the Government and it has being raised 
with the Government who are aware of the situation that Local Government faces. 
The Leader of the opposition has said that this particular scheme does not have 
enough funds allocated, perhaps you can provide me with the amount that should 
be allocated for this scheme. Thank you.” 
 
Councillor Dr S Peaple asked the following supplementary question- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor and yes as usual the answers given are long and 
largely not directed at the question. I specifically said that I’d sent this question 
into Councillor  Oates and therefore asked him to raise it with the control board 
members, so I regard it particularly as a cheap shot from Councillor Prichard that 
he should’ve responded in that manner to that particular point. With regards to 
this particular fund it has been exhausted, that was sent in writing to a Constituent 
and then confirmed by the Officers concerned. So my point stands the fact that 
Councillor Prichard feels the need to defend the Government is fine it’s perfectly 
understandable and is his political role. My question to him is does he really 
expect the people will continue to listen when they don’t get their genuine 
concerns answered. Thank you.” 
 
Councillor R Pritchard gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor. Any shortfall in the support available to Local 
Authorities and Communities, is been raised with the Government. Nobody is 
working harder than this Council to ensure our residents are having everything 
they need. Thank him for the supplementary Madame Mayor.” 
 

Page 17



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

14 
 

 

 

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL NO.2 
 
Under Procedure Rule No 11, Councillor R Bilcliff will ask the Leader of the 
Council, Councillor D Cook, the following question:- 
 
“New Planning Laws with “fundamental changes” are about to be introduced by 
the government to accelerate the delivery of new homes by streamlining planning 
applications which by-pass planning committees and introduce locally-produced 
design codes. Many believe this faster approach to decision making will affect the 
quality of determinations. Can the Leader of the Council please inform Council 
how he feels about these new sweeping changes and where the funding is 
coming from to produce our local design codes?”    
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor, 
 
On the 6th August 2020, Government published the Planning White Paper: 
Planning for the future for a 12-week consultation. This set out the Government’s 
proposals to reform the planning system in England. 
 The reforms aim to “streamline and modernise the planning process, bring a new 
focus to design and sustainability, improve the system of developer contributions 
to infrastructure and to ensure more land is available where it is needed.” 
 Officers drafted responses to the specific questions in the White Paper and 
consulted with Members on the proposed responses. Once the responses had 
been agreed by all parties, a report was taken to Cabinet for final approval on 
22nd October.  
 The consultation contained 26 specific questions relating to 24 proposals. The 
proposals related to a wide spectrum of ‘planning’ matters, including 
policymaking, decision taking and planning enforcement. 
 In response to the specific point raised relating to the funding of design codes, no 
specific details are included within the White Paper clarifying such. To this end, 
TBC, within their consultation response raised similar concerns and requested 
that more details be provided on this specifically, and more generally in relation to 
the overall funding strategy proposed.  
 Overall TBC raised significant concerns to the White Paper Consultation in 
regards to the potential impacts on Tamworth. On the basis of the suggested 
proposals, it would appear that planning system reform would result in a more ‘top 
down’ approach, thus reducing power and influence at a local level.   
At the current time, Government is considering the consultation responses 
received. No further clarity has yet been provided in regards to timescale or 
whether the reform will be pursued and if so, in what guise.  
Therefore, to summarise, we have collectively raised concerns with government 
through the consultation process and I have made my concerns known to our MP 
as well. The proposals went through a cross party working group and a members 
seminar before going to cabinet.  
We await a final decision from government with fuller clarifications. Thank you”  
 
Councillor R Bilcliff asked the following supplementary question- 

Page 18



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

15 
 

 
“Thank you Madam Mayor, But I think Danny has hinted at the answer but I will 
ask it anyway. These radical new planning changes will eliminate democratic 
oversight of future developments in our town many people including planning 
officers and architects are concerned it will lead to slum dwellings and could kill 
off affordable housing does the Leader of the Council share the same concerns?” 
 
Councillor D Cook gave the following reply:- 
 
“Thank you Madam Mayor.  I am not sure if I share the exact same concerns 
because I want to see what comes out the other side of the consultation I think a 
lot of Councils, a lot of architects and even a lot of property developers have 
raised concerns about how these proposals are unfolding. The Government is 
currently considering them and this Council is not done fighting to ensure we get 
the very best for our residents I fundamentally appreciate where Councillor Bilcliff 
is coming from and happy to speak to him offline. I think we have got to wait and 
see what comes from the other side Madam Mayor but yes I understand where 
the question is coming from.” 
 
 

36 PETITION: BENCH – WIGGINTON CEMETERY  
 
A petition was submitted to the Council on 15 October 2020 regarding the request 
for a bench to be placed at Wigginton Cemetery for Keeley Bunker. The petition 
contained 2,016 signatures.  
 
Councillor D Cook proposed the following, to refer the policy to corporate scrutiny 
for immediate review and make all officer time required available  
to fully understand the impacts of the policy and ensure corporate scrutiny can 
get this done by the end of January so not to prolong the matter further for 
Keeley‘s family 
 
Motion without notice under rule 4.13 (n) to suspend a particular Council 
Procedure rule. 
 
RESOLVED That 

 
 The 15 minute debate/ speeches rule be suspended 

due to the delicate nature of the petition. 
 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 
 
Rule 4.14.6 Amendment to motions 
 
Council accept and action the petition this evening to agree to the bench in 
addition to sending the policy to Corporate scrutiny for review. 
 
(Moved by Councillor Dr S Peaple and seconded by Councillor R Bilcliff) 
 

Page 19



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

16 
 

After a vote this amendment was not carried 
 
 
RESOLVED That Council; 

 
 Referred the policy to corporate scrutiny for immediate 

review and make all officer time required available  
to fully understand the impacts of the policy and ensure 
corporate scrutiny can get this done by the end of 
January so not to prolong the matter further for Keeley‘s 
family 

 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor J Chesworth) 
 
Councillor M Cook left the meeting at 18.58 and returned at 19.43 therefore an 
abstention was noted on all votes for this agenda item.  
 
 

37 TO CONSIDER A MOTION REGARDING A LOCAL REFERENDUM, NOTICE 
OF WHICH HAS BEEN DULY GIVEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH PROCEDURE 
RULE NO. 4.12.1 BY COUNCILLORS J FAULKNER, K NORCHI, S PEAPLE, 
DR S PEAPLE AND P STANDEN  
 
 
Motions without notice rule 4.13 
 
Interruption of the meeting rule 4.9.1  
 
RESOLVED That; 
  

The meeting be continued past 8.30pm 
 

(Moved by Councillor P Standen and seconded by Councillor S Peaple) 
 
 
RESOLVED  That; 

 
 The meeting will continue till 9pm 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Claymore and seconded by Councillor D Cook) 
 
The following motion was proposed, before acceptance of any re-organisation, 
merger or other arrangement which would result in Tamworth Borough Council 
being merged or otherwise combined with other local authorities’ bodies, that the 
matter be put to the electors of Tamworth in a local referendum  
 
(Moved by Councillor J Faulkner and seconded by Councillor S Peaple) 
 
After a vote this motion was not carried 
 
 

Page 20



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

17 
 

 
38 TO CONSIDER A MOTION TO ENJOY FIREWORKS RESPONSIBLY, NOTICE 

OF WHICH HAS BEEN DULY GIVEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH PROCEDURE 
RULE NO. 4.12.1 BY COUNCILLORS DR S PEAPLE, J FAULKNER, S 
PEAPLE, P STANDEN, C COOKE, R BILCLIFF AND D BOX  
 
It was proposed by Councillor D Cook that agenda items 8, 9, 10and 11 are 
moved en bloc to agree to the recommendations with the exception of agenda 
item 8 in which motions 1 and 2 are moved to be agreed and 3 and 4 are to be 
referred to scrutiny. The below reflects this proposal. 
 
After a unanimous vote this motion was carried. 
 
 
This Council notes the enjoyment many people gain from firework displays and 
the major strides made in improving safety. In order to balance the wishes of 
those who enjoy fireworks responsibly with the needs of others. The following 
were proposed 
 
 
RESOLVED  Council agreed; 

 
1 
 
 

 
To require all public firework displays within the Tamworth 
Borough Council area to be advertised in advance of the 
event, to allow vulnerable people to take precautions; and 
for those with responsibility for animal welfare (livestock 
and pets) to be able to take precautions on their behalf 

 
2 

 
To actively promote a public awareness campaign 
regarding the precautions which can be taken to mitigate 
the impact of fireworks on vulnerable people and animals 
 

 
 

3 
 
 
 
 

4 

To refer recommendation 3 and 4 to Scrutiny for further 
discussion. 
 
To write to the UK government asking them to limit the 
noise level of fireworks sold to the public for private 
display to 90dB and to reduce the period of sale of 
fireworks for private displays to 25 October – 10 
November, and 
 
To encourage local suppliers of fireworks to stock ‘quieter’ 
fireworks for sale to the public for private display 
 
 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor 
Dr S Peaple) 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
39 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2021/22 ONWARDS  

 
The report advised members that the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
working age customers for 2021/22 should include continued alignment to 
Applicable Amounts with those of Housing Benefit 
 
RESOLVED That, 

 
1 Council considered and endorses the proposed 

recommended changes detailed below 

 

2 That the planned review for the introduction of a banding 

scheme for Council Tax Reduction be deferred until 2021 

and that the current scheme for working age customers 

continues to be aligned to Applicable Amounts with those 

of Housing Benefit for 2021/22. 

 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor Dr S Peaple) 
 
 

40 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW REPORT 2020/21  
 
The report advised Members of the Mid-year Review of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED That Council agreed; 

 
1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 

Annual Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 
2020/21; 
 

2 That the planned investments in property funds be 
deferred, with a review during Spring 2021 when the 
situation should be clearer, to inform future investment 
plans 

 

Page 22



Council 15 December 2020 

 

 

19 
 

 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor Dr S Peaple) 
 

41 REVIEW OF THE CONSTITUTION AND SCHEME OF DELEGATION  
 
The report sought to obtain the Council’s approval to the refreshed Constitution 
(including the Scheme of Delegation).  
 
RESOLVED That Council; 

 
 Approved and adopted the Council’s refreshed 

Constitution (including the Scheme of Delegation) at 
Appendix 1. 

 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor Dr S Peaple) 
 

  

 The Mayor  
 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CABINET 
 

18th February 2021 
 

COUNCIL 
 

23rd February 2021 
 

Report of the Leader of the Council 
 

Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021/22 

 
Purpose 
 
This is a key decision as it affects two or more Wards and involves expenditure over 
£100k. 
 
 To approve the Vision Statement, Priority Themes, Corporate Priorities and 

Plans and their inclusion in the Corporate Plan (attached at Appendix A).  
 
 
 To approve the recommended package of budget proposals (attached at Appendix 

B) to enable the Council  to agree the: 
 

 General Fund (GF) Revenue Budget and Council Tax for 2021/22; 
 

 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget for 2021/22; 
 

 5 Year General Fund Capital Programme (2021/26); 
 

 5 Year HRA Capital Programme (2021/26); 
 

 3 Year General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (2021/24); 
and 

 

 5 Year HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (2021/26). 
 
 
 To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in 

reporting to Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local 
Government Act 2003 with the reporting of the Prudential Indicators (attached at 
Appendix N) and the requirement to prepare an annual Corporate Capital Strategy 
(attached at Appendix O). 

 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



 

 

Recommendations 
 

That Council approve: 
 

1. the Vision Statement, Priority Themes, Corporate Priorities and Outcomes 
for 2021/22 (Appendix A); 

2. the proposed revisions to Service Revenue Budgets (Policy Changes) 
(Appendix C); 

3. the sum of £60,376 be applied from Council Tax Collection Fund surpluses in 
reducing the Council Tax demand in 2021/22 (Appendix E); 

4. the sum of £7,137,191 be applied to Business Rates Collection Fund deficits 
in 2021/22, in part offset by a transfer from the Business Rates reserve of 
£6,876,350 (Appendix E); 

5. that on 3rd December 2020, the Cabinet calculated the Council Tax Base 
2020/21 for the whole Council area as 22,366 [Item T in the formula in Section 
31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended (the "Act")]; 

6. that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2021/22 
is £4,179,982 (Appendix E); 

7. the following amounts as calculated for the year 2021/22 in accordance with 
Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 

a. £54,121,642 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the Act (Outgoings 
excluding internal GF Recharges); 

b. £49,941,660 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the Act (Income 
excluding internal GF Recharges); 

c. £4,179,982 being the amount by which the aggregate at 7(a) above 
exceeds the aggregate at 7(b) above, calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year (Item R in the formula in Section 31A(4) of the 
Act); 

d. £186.89 being the amount at 7(c) above (Item R), all divided by Item T (at 
5 above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B(1) 
of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the year; 

8. the Council Tax level for the Borough Council for 2020/21 of £186.89 (an 
increase of £5 (2.75%) on the 2020/21 level of £181.89) at Band D; 

9. an aggregate Council Tax (comprising the respective demands of the 
Borough Council, Staffordshire County Council, Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire 
Fire and Rescue Authority) of £1,864.86 at Band D for 2021/22 be noted 
(£1,780.17 in 2020/21) (Appendix H);  

10. the Council Tax levels at each band for 2021/22 (Appendix H); 

11. the sum of £206,157 be transferred from General Fund Revenue Balances in 
2021/22 (Appendix E); 

Page 26



 

 

12. the Summary General Fund Revenue Budget for 2021/22 (Appendix E); 

13. the Provisional General Fund Budgets for 2022/23 to 2023/24, summarised at 
Appendix G, as the basis for future planning; 

14. minimum level for balances of £500k to be held for each of the General Fund, 
Housing Revenue Account, General Capital Fund and Housing Capital Fund; 

15. Cabinet be authorised to release funding from the General Contingency 
budget and that the release of funding for Specific Contingency items be 
delegated to the Corporate Management Team in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council; 

16. proposed HRA Expenditure level of £14,745,710 for 2021/22 (Appendix D); 

17. rents for Council House Tenants in General Accommodation for 2021/22 be 
set at an average of £89.25 (2020/21 £87.93), over a 48 week rent year 
(including a 1.5% increase); 

18. rents for Council House Tenants due for 52 weeks in 2021/22 be collected 
over 48 weeks; 

19. the HRA deficit of £342,610 be financed through a transfer from Housing 
Revenue Account Balances in 2021/22 (Appendix D); 

20. the proposed 5 year General Fund Capital Programme of £30.732m, as 
detailed in Appendix I to the report; 

21. the proposed 5 year Housing Capital Programme of £33.742m, as detailed in 
Appendix J to the report; 

22. to delegate authority to Cabinet to approve/add new capital schemes to the 
capital programme where grant funding is received or there is no net 
additional cost to the Council; 

23. the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the Treasury Management 
Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Strategy and Annual 
Investment Statement 2021/22 (as detailed at Appendix N);  

24. the Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Limits for 2021/22 to 2023/24 
contained within Appendix N;  

25. adoption of the Treasury Management Practices contained within ANNEX 8;  

26. the detailed criteria of the Investment Strategy 2021/22 contained in the 
Treasury Management Strategy within ANNEX 4; and 

27. the Corporate Capital Strategy and associated Action Plan (as detailed at 
Appendix O). 

Page 27



 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The headline figures for 2020/21 are: 
 

 A General Fund Net Cost of Services of £7,134,620 a reduction of 22.1% compared 
to 2020/21; 

 

 A transfer of £206,157 from General Fund balances; 
 

 The Band D Council Tax would be set at £186.89, an increase of £5 (2.75% - 
c.£0.10 per week) on the level from 2020/21 of £181.89; 

 

 A General Fund Capital Programme of £30.732m for 5 years; 
 

 a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Expenditure level of £14,745,710 for 2021/22 
(excluding interest & similar charges); 

 

 A transfer of £342,610 from HRA balances; 
 

 Rents will be set in line with the approved Rent Setting Policy including a 1.5% 
increase in average rent (on the 2020/21 average rent of £87.93 based on a 48 
week rent year) in line with Government confirmation that social housing rents can 
increase to include ‘up to’ a factor of the consumer price index (CPI) measure of 
inflation plus 1% for five years from 2020, following the conclusion of a consultation 
on the new rent standard, and equates to £82.38 on an annualised 52 week basis; 

 

 A Housing Capital Programme of £33.742m for 5 years. 
 
Closing balances over 3 years for the General Fund (GF) are estimated at £0.5m - at 
the minimum approved level of £0.5m. The draft Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy is based on a council tax increase of £5 (2.75%) for 2021/22 (the maximum 
permitted under the Government set limits to trigger a referendum is the greater of £5 or 
2.0%) followed by increases of £5 p.a. thereafter & in line with statutory requirements. 
 
The Summary HRA Revenue Budget for 2021/22 appears at Appendix D (including a 
summary of the resulting budgets over the 5 year period). Closing balances over 5 
years for the HRA are estimated at £2.7m (compared to the minimum approved level of 
£0.5m). 
 
The minimum approved level of GF capital balances is £0.5million which, should the 
programme progress without amendment, would mean £1.7m in borrowing would be 
needed over the next 5 years (£1.3m over 3 years, £1.5m over 4 years) – a reduction 
£0.3m over 3 years (& £0.4m over 4 years) since the provisional programme was 
approved, due to higher levels of DFG grant income. 
 
There have been some significant changes in the Housing capital programme from that 
provisionally approved – with a number of new schemes proposed. It has also been 
updated to include the new year 5 costs for 2025/26. 
 

Page 28



 

 

Given the significant reduction in spend over the 4 years of c.£4m (c.£10m reduction 
less the re-profiling of £6m from years 2,3,4 & 5 into 2020/21 to allow for the acquisition 
of housing property [£1.5m from each year from Regeneration & Affordable Housing]) 
then funding remaining within the HRA capital reserves is forecast at £7m, pending the 
results of the planned stock condition surveys. 
 
Key Risks 
 

 

 The effect of the Covid-19 crisis on the economy and ultimately the impact for the 
Council’s finances – including any lasting effects for individual businesses and 
their employees. Social distancing measures will remain in place for the 
foreseeable future – impacting mainly on the Council’s ongoing income receipts. 
 
Measures taken to control Covid-19 are leading to heavy economic losses and 
this has and will continue to affect collection rates, as some individuals and 
businesses experience financial effects of the pandemic. The uncertainties 
created by the pandemic have also significantly increased volatility and 
uncertainty in markets. This applies not only to non-current operational and non-
operational property assets held by authorities, but also to investment properties, 
financial assets and many assets held by pension funds. 
 

 The Government has confirmed that the longer-term reforms for the local 
government finance system (including the move to 75% Business Rates 
Retention and Fairer Funding Review of Relative Needs and Resources) will be 
deferred again as a result of the pandemic, although no timescales have been 
released. In addition, the next planned national Business Rates Revaluation, 
planned for 2021 will take effect from 2023. 
 
The Government had previously said it will keep an open dialogue with the local 
authorities about the best approach to the next financial year, including how to 
treat accumulated business rates growth of £2m p.a. (pending the planned 
business rates baseline reset) and the approach to the 2021/22 local government 
finance settlement. It was announced as part of the Spending Review and has 
now been confirmed as part of the provisional settlement that that there will be no 
reset for 2021/22 however, no papers were published but the Secretary of State 
confirmed a commitment to the Fair Funding Review and the business rates 
reset; but in answering questions from MPs he indicated only that there “may be 
an opportunity next year” to bring forward proposals for reform and he confirmed 
that he did not know when reform would be implemented. 
 
There remains a high risk that these reforms, including the planned 
Business Rates Reset (when a proportion of the growth in business rates 
achieved since 2013/14 will be redistributed), will have a significant effect 
on the Council’s funding level from 2022/23; 

 
 
 

Page 29



 

 

 Delivery of the planned Commercial Investment Strategy actions and associated 
improved investment returns of 4% p.a. arising from the investment of £24m from 
the capital receipt  received over the period 2016 – 2018 from the sale of the 
former golf course (to support the MTFS in the long term). Commitments include: 
 

o Future High Street Fund projects, £3.8m; 
o Lower Gungate site acquisition / development, £4m; 
o Solway Close development, £4m; 
o Investment in property funds with a savings target to return c.4% p.a., 

£12m (£3.8m invested to date). 
 

 Uncertainty over the ongoing funding for the New Homes Bonus scheme. The 
Government have confirmed that the 4-year legacy payments for New Homes 
Bonus (NHB) will continue to be paid to 2022/23 – and that the scheme will 
continue for a “further year with no new legacy payments”, but there still remains 
uncertainty regarding the future. 
 
The Government has set out its intention to hold a consultation on the future of 
the New Homes Bonus, with a view to implementing reform in 2022/23. 
 

 Challenge to continue to achieve high collection rates for council tax, business 
rates and housing rents – in light of the welfare benefit reforms and the impact of 
the pandemic on economic conditions and uncertainty; and 
 

 Work is continuing on a number of actions to address the financial position in 
future years including the Recovery and Reset programme approved by Cabinet 
which aims to consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the 
council as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing 
services, reducing waste demand on services (basically this is any action or step 
in a process that does not add value to the customer), exploring opportunities for 
income generation and identifying any further savings. The overriding goal is to 
make sure our organisation remains fit for the future, while protecting services to 
the most vulnerable in our community. 

 

Page 30



 

 

Background 
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous 
years which means that we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, 
collaboration and transformation.  So, not only will the Council seek investment from 
businesses and developers, but the Council itself will explore viable and sustainable 
investment opportunities using all returns to support public services. 
 
When the budget and MTFS for 2020/21 were approved, future levels of funding for the 
Council were uncertain pending the most significant changes in Local Government 
funding for a generation. The reforms were planned to be in place by 2020/21 but were 
deferred until 2021/22. The Government has confirmed that the longer-term reforms for 
the local government finance system (including the move to 75% Business Rates 
Retention and Fairer Funding Review of Relative Needs and Resources) will be 
deferred again as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, although no timescales have been 
released. In addition, the next planned national Business Rates Revaluation, planned 
for 2021 has now been deferred to 2023. 
 
As a nation we are likely to feel the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the 
measures to contain and mitigate its effects, for years to come. 
 
The extraordinary events we are living through follow a decade of austerity, triggered by 
the financial crisis of 2008/09, which had already placed considerable strain on local 
authorities’ finances. Increased demand for many local public services, directly related 
to the outbreak of the virus, has placed immediate pressure on authorities’ cash flows 
and expenditure budgets. The longer-term consequences of recession and 
unemployment on demand for services have yet to be experienced. 
 
At the same time, several important sources of local authority income including Council 
Tax, Non domestic (business) rates, fees and charges, rents and investment returns 
have, to a greater or lesser extent, been subject to reduction or suspension.  
 
In light of the projected impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, an immediate suspension of all non-essential spending was approved by 
Cabinet on 9th July and that Managers review their budgets and identify all non-
essential spending for 2020/21 as part of the quarter 1 projections at 30 June 2020 - 
and approval sought for the budget to be revised to remove these. 
 
No one can know what the effect of the Covid-19 crisis will have on the economy and 
ultimately the impact for the Council’s finances. It will be many months before we have a 
clearer idea on how the economy has been affected – including any lasting effects for 
individual businesses and their employees. Social distancing measures will remain in 
place for the foreseeable future – impacting mainly on the Council’s ongoing income 
receipts. 
 
Government has provided additional funding of c.£1.25m and the LGA and SDCT will 
continue to lobby and provide evidence to MHCLG of the income and expenditure 
pressures that Councils face. MHCLG receive monthly financial updates from Councils 
including information on Housing Revenue Account pressures. 

Page 31



 

 

Efficiency Statement – Sustainability Strategy 
 
Financial resilience is and has been the key requirement for local authorities at any 
time, but in the current crisis it has assumed unprecedented importance. Perhaps the 
biggest difficulty with the pandemic is that there is no certainty about time scales; it is 
impossible to draw any conclusions about how long the effects will last. 
 
During the crisis the Council has lost income which will significantly impact on the 
potential sustainability of the organisation, as will be the case across many Local 
Government organisations. Whilst the full extent of this cannot be known at present it 
will be necessary for the Council to take an accelerated approach towards the 
development and implementation of an effective sustainability strategy, linked to an 
overall vision for the organisation.  
 
Cabinet on 22nd October 2020 approved the Recovery and Reset programme which 
aims to consider how we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a 
result of the coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste 
demand on services (basically this is any action or step in a process that does not add 
value to the customer), exploring opportunities for income generation and identifying 
any further savings.  
 
The overriding goal is to make sure our organisation remains fit for the future, while 
protecting services to the most vulnerable in our community. The Recovery and Reset 
programme outlines that this work be split into eight projects 
 
The Council remains committed to promoting and stimulating economic growth and 
regeneration; meeting our housing needs; creating a vibrant town centre economy and 
protecting those most vulnerable in our communities. The Council is responding to 
these challenges by considering the opportunities to make further savings and /or grow 
our income.  We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard 
to identify income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our 
residents. 
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous 
years which means that we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, 
collaboration and transformation.   
 
This approach will change the organisation and how it works; will require Members to 
put evidence and insight at the heart of our decision making to ensure that we are 
transparent about the rationale for our decisions and plans; will involve managed risks 
and will sustain essential services critical in supporting the most vulnerable in our 
communities at a time when demand is increasing and resources reducing.  
 
Accurate forecasting, strong leadership and an innovative, risk aware approach have 
resulted in the organisation being able, in the main, to sustain a full suite of essential 
services albeit not without implications for the public, local politicians and the entire 
workforce. 
 

Page 32



 

 

By adopting this approach, supporting its implementation and measuring its progress, it 
will enable the Council to achieve its Vision and Priorities and fulfil its obligations. 
 

 We will target resources upon those in most need and those most vulnerable. 
 

 We will commission services that will both intervene/prevent future demand and 
reduce levels of vulnerability. 

 

 We will, as a consequence, meet the Council’s stated intention to ensure that the 
vulnerable are a priority (Motion to Council on 26th November, 2014 refers). 

 
As part of the budget process Policy Changes are required in order to amend base 
budget provision. As grant and other income levels are reducing, where increased costs 
are unavoidable then managers should identify compensatory savings. Where savings 
are identified they must be accompanied by a robust implementation plan.  
 
Robust business case templates are submitted to Cabinet and CMT for all Policy 
Change submissions (Revenue and Capital). 
 
It is suggested that, given the uncertainty, there should be no knee jerk reactions – with 
a clear plan to focus on balancing the next 3 years’ budget position, in compliance with 
the Prudential Code (by which time the impact should be clearer). 
 
 
Work is continuing on a number of actions to address the financial position in future 
years: 
 

 The Recovery and Reset programme approved by Cabinet aims to consider how 
we can tackle the financial challenges facing the council as a result of the 
coronavirus pandemic. This will include reviewing services, reducing waste 
demand on services (basically this is any action or step in a process that does 
not add value to the customer), exploring opportunities for income generation 
and identifying any further savings. The overriding goal is to make sure our 
organisation remains fit for the future, while protecting services to the most 
vulnerable in our community. 
 
The Recovery and Reset programme outlines that this work be split into eight 
projects: 
 
1. Financial Management and Commerciality – Seeking to remove historic 

underspends and adopt an in-service approach to rigorous and controlled 

spending. 

2. Smart Working – Exploration of the business impacts around current levels 

of home working and what the future is for AGILE working. 

Page 33



 

 

3. Building Requirements and Utilisation – Consideration of the best use of 

all our property assets to ensure the council’s resources are focused on front 

line service delivery. 

4. Front Reception and Customer Service Offer – Exploration of customer 

service models to assess the impact of front reception closing during the 

pandemic and how acceleration of digitising services can be delivered whilst 

ensuring our most vulnerable customers retain face to face services. 

5. Service Re-design and Review – An organisational wide review of each 

service to identify short, medium and longer-term opportunities to improve 

delivery of services central to the council’s core purpose and strategic aims. 

6. Third Sector Support and Vulnerability Strategy – Recognising that one of 

the most positive outcomes to the Pandemic is the overwhelming ability of 

‘anchor organisations and communities’ to mobilise and support each other, 

this project will explore how the Council’s commissioning framework can be 

aligned to build on these foundations going forward and how we define and 

develop our vulnerability strategy, building on the baseline assessment 

commissioned over the summer. 

7. Economy and Regeneration - Work has continued on the future of our high 

street and alongside this the economic recovery and regeneration of 

Tamworth is central to our future Recovery and Reset. 

8. Heritage – This project will attempt to define and establish a baseline of all of 

our heritage assets and review all opportunities to celebrate, nurture and 

protect our local heritage. 

Together with any opportunities arising from the response to the Covid-19 
pandemic, for Member consideration during the budget process. 
 

 Ongoing lobbying of Government to provide additional support, in light of the 
financial impact of the pandemic, and clarity over future funding arrangements – 
including discussions with the MP and continued Local Government Association 
(LGA) representation and parliamentary briefings.   
   
Monthly completion of Covid-19 financial monitoring returns to MHCLG and 
sales, fees and charges income loss compensation scheme claims. This has led 
to additional Covid-19 related grants and the income protection scheme - in 
addition to the unringfenced grant of £1.25m, it is also expected that over £0.5m 
will be received from the projected fees and charges income support grant. 
 

 Non-essential spend review identified £1.2m in 2020/21 (including Vacancies of 
£0.5m) and ongoing year on year savings included in the base budget of 
c.£0.75m (from the £1.2m identified in 2020/21) comprising £0.362m ongoing 
vacant posts which will not now be filled (from the £0.512m identified in 2020/21) 

Page 34



 

 

and £0.386m unspent budgets (from £0.674m identified in 2020/21). In light of 
the financial situation facing the Council, managers were tasked with identifying 
low level non-essential budgets for removal from the budget. 
 

 Recruitment freeze for all but essential posts (which are subject to robust re-
justification process). 
 

 Review of Property fund investment options to generate improved returns of c. 
4% to 5% p.a. (plus asset growth). A savings target to return c.4% p.a. from the 
planned investment of £12m in Diversified Property Funds has already been 
included from 2021/22. 

 

 Review of reserves – undertaken in November (including ensuring adequate 
provision for the funding uncertainties) / creation of fund for transformation 
costs). 

 
 

Page 35



 

 

Vision, Strategic Priorities & Plans 
 
The Vision for Tamworth is underpinned by high level, evidence based priorities that 
focus upon both Tamworth (the place), the communities served (the people) as well as 
the Council (the organisation). 
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous 
years which means that we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, 
collaboration and transformation.  So, not only will the Council seek investment from 
businesses and developers, but the Council itself will explore viable and sustainable 
investment opportunities using all returns to support public services. 
 
The adoption of ‘Demand Management’ as the primary operating model and the 
targeting of resources via locality based commissioning and delivery has enabled 
greater effectiveness in service delivery. As part of a ‘Tamworth Community Offer’ we 
will: 
 

 Improve our use of ‘insight’ in shaping services and directing investment; 

 Better align service delivery to ensure we act with purpose and are accountable; 

 Support the Demand Management model with prevention approaches which 
seek to tackle causes and reduce costs; 

 Develop approaches which genuinely ‘empower’ individuals and communities; 

 Support a transformed dialogue with residents - recognising that our financial 
capacity will be less than in previous years which means educating and 
supporting communities to focus resources on ‘needs’ and being clear on what 
we are able to do and equally what we can’t.  

 
It is through the Corporate Plan that these aspirations and expectations will be 
achieved.  The scale, scope and timescale relating to these outcomes presents the 
Council with a challenging yet achievable task over the forthcoming years. 
 
It is important to note that whilst the plan focuses upon delivering against the 3 
Thematic Priorities, the Council must also ensure that the wide range of day-to-day 
operational and support services continue to be delivered to a consistent and efficient 
standard.  In doing so, it demonstrates how “Delivering Quality Services” both connects 
and underpins the Thematic Priorities. 
 
Key Drivers 
 

 One: Create Insight and use our Knowledge - systematic collation and analysis; 
 

 Two: Be Clear About Our Service Offer - consistent approach to customer 
services; 

 

 Three: Prevention and Earliest Help approaches - get ‘upstream’ of the demand. 
 

Page 36



 

 

The approach to the preparation of the Corporate Plan, driven by Members, was based 
upon the collection, collation and analysis of a range of information; an understanding of 
local issues and an awareness of key influences.   
 
In summary: 
 
 Data, Customer/User insight and intelligence; 
 Public consultation and wider engagement outcomes; 
 A detailed understanding of our partners’ plans; 
 Political intentions and ambitions across the parties and the tiers; 
 Our strategic plans – e.g., Local Plan; Housing & Health Strategies, Growth & 

Regeneration; 
 Detailed knowledge of local and regional growth through devolution plans/intentions; 
 Financial constraints and opportunities. 
 
The Vision, Strategic Priorities & Plans at Appendix A set out how, under each 
Strategic priority, we plan to deliver gains or stated ambitions in order to progress 
against each priority. 
 
There are a number of key challenges affecting the medium term financial planning 
process (as detailed within the report), which add a high level of uncertainty to budget 
projections. 
 
The medium term financial planning process is being challenged by continued 
uncertainty. The accomplishment of a balanced 3 Year Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for the General Fund is a major achievement as the Council, like others, has planned to 
deliver its budget process in light of unprecedented conditions with a great deal of 
uncertainty over future investment and income levels such as car parking, land charges 
and corporate property rents – as well as the potential lasting effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic for future Business Rates and Council Tax income.  
 
The Council continues to be faced with significant financial demands from Central 
Government following new legislation in areas such as Homelessness, Data Protection 
(& the General Data Protection Regulations - GDPR), planning and transparency – as 
well as future reductions in Government grant support.  
 
The Council is responding to these challenges by considering the opportunities to grow 
our income.  We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard 
to identify income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our 
residents.   
 
We continue to focus on supporting vulnerable people and in particular in ensuing that 
those facing difficulties in relation to financial hardship and housing difficulties are 
prioritised. We will work collaboratively with others to maximise our collective 
effectiveness and will seek to develop the role played by the third sector. 
  
In addition, we will be developing our operating model to further strengthen our service 
delivery and strategic approaches.  

Page 37



 

 

In particular we will further reinforce our use of knowledge and evidence in decision 
making, ensure that we are clear in our service offer and accountable to residents.  
 
We continue to invest in our teams, transform our processes and ensure our technology 
infrastructure is fit for purpose. We have identified a number of opportunities to improve 
customer access to information and services as well as our engagement with our 
citizens and the way in which we manage our data and information. 
 
Additional demands for services arising from these times have been included where 
possible but this is dependent on the length and depth of the continuing public health 
crisis. 
 
In addition there are a number of key uncertainties which will inform future budget 
considerations: 
 
a) Future Revenue Support Grant levels for future years - the budget setting process 

has faced significant constraints in Government funding in recent years - over 50% 
reduction since 2010.   

 
When the current budget and MTFS were approved, future levels of funding for the 
Council were uncertain pending the most significant changes in Local Government 
funding for a generation. The reforms were planned to be in place by 2020/21 but 
were deferred until 2021/22. The Government has confirmed that the longer-term 
reforms for the local government finance system (including the move to 75% 
Business Rates Retention and Fairer Funding Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources) will be deferred again as a result of the current situation, although no 
timescales have been released. In addition, the next planned national Business 
Rates Revaluation, planned for 2021 will take effect from 2023. 
 
The Government had previously said it will keep an open dialogue with the local 
authorities about the best approach to the next financial year, including how to treat 
accumulated business rates growth of £2m p.a. (pending the planned business rates 
baseline reset) and the approach to the 2021/22 local government finance 
settlement. It was announced as part of the Spending Review and has now been 
confirmed as part of the provisional settlement that that there will be no reset for 
2021/22 however, no papers were published but the Secretary of State confirmed a 
commitment to the Fair Funding Review and the business rates reset; but in 
answering questions from MPs he indicated only that there “may be an opportunity 
next year” to bring forward proposals for reform and he confirmed that he did not 
know when reform would be implemented. 
 
It is also the Government’s intention to look again at the New Homes Bonus for 
2022/23 and explore the most effective way to incentivise housing growth. They plan 
to consult on proposals prior to implementation. In the longer-term, the Government 
remains committed to reform and want to take time to work with local authorities to 
make sure that the approach is right following the planned reviews: 

  

Page 38



 

 

 
 Fair Funding Review (FFR) of the distribution methodology  including: 

 
o changes to the needs assessment (which will determine each Council’s 

share of the national funding for Local Government – it is likely that this 
will reflect the impact of Social Care demands and that funding will be 
redistributed to Unitary and County Councils to the detriment of District 
Councils); 

 
o treatment of relative resources (to determine how much each Council can 

fund locally through income from fees and charges and council tax); and  
 

o any transitional arrangements to protect Councils from significant 
reductions in funding – and the impact from their unwinding. 

 
 Spending Review 2021 – where the total spending allocation for 

Government Departments will be set – including national control totals for 
Local Government spending. It has already been announced that significant 
additional funding will be diverted to the NHS which could mean further 
reductions for other Departments including Local Government; 

 
 The ongoing review of the Business Rates Retention (BRR) scheme – the 

Government announced that Councils will be able to retain 75% of business 
rates collected rather than 100% as previously planned with work progressing 
on the design of the new system including the impact of ‘rolling in’ grants such 
as Housing Benefit administration and New Homes Bonus; 

 
 The planned reset of the Business Rates baseline for each Council and 

redistribution of the growth achieved since 2013 of up to £2m p.a.; 
 

 Uncertainty over the ongoing funding for the New Homes Bonus scheme, 
local growth in housing numbers and share of the national pool (including 
potential increases to the ‘deadweight’ for which Councils no longer receive 
grant). The Government have confirmed that the 4-year legacy payments for 
New Homes Bonus (NHB) will continue to be paid after 2020/21. 

 
It is the Government’s intention to look again at the New Homes Bonus 
scheme for 2022/23 and explore the most effective way to incentivise housing 
growth. They plan to consult widely on proposals prior to implementation.  

 
While we are aware of these forthcoming changes, little to no information is available 
on the potential impact for individual Councils’ finances.  

 
b) In 2016/17, at the start of the four-year offer made to local government, the 

Government introduced a separate council tax referendum principle for shire 
districts, to address particular pressures on these authorities. This principle meant 
that districts could increase council tax by the core principle (now announced as 2% 
for 2020/21 – this was previously 3%) or £5, whichever is greater. The Government 

Page 39



 

 

has continued to grant this flexibility and has now confirmed it is to continue for 
2021/22. 

 
c) For 2019/20 a 2% increase in Local Government pay was agreed and included the 

introduction of a new pay spine on 1st April 2019 based on a bottom rate of £17,364 
with additions, deletions and changes to other spinal column points. A 2.75% 
increase has been agreed for 2020/21 but future years remain uncertain. A 2.5% 
p.a. increase from 2021/22 has been assumed but remains subject to the 
announced pay freeze for public sector workers for 2021/22. 
 

d) The impact of any further uncertainty over future interest rate levels and their impact 
on investment income / treasury management; 

 
e) No one can know what the effect of the Covid-19 crisis will have on the economy 

and ultimately the impact for the Council’s finances. It will be many months before 
we have a clearer idea on how the economy has responded to the recovery process 
– including any lasting effects for individual businesses and their employees. 

 
Social distancing measures will remain in place for the foreseeable future – 
impacting mainly on the Council’s ongoing income receipts. 

 
Measures taken to control Covid-19 are leading to heavy economic losses and this 
has and will continue to affect collection rates, as some individuals and businesses 
experience financial effects of the pandemic. The uncertainties created by the 
pandemic have also significantly increased volatility and uncertainty in markets. This 
applies not only to non-current operational and non-operational property assets held 
by authorities, but also to investment properties, financial assets and many assets 
held by pension funds.  
 

f) The impact of any further uncertainty over future interest rate levels and their impact 
on investment income / treasury management. 

 
 
In light of these uncertainties and issues arising from the sensitivity analysis (attached 
at Appendix L), it is felt prudent to include within the budget a number of specific 
contingency budgets (aligned to the specific uncertainties, where appropriate) to ensure 
some stability in the financial planning process (as detailed at Appendix M). 
 
The assumptions made in the production of the MTFS are based on the best 
information available at the time and are subject to change. These will be monitored and 
reviewed on a Quarterly basis by CMT and Cabinet. 
 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and report attached at Appendix N 
outlines the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2021/22 to 2023/24 and sets out the 
expected Treasury operations for this period.  
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 

 
 
Under the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and associated Guidance Notes 
2017, the following four clauses have been adopted: 

a) This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective 
treasury management: 

A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities; and  
Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in 
which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and 
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. 

b) This Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, 
practices and activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan 
in advance of the year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close. 

c) This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular 
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and 
for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions to the 
Executive Director Finance, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s 
policy statement and TMPs. 

d) This Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be 
responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management 
strategy and policies. 

 
 

Page 41



 

 

Options Considered 
 
As part of the budget setting process a number of options for the council tax increase 
levels for 2021/22 and future years have been modelled / considered. 
 
 

Council Tax Option Modelled / Considered 

Model 1 £5.00 increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of £5.00 p.a.) 

Model 2  2.99% increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of c.2.99% p.a.) 

Model 3  £1 increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of £1 p.a.) 

Model 4 2.5% increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of 2.5% thereafter) 

Model 5 0% increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of 0% thereafter) 

Model 6 1.99% increase in Council tax in 2021/22 (followed by 
increases of 1.99% thereafter) 

 

Rent 
 

Option Modelled / Considered 

CPI plus 1% The Government has now confirmed that social housing 
rents can increase to include ‘up to’ a factor of the 
consumer price index (CPI) measure of inflation plus 1% 
for five years from 2020, following the conclusion of a 
consultation on the new rent standard 

CPI  General increase in line with CPI 

No increase  No general increase in annual rent 

 
These are detailed within the Base Budget report to Cabinet on 3rd December 2020 and 
the Draft Medium Term Financial Strategy report to Cabinet on 21st January 2021 and 
Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) on 27th January 2021. 
 
 
Resource Implications 
 
A summary table of all the budget proposals is shown at the end of the report. The 
General Fund Summary Revenue Budget for 2021/22 appears at Appendix E. A 
summary of the resulting budgets over the 3 year period appears at Appendix G. 
 
Closing balances over 3 years for the General Fund (GF) are estimated at £0.5m - at 
the minimum approved level of £0.5m. The draft Budget and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy is based on a council tax increase of £5 (2.75%) for 2021/22 (the maximum 
permitted under the Government set limits to trigger a referendum is the greater of £5 or 
2.0%) followed by increases of £5 p.a. thereafter & in line with statutory requirements. 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

The Summary HRA Revenue Budget for 2021/22 appears at Appendix D (including a 
summary of the resulting budgets over the 5 year period). Closing balances over 5 
years for the HRA are estimated at £2.7m (compared to the minimum approved level of 
£0.5m). 
 
The minimum approved level of GF capital balances is £0.5million which, should the 
programme progress without amendment, would mean £1.7m in borrowing would be 
needed over the next 5 years (£1.3m over 3 years, £1.5m over 4 years) – a reduction 
£0.3m over 3 years (& £0.4m over 4 years) since the provisional programme was 
approved, due to higher levels of DFG grant income. 
 
There have been some significant changes in the Housing capital programme from that 
provisionally approved – with a number of new schemes proposed. It has also been 
updated to include the new year 5 costs for 2025/26. 
 
Given the significant reduction in spend over the 4 years of c.£4m (c.£10m reduction 
less the re-profiling of £6m from years 2,3,4 & 5 into 2020/21 to allow for the acquisition 
of housing property [£1.5m from each year from Regeneration & Affordable Housing]) 
then funding remaining within the HRA capital reserves is forecast at £7m, pending the 
results of the planned stock condition surveys. 
 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer to 
report on the robustness of the estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of 
the reserves for which the budget provides. In the view of the Executive Director 
Finance, the budget proposals enclosed within this report include estimates which take 
into account circumstances and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of 
preparing the budget.  In his view, the level of reserves remains adequate for the 
Council based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of preparing it. 
 

Legal / Risk Implications 
 
The Council’s constitution requires Cabinet publish initial proposals for the budget, 
having first canvassed the views of local stakeholders as appropriate - budget proposals 
were considered at the Joint Scrutiny Committee (Budget) meeting on 27th January 
2021. In line with the constitution a Leaders Budget Workshop was held on 2nd 
December 2020 to outline the issues affecting the MTFS arising from the base budget 
forecast. 
 
The budget has been set following extensive consultation with the people of Tamworth. 
This includes feedback and responses from the ‘Tamworth Listens’ budget consultation 
exercise. 
 
Proposed amendments to the 2020/21 base budget, approved by Council on 25th 
February 2020, are detailed within the report. 
 
Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal 
requirement of the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA 
Code of Practice to have ownership and understanding when making decisions on 
Treasury Management matters. 

Page 43



 

 

 
  

Page 44



 

 

Key Risks to Revenue and Capital Forecasts: 
 

Risk Control Measure 

Major variances to the level of grant / 
subsidy from the Government (including 
specific grants e.g. Benefits administration, 
Business Rates Section 31 funding); 
(High) 

Sensitivity modelling undertaken to assess 
the potential impact in the estimation of 
future Government support levels;  
 
(High / Medium) 

New Homes Bonus grant levels lower than 
estimated; Continuation of the scheme for 
2020/21 has been confirmed – doubt over  
its continuation in future years; 
(High/Medium) 

Future levels included based on legacy 
payments only;  
 
 
(Medium/Low) 

Potential ‘capping’ of council tax increases 
by the Government or local Council Tax 
veto / referendum;  
(Medium) 

Current indications are that increases of 
2% or £5 and above risk ‘capping’ (2% or 
£5 for District Councils in 2020/21);  
(Low) 

The achievement / delivery of substantial 
savings / efficiencies will be needed to 
ensure sufficient resources will be 
available to deliver the Council’s objectives 
through years 4 to 5. Ongoing; (High) 

A robust & critical review of savings 
proposals will be required / undertaken 
before inclusion within the forecast; 
 
 (High/Medium) 

Pay awards greater than forecast; 
 
 
 
(Medium) 

Public sector pay cap was lifted from 
2018/19 with pay awards of 2% p.a. for 2 
years & 2.75% in 2020/21. Increases of 
2.5% p.a. assumed from 2021/22; 
(Medium / Low) 

Pension costs higher than planned / 
adverse performance of pension fund;  
 
 
 
 
(Medium) 

Regular update meetings with Actuary; 
Following an option to ‘freeze’ the ‘lump 
sum’ element for the 3 years from 2020/21 
(after the triennial review during 2019), 2% 
p.a. year on year increases have been 
included from 2023/24;  
(Medium/Low) 

Assessment of business rates collection 
levels to inform the forecast / budget  
(NNDR1) and estimates of appeals, 
mandatory & discretionary reliefs, cost of 
collection, bad debts and collection levels; 
  
New burdens (Section 31) grant funding 
for Central Government policy changes – 
including impact on levy calculation; 
 
Potential changes to the Business Rates 
Retention system following the 
announcement for Councils to keep 75% 
(previously up to 100%) of the business 
rates collected; (High) 

Robust estimates included to arrive at 
collection target. Ongoing proactive 
management & monitoring will continue;  
 
 
 
Business Rates Collection Reserve - 
provision of reserve funding to mitigate 
impact of any changes in business rate 
income levels; 
 
Monitoring of the situation / regular 
reporting; 
 
(High / Medium) 

Page 45



 

 

Risk Control Measure 

Local Council Tax Reduction scheme 
potential yield changes and maintenance 
of collection levels due to increases in 
unemployment caused by the pandemic; 
(High) 

Robust estimates included. Ongoing 
proactive management & monitoring 
(including a quarterly healthcheck on the 
implications on the organisation – capacity 
/ finance) will continue; (High / Medium) 

Achievement of income streams in line 
with targets in light of the economic 
conditions e.g. treasury management 
interest, car parking, planning, commercial 
& industrial rents etc.;  
(High / Medium) 

Robust estimates using a zero based 
budgeting approach have been included; 
 
 
 
(Medium) 

Delivery of the capital programme (GF / 
HRA – including Regeneration schemes) 
dependent on funding through capital 
receipts and grants (including DFG funding 
through the Better Care Fund); 
(High / Medium) 

Robust monitoring and evaluation – should 
funds not be available then schemes 
would not progress; 
 
 
(Medium) 

Dependency on partner organisation 
arrangements and contributions e.g. 
Waste Management (SCC/LDC). 
(High / Medium) 

Memorandum of Understanding in place 
with LDC. 
 
(Medium) 

Delivery of the planned Commercial 
Investment Strategy actions - recent 
review of the Treasury Management 
Investment Guidance / Minimum Revenue 
Provision Guidance carried out by MHCLG 
- with a potential restriction of investments 
by Councils given increased risk exposure. 
(High/Medium) 

The main issue seems to be the increased 
risks associated with those Councils who 
are borrowing large sums to invest in 
commercial property activities.  
 
Property Fund investment review carried 
out 2020. 
(Medium) 

Maintenance and repairs backlog for 
corporate assets – and planned 
development of long term strategic plan to 
address such.  
(High / Medium) 

Planned development of long term 
strategic corporate capital strategy and 
asset management plan to consider the 
requirements and associated potential 
funding streams. (Medium) 

Significant financial penalties arising from 
the implementation of the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR). 
(High / Medium) 

Implementation plan in place with 
corporate commitment and good progress.  
 
(Medium) 

Property funds are not risk free - as such a 
risk based approach will need to be 
adopted – to balance risk against potential 
yield or return. 
 
Based on past performance there is the 
potential for returns of c.4 to 5% p.a. but 
this is not guaranteed. 
 
 

Any investment in funds which are 
deemed as capital expenditure will require 
the necessary capital programme budgets 
to be approved by full Council. 
 
Risk is inherent in Treasury Management 
and as such a risk based approach will 
need to be adopted – to balance risk 
against potential yield or return.  
 

Page 46



 

 

Risk Control Measure 

The value of the funds are also subject to 
fluctuation – which could mean a capital 
loss in one year (as well as expected 
gains). 
 
The initial cost associated with the 
purchase of the investment in the funds is 
expected to be in the region of 5% - which 
would have to be recovered over the life of 
the investment (either from annual returns 
or capital appreciation). There is a real risk 
of a revenue loss therefore in the first year. 
 
 
(High/Medium) 

It is suggested that risk be mitigated 
(although not eliminated) through 
investment in a diversified portfolio using a 
range of property funds. 
 
The Council will also endeavour to use the 
secondary market for purchases to 
potentially gain access to a fund at a lower 
level of cost than via the primary route. 
Mitigation regulations are in place to defer 
any potential principal loss for 5 years. 
 
Property Fund investment review carried 
out 2020 
(Medium) 

 
Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been 
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes. 
 
Sustainability Implications 
 
At its meeting on 19th November 2019, Tamworth Borough Council declared a Climate 
Emergency together with specific actions including to ensure that all reports in 
preparation for the 2021/22 budget cycle and investment strategy will take into account 
the actions the Council will take to address this emergency (minute 18 refers). 
 
Budget provision of £105k was included in the proposals for 2020/21 to fund emerging 
Climate Emergency initiatives, but has been deferred due to the pandemic, as well as 
specific actions contained within this report including Energy Efficiency Upgrades to 
Commercial and Industrial Units, energy efficient street lighting and improvements to 
the Council’s housing stock. These include central heating upgrades and renewals, 
neighbourhood regeneration (including environmental works), insulation works and 
energy efficiency improvements. 
 
In addition, spend in 2021/22 (deferred from 2019/20) will include improvements to 
Public Open Space, Local Nature Reserves and the Amington Community Woodland 
and Cycleway. 
 

Page 47



 

 

Report Author: 
 

If Members would like further information or clarification prior to the meeting please 
contact Stefan Garner, Executive Director Finance – tel. 709242. 
 

Background Papers:- Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2020/21, Council 25th February 
2020 

Budget and Medium Term Financial Planning Process, 
Cabinet 20th August 2020 

Budget Consultation Report, Cabinet 12th November 
2020 

Leaders Budget Workshop, 2nd December 2020 
 

Draft Base Budget Forecasts 2021/22 to 2025/26, 
Cabinet 3rd December 2020 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement & Annual 
Investment Strategy Mid-year Review Report 2020/21, 
Council 15th December 2020 

Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2020/21 to 2024/25, Cabinet 21st January 2020 / Joint 
Scrutiny Committee (Budget) 27th January 2020 

Business Rates Income Forecast (NNDR1 return), 
Cabinet 21st January 2020 

Treasury Management Practices 2021/22 (Operational 
Detail) 

Page 48



 

 

Summary of Appendices 
 
 

Description  Appendix 

Corporate Vision for Tamworth  A 

Detailed Considerations  B 

Policy Changes   C 

HRA Budget Summary 2021/22 – 2025/26  D 

General Fund Summary Revenue Budget 2021/22  E 

General Fund Technical Adjustments 2021/22 (before 
policy changes) 

 F1 

HRA Technical Adjustments 2021/22 (before policy 
changes) 

 F2 

General Fund 3 Year Revenue Budget Summary  G 

Council Tax Levels at each Band 2021/22  H 

General Fund 5 Year Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2025/26 I 

Housing 5 Year Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2025/26  J 

Main Assumptions  K 

Sensitivity Analysis  L 

Contingencies   M 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment 
Statement 2021/22 

 N 

Corporate Capital Strategy  O 

Community Impact Assessment  P 

 

Page 49



  

Appendix A 
Corporate Plan Summary 2019 – 2022 
 

‘Corporate Plan – On a Page’ 
 

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL: VISION 
 

To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of everything 
we do 

 

OUR PURPOSE IS TO 
 

 help tackle causes and effects of poverty and financial hardship 

 increase all residents resilience and access to information 

 engage with our residents to promote community involvement and civic 
pride 

 support the development of Tamworth now, and in the future 

 help the local economy to grow in a way which benefits our residents and 
businesses 

 utilise Council resources effectively 

 help tackle the causes of inequality and increase opportunities for all 
residents and businesses 

 help protect, nurture and celebrate our local heritage 

 help prevent homelessness and help people access suitable housing 

 help build resilient communities 

 help develop and safeguard our environment and open spaces 
 

OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
FOR 2019-2022 

People and Place 
 

To meet housing needs through a 
variety of approaches and 
interventions 
 
To facilitate sustainable growth and 
economic prosperity 
 
 
To create a new and developing 
vision for the continued evolution of 
Tamworth, including a Town Centre 
fit for the 21st century 
 

 Organisation 
 

To be financially stable 
 
To ensure our employees have the 
right skills and culture to help our 
residents, visitors and businesses 
 
To ensure our service delivery is 
consistent, clear, and focused 
 
To ensure our decisions are driven 
by evidence and knowledge 

 

 
To understand and proactively respond to the impacts of the Coronavirus 

pandemic 
 

 

Page 50



  

 
 
People and Place Priorities Why is this a priority? 

1. To meet housing needs 
through a variety of 
approaches and 
interventions 

Access to safe and suitable accommodation is a key 
issue for Tamworth residents and continues to be 
the highest area of demand for Council services 
overall.   
 
The Council places a high priority on its role in 
supporting people to access the housing they need, 
seeking to improve standards across all tenures and 
working to ensure that neighbourhoods can thrive. 

2. To facilitate sustainable 
growth and economic 
prosperity 

Tamworth is well placed to benefit from the 
economic prosperity of the West Midlands as a 
whole and the Council recognises the importance of 
its role in ensuring that this increased prosperity 
benefits all residents and enhances our town.  
 
We welcome continued infrastructure growth 
including increased housing.  However, we believe 
that the Council has a pivotal role to play in ensuring 
that this growth is managed in a way which 
enhances the lives of our residents, protects our 
environment and supports a balanced economy. 

3. To work collaboratively and 
flexibly to meet the needs 
of our communities 

The Council has invested strongly in the 
development of innovative and proactive 
collaboration across agencies and sectors and has a 
well-earned reputation for placing partnership at the 
heart of our approach. 
 
We consider that our ability to deliver positive 
outcomes for residents is enhanced by working with 
others and as a result we will continue to invest in 
the development of purposeful and meaningful 
partnerships. In particular we will focus on 
enhancing the work that we do with others to protect 
vulnerable people and enhance neighbourhoods. 

4. To create a new and 
developing vision for the 
continued evolution of 
Tamworth, including a 
Town Centre fit for the 21st 
century 

As is the case across the UK the nature and use of 
our town centre is changing, with a reduction in the 
viability of the retail offer in its traditional form. 
However, the town centre remains an important 
resource for the town as a whole, with the potential 
to greatly enhance Tamworth’s already enviable 
leisure offer. 
 
We believe that the Council is well placed to lead the 
development of a clear and inclusive vision for the 
town centre which provides the framework for future 
sustainability. This will link to our own plans for 
regeneration including the re-development of the 
Gungate Area. 

 

Page 51



  

 
 

Organisational Priorities Why is this a priority? 

1. To be financially stable  Along with much of the public sector Tamworth is 
facing an uncertain financial future.  The Council has 
a proven track record as a trusted custodian of 
public finances and we will continue to emphasise 
the importance of sound financial management 
linked to effective risk management and 
governance. 
 

We further believe that by adopting commercial 
approaches and critically evaluating commercial 
opportunities we can significantly increase our 
financial sustainability and increase our ability to 
offer VFM for residents.   

2. To ensure our employees 
have the right skills and 
culture to help our 
residents, visitors and 
businesses 

We consider that our teams and our elected 
members constitute our greatest asset and that by 
ensuring that every individual has the necessary 
skills, competencies and knowledge to fulfil their 
roles we can work most effectively for the benefit of 
residents. 
 

Ensuring that front line staff and elected members  
have access to useful and up to date information 
regarding service delivery and community issues 
also greatly increases effectiveness and we will 
prioritise the development of resources which 
maximise the accessibility of information. 

3. To ensure our service 
delivery is consistent, clear, 
and focused   

Ensuring that residents are able to easily access 
clear information about the standards of service they 
can expect from us will greatly help to reduce waste 
demand and promote confidence in the Council.  Of 
equal importance is ensuring that the right tools are 
in place to deliver consistently to the expected 
standard. 
 

We will prioritise the development of clear standards 
of service across the organisation and will further 
develop our approaches to measure and respond 
quickly to customer intelligence and levels of 
satisfaction.  

4. To ensure our decisions are 
driven by evidence and 
knowledge 

The Council receives a considerable amount of 
useful  information though customer feedback along 
with statistical information from a variety of sources.  
We believe that by ensuring we are making the 
maximum of use of all available information and 
knowledge we can create insight to inform decision 
making at every level. 
 

We will work to further develop the means by which 
we collect, collate and analyse all available 
information for the purpose of enhancing our ability 
to support evidence based decision making. 

 

 
Page 52



  

Recovery and Reset Programme 
 
The council has set out a new three-to-five-year ‘Recovery and Reset’ programme, 
which is designed to ensure the authority remains fit for the future, while protecting 
services for our residents, businesses and the most vulnerable in our community. 

The programme is split across eight project areas (workstreams) including; financial 
management and commerciality, smart working, a review of Tamworth Borough Council 
buildings, exploration of customer services models, economy and regeneration and 
local heritage – including opportunities to celebrate, nurture and protect. More detail is 
included in the table below. 
 

Workstream Objective 

Financial 
management & 
commerciality 

Deliver savings and increased income via processes that include an 
assessment of the impact on delivery of corporate objectives & 
organisational aims. 

SMART 
working 

Deliver a costed business case to consider the potential for mandatory 
SMART working including the assessment of benefits & risks. 

Building 
requirements 

Develop a costed plan for potential disinvestment in Marmion House 
including options for alternatives. 

Front reception 
& customer 
services offer 

Deliver a costed business case to assess the potential for re-design of 
the transformation of the customer services offer. 
 

Support the digital transformation agenda by mapping transactions in 
line with benchmarked best practise. 
 

Establish & define the customer service offer based on universal, 
targeted & specialist support. 

Service 
redesign 

Develop & implement an approach for service redesign across the 
organisation including service reviews of every service area over the 
life of the programme. 
 

Establish a base line review of each service in order to prioritise 
income generation, savings opportunities in the short & medium term. 

Third sector 
support & 
vulnerability 
strategy 

Develop an approach to third sector commissioning linked closely to 
achievement of the Council’s business aims. 
 

Share the vulnerability baseline assessment with relevant stakeholders. 
 

Develop a Vulnerability Strategy exploring all the recommendations 
detailed. 

Economy, 
business, 
regeneration 

Develop a strategic approach to supporting business & regeneration of 
the town. 
 

Link Future High Street Funding outcomes to wider place based 
service delivery. 

Heritage 

To scope what is meant by the term ‘heritage asset’. 
 

Undertake a review of the current heritage offer within Tamworth to 
establish a baseline/inventory of all heritage assets (including buildings, 
land & collection). 
 

Propose an effective economical business (operational, commercial & 
financial) model which will protect Tamworth’s heritage for future 
generations. 
 

Secure the future safety & accessibility of the heritage collection & 
archives to ensure compliance with Arts Council requirements. 

 
 

Page 53



  

Appendix B 
Detailed Considerations 
 
Introduction 
 

The Council’s approach to medium term planning aims to integrate the Council’s 
Corporate and financial planning processes. In accordance with that approach this 
report contains firm proposals for 2021/22 and provisional proposals for the following 
years. 
 

It is intended that all aspects of the budget should be agreed by Members and so this 
report details each amendment which is proposed to the 2020/21 budget to arrive at the 
starting point for 2021/22. The report deals in turn with each of the key elements and 
towards the end of each section is a summary table.  Each of these tables is brought 
together in the summary and conclusions section at the end of the report.  
 

The Council’s MTFS used as the basis for the 2021/22 budget, aimed both to deal with 
a challenging financial position and to find resources to address the Council’s corporate 
priorities. The approved package was based upon: 
 

 The need to compensate for reduced income levels arising from the Government’s 
austerity agenda & economic situation; 

 Injecting additional resources into Corporate Priorities; 

 Increasing income from council tax and fees and charges; 

 Making other savings and efficiencies. 
 
Financial Background 
 

The medium term financial planning process is being challenged by the uncertain 
conditions. The forecast grant reductions and continuing uncertainty have put significant 
pressure on the ability of the Council to publish a balanced MTFS.  
 
It has been suggested that, given the uncertainty, there should be no knee jerk 
reactions – with a clear plan to focus on balancing the next 3 years’ budget position, in 
compliance with the Prudential Code (minimum balances of £0.5m) by which time the 
impact should be clearer. 
 
There are a number of other challenges affecting the Medium Term Financial Planning 
process for the period from 2021/22 which add a high level of uncertainty to budget 
projections. 
 
In light of these uncertainties and issues arising from the sensitivity analysis (attached 
at Appendix L), it is felt prudent to include within the budget a number of specific 
contingency budgets (aligned to the specific uncertainties, where appropriate) to ensure 
some stability in the financial planning process (as detailed at Appendix M). 
 

Page 54



  

Following review of the sensitivity of the factors within the forecasts, pay award & 
inflation, interest rate movements together with changes in Government Grant support 
could all significantly affect the forecast as follows: 
 

Effect of x% movement: 
% 

  + / - 
Impact over 
1 year +/- 

Impact over 
3 years +/- Risk 

  
£'000 £'000 

 Pay Award / National Insurance (GF) 0.5% 45 275 M 

Pension Costs 0.5% 0 62 L 

Council Tax 0.5% 41 194 M 

Inflation / CPI 0.5% 56 355 M 

Government Grant 1.0% 44 205 M 

Investment Interest 0.5% 189 979 H 

Key Income Streams 10% 177 1116 H 

Business Rates 0.5% 73 445 H 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



  

GENERAL FUND 
 
Future Revenue Support Grant & Business Rate income 
 
On 17th December 2020, the Secretary of State for the Ministry for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, Rt. Hon. Robert Jenrick MP, made a statement to 
Parliament on the provisional local government finance settlement (LGFS) 2021/22. 
This was confirmed in a written statement to Parliament on 4th February 2021. 
 
The updated National Core Spending Power figures are detailed below and include the 
Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA); Council Tax; the Improved Better Care Fund; 
New Homes Bonus (NHB); Transitional Grant; Rural Services Delivery Grant; the new 
Lower Tier Services Grant and the Adult Social Care Support Grant.  The table shows 
the national changes to Core Spending Power between 2015/16 and 2021/22.  It shows 
an increase of 4.6% for 2021/22 and an overall increase for the period 2015/16 to 
2021/22 of 14.8%. 
 
 

 Core Spending Power 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

 National Position £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Settlement Funding 
Assessment 

21,250 18,602 16,633 15,574 14,560 14,797 14,810 

Under-indexing business 
rates multiplier 

165 165 175 275 400 500 650 

Council Tax 22,036 23,247 24,666 26,332 27,768 29,227 31,192 

Improved Better Care Fund - - 1,115 1,499 1,837 2,077 2,077 

New Homes Bonus 1,200 1,485 1,252 947 918 907 622 

Rural Services Delivery 
Grant 

16 81 65 81 81 81 85 

Lower Tier Services Grant - - - - - - 111 

Transition Grant - 150 150 - - - - 

Adult Social Care Support 
Grant 

- - 241 150 - - - 

Winter pressures Grant - - - 240 240 - - 

Social Care Support Grant - - - - 410 1,410 1,710 

Core Spending Power 44,666 43,730 44,296 45,098 46,213 48,999 51,257 

Change % 
 

(2.1)% 1.3% 1.8% 2.5% 6.0% 4.6% 

Cumulative change % 
 

(2.1)% (0.8)% 1.0% 3.5% 9.7% 14.8% 

 
 
However, there remains a high degree of uncertainty arising from the most significant 
changes in Local Government funding for a generation. The planned reforms were due 
to be in place by 2021/22 (after the deferral from 2020/21) but given announcements 
following the 2020 Spending Round these have been deferred again, although no 
timescales have been released. 
 
 

Page 56



  

The government previously stated its intention to hold a new Spending Review in 2020, 
covering the period 2021/22 to 2023/24. However, a one-year Spending Round has 
been carried out, covering the financial year 2021/22; and this will be followed in 2021 
by a full Spending Review, reviewing public spending as a whole and setting multi-year 
budgets. 
 
In addition, the Government have said that, given the need to provide certainty and 
stability for next year, the longer-term reforms for the local government finance system, 
including business rates retention and fairer funding (Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources), have been delayed. 
 
As announced at SR20, the business rates multiplier has been frozen for 2021/22. 
Therefore the three elements of the Business Rates Retention system (Baseline Need, 
NNDR Baseline and Tariff/Top Up amounts) remain at 2020/21 levels. However, the 
under-indexing multiplier grant has been increased, in order that local authorities do not 
lose what would have been the increase to the multiplier (as per previous years when a 
cap was applied) – reflected in additional section 31 grant (with the caveat that the 
effect of the pandemic on future business rates income is unknown). The business 
rates tariff for Tamworth has been left unchanged at £10.4m – which means that due to 
the retention of business rates growth since 2013 of £1.9m, the Council should benefit 
from net additional funds for 2021/22 (including 40% returned levy from the business 
rates pool). 
 
For future years (post 2021/22), it has been assumed that there will be a reduction in 
Revenue Support Grant to nil following the planned reforms, as detailed below.  
 

BASE BUDGET 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £ £ £ £ 

Revenue Support 
Grant 

187,335 188,572 - - 

% Increase / 
(Reduction) 

1.7%* 0.7% (100)% - 

     

 
* Due to successful Staffordshire 75% Business Rates Pilot arrangement for 2019/20, 
RSG of £184,529 was ‘rolled in’ and deducted from the tariff payment. 
 
Business Rates 
 
The 2021/22 finance settlement represents the ninth year in which the Business Rates 
Retention (BRR) scheme is the principal form of local government funding. As in the 
previous years, the provisional settlement provides authorities with a combination of 
provisional grant allocations and their baseline figures within the BRR scheme.   
 
Additional monthly monitoring has been implemented since the implementation of 
business rate retention from 2013/14 – following approval of the NNDR1 form (Business 
Rates estimates) by Cabinet in January each year. 
 
The Council received additional business rates during 2013/14 (above forecast / 
baseline) and had to pay a levy of £356k to the Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local 

Page 57



  

Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP). No levy was payable for 2014/15 due to the 
significant increase in appeals during March 2015 – which meant an increase in the 
provision from £1m to almost £4m. The Council received additional business rates 
during 2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 (above forecast / baseline) and had to 
pay a levy of £534k, £612k, £1.17m and £992k respectively. For 2019/20, due to the 
pilot arrangement, no levy was payable although growth over baseline was £1.97m. 
 
The latest estimates for 2020/21 indicate additional business rates receivable above the 
baseline – of which the Council will receive 40% less the Government set tariff payment 
of c.£10m (plus an agreed share of the surplus from the Staffordshire pool arrangement 
- after deduction of the 25% Central Share, 9% County & 1% Fire & Rescue Authority 
shares). It should be noted that c.£17.7m in additional relief has been granted in 
2020/21 due to the pandemic – meaning that retail, leisure and hospitality businesses 
will pay no business rates in 2020/21. 
 
The Government said it will keep an open dialogue with the local authorities about the 
best approach to the next financial year, including how to treat accumulated business 
rates growth of £2m p.a. (pending the planned business rates baseline reset) and the 
approach to the 2021/22 local government finance settlement – the Government have 
confirmed that the reset will be deferred which means District Councils keep the 
accumulated growth in business rates (as they did last year) – subject to the effect of 
the pandemic on future business rate income. 
 
For future years, it has been assumed that the retained growth will be redistributed as 
part of the CSR 2021 / business rates reset and therefore business rates received will 
be equivalent to the tariff payable – meaning the Council will retain the Government 
assessed Business Rates Baseline. 
 
New Burdens (Section 31) Grant is receivable for additional reliefs given by the 
Government relating to business rates from 1st April 2013 e.g. Small Business Rate 
Relief – of which 50% of any in excess of the baseline will be payable in levy to the 
GBSLEP. A prudent approach has been taken in respect of any new burdens funding – 
and, due to uncertainties & risk, the creation of an associated Business Rates Collection 
reserve to mitigate fluctuation in income. The forecast Section 31 Grants and levy 
payments included within the base budget forecasts are detailed below – and will be 
updated following finalisation of the business rates forecast for 2021/22 during January. 
 

Levy / Section 31 
Grant 

2020/21 
£ 

2021/22 
£ 

2022/23 
£ 

2023/24 
£ 

NNDR Levy payment  1,090,020 687,230 - - 

Section 31 Grant income (1,095,550) (952,590) - - 

 
  

Page 58



  

For future years, the Government assessed Business Rates Baseline is detailed below: 
 

BASELINE 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £ £ £ 

Base Budget Forecast (November 2020): 

 Retained Business 
Rates 14,637,102 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (12,282,227) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total SFA 2,354,876 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase 0.7% 1.9% 2.0% 

    

Provisional LGFS (December 2020):  

Retained Business 
Rates 

12,744,348 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (10,405,841) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total SFA 2,338,507 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase 0.0% 2.6% 2.0% 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

(16,369) - - 

 
Due to the variable nature of the BRR element of local authority funding, the provisional 
settlement no longer provides the absolute funding level for authorities.  The 
Government’s assessed Business Rates Baseline for the authority is only based on an 
adjusted average income figure, and therefore is not representative of the actual 
Business Rates Baseline. The business rates forecast income is subject to confirmation 
/ finalisation over the next few weeks – the latest estimates are detailed below: 
 

DRAFT MTFS 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £ £ £ 

Draft MTFS Forecast (January 2021): 

 Retained Business 
Rates 14,637,102 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (10,405,841) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total 4,231,261 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase 17.2%  (43.3)% 2.0% 

    

Final NNDR1 MTFS Forecast (February 2021): 

 Retained Business 
Rates 

13,166,215 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (10,405,841) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total 2,760,374 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase (23.5)% (13.0)% 2.0% 

    

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

(1,470,887) - - 

 
 

Page 59



  

Based on this Government financial support will change as shown below: 
 

DRAFT MTFS 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £ £ £ 

Draft MTFS Forecast (January 2021): 

 Revenue Support 
Grant 188,572 - - 

Retained Business 
Rates 14,637,102 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (10,405,841) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total 4,419,833 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase 22.4% (45.7)% 2.0% 

% RSG Increase / 
(Decrease) 

0.6% (100.0)% 0.0% 

Final NNDR1 MTFS Forecast (February 2021): 

 Revenue Support 
Grant 

188,572 - - 

Retained Business 
Rates 

13,166,215 14,918,867 15,217,244 

Less: Tariff payable (10,405,841) (12,518,660) (12,769,033) 

Total 2,948,946 2,400,207 2,448,211 

% Increase (18.3)% (18.6)% 2.0% 

% RSG Increase / 
(Decrease) 

0.6% (100.0)% 0.0% 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

(1,470,887) - - 

 
The retained Business Rates forecast is based on the statutory NNDR1 return – 
approved by Cabinet on 21st January 2021 – prior to final sign off by the statutory 
deadline of 31st January 2021. 
 
The estimated net yield of £13,166,215 retained by the Council (after the Preceptors 
and Central Share) is held within the Collection Fund. This is reduced by the tariff 
payable of £10,405,841 in 2021/22 and the 50% levy on business rates in excess of the 
Government assessed baseline. 
 

Net reduced funding of £268,314 is reported when compared to the Draft MTFS 
forecast due to inclusion of a reduced levy payment of £687,231 and inclusion of S.31 
Grant income of £952,590 – equating to revised growth over baseline of £1,374,462. 
 

This is mainly due to increased uncertainty and therefore an increased provision in 
2020/21 for appeals and mandatory relief, following updated information from Analyse 
Local – in light of the potential impact of the pandemic on future business rate appeal 
levels. 
 

A Business Rates Collection Fund deficit of £19.1m is reported for 2020/21 – however, 
this will be reduced by additional section 31 grant for the extended retail relief in 
2020/21 of £17.7m due to the pandemic. 
 

Page 60



  

This will be transferred to reserve and released during 2021/22 in line with Collection 
Fund accounting practice. It means that it is forecast that there will be a net deficit for 
2020/21 after receipt of section 31 grant of £2m. 
 

Reconciliation  Collection  
Fund 

2020/21 

Deficit over 3 years  £19,147,174 

S31 Grant for additional reliefs  £(17,692,833) 

less S31 grant already received for retail 
relief  

£477,475 

Surplus B/Fwd  £831,024 

Surplus distributed 2020/21  £(806,546) 

Net (surplus) / Deficit 2020/21 to be 
spread over 3 years 

£1,956,294 

 
There are still significant uncertainties - specifically the treatment of: 
 

 Forecast levels of growth / contraction in business rates – including the level of 
void properties and unpaid business rates for 2021/22 following the impact of the 
pandemic on local businesses; 
 

 The estimated level of mandatory and discretionary reliefs; 
 

 The estimated level of refunds of Business Rates following the Appeal process – 
especially following the pandemic;  
 

 the treatment of Section 31 grant funding (including Small Business Rate Relief 
Grant) – which could affect the calculation of any levy payment and thereby 
reduce retained Business Rate income; and 
 

 The impact of the Business Rates Retention scheme review, Baseline reset (the 
Council’s baseline need level), the Fair Funding Review and the Spending 
Review on the likely tariff levels for future years. 

 
In addition, the next planned national Business Rates Revaluation will take effect from 
2023 – with latest indications that the Government will also aim to introduce a 
centralised system for business rate appeals at the same time to cover future changes 
arising from the 2023 valuation list. 
 
While we are aware of these forthcoming changes, little to no information is available on 
the potential impact for individual Councils’ finances.  

New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

 
There remains significant uncertainty over the future operation of the scheme with the 
Government setting out its intention to hold a consultation on the future of the New 
Homes Bonus, with a view to implementing reform in 2022/23. 
 

Page 61



  

The Government have confirmed that the 4-year legacy payments for New Homes 
Bonus (NHB) will continue to be paid to 2022/23 - and that the scheme will continue for 
a “further year with no new legacy payments” for 2021/22. 
 
New Homes Bonus income forecasts had been included within the base budget as 
follows – with future levels included based on legacy payments only. However, following 
the announcement of additional funding for 2021/22, forecasts have subsequently been 
updated: 
 

BASE BUDGET 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

NHB £ £ £ 

  
  

  
Base Budget Forecast 
(November 2020) 232,490 212,700 - 
Revised MTFS forecast 
(December 2020)  678,530 212,700 - 

Increased / (Reduced) 
income 

446,040 - - 

 
This results in an overall gain to the MTFS of £0.45m for 2021/22, resulting from the 
growth in new homes in the borough to October 2020. 
 
The national baseline for housing growth below which New Homes Bonus will not be 
paid was unchanged at 0.4% (reflecting a percentage of housing that would have been 
built anyway). 
 

Page 62



  

Technical Adjustments 
 

Revisions have been made to the 2020/21 base budget in order to produce an adjusted 
base for 2021/22 and forecast base for 2022/23 onwards.  These changes, known as 
technical adjustments have been calculated to take account of: 
 

 virements approved since the base budget was set; 

 the removal of non-recurring budgets from the base; 

 the effect of inflation; 

 changes in payroll costs and annual payroll increments; 

 changes in expenditure and income following decisions made by the Council; 

 other changes outside the control of the Council such as changes in insurance costs 
and reduction in grant income; 

 a ‘Zero base budgeting’ review of income levels. 
 
They are summarised in Appendix F1 and the main assumptions made during this 
exercise are shown in Appendix K. 
 
They have been separated from the policy changes, as they have already been 
approved or are largely beyond the control of the Council, and are summarised below: 
 

Technical Adjustments 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Base Budget B/Fwd 9,153 8,645 9,095 

Committee Decisions (805) 250 280 

Inflation 20 33 35 

Other  24 (137) 395 

Pay Adjustments (Including 
pay award / 7.5% reduction 
for vacancy allowance) 

253 304 291 

Revised charges for non-
general fund activities 

- - - 

Total / Revised Base 
Budget 

8,645 9,095 10,096 

 
* ( ) denotes saving in base budget 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



  

Policy Changes 
 

The policy changes provisionally agreed by Council in February 2020 have been 
included within the technical adjustments for 2021/22 onwards. A list of the proposed 
new policy changes for 2021/22 is summarised below: 
 

Item Policy Changes Identified 21/22 22/23 23/24 

No   £'000 £'000 £'000 

OPS1 
Removal of vacant posts following 
cleaning review 

(15.5) - - 

OPS2 Christmas Lights Event 5.0 - - 

FIN1 Revised New Homes Bonus (446.0) 446.0 - 

FIN2 Business Rates Levy payment 687.2 (687.2) - 

FIN3 Lower Tier Grant (99.6) 99.6 - 

FIN4 
Business Rates Relief Section 31 
Grant 

(952.6) 952.6  

FIN5 
Local Government Covid support 
grant 

(427.2) 427.2 - 

FIN6 

Return of Business rates 
equalisation reserve funding, 
including contributions in 2020/21 to 
account for: 
a) Section 31 Grant received in 
2020/21 to fund additional Business 
Rates Relief for small, retail, 
hospitality and leisure businesses 

(6,876.3) 6876.3  

 

b) Under the Local tax income 
guarantee for 2020-21 
compensation scheme, funding from 
Government for 75% of business 
rates losses in 2020/21 (following 
NNDR3 return in April 2021) 

(586.9) 586.9  

PAR1 

Reduction in Car Parking 
Enforcement income and 
expenditure predictions due to 
COVID-19 pandemic 

39.0 (39.0) - 

AST1 
To reduce vehicle costs budget not 
needed following restructure 

(18.6) - - 

A&G1 
Review of Elections budgets from a 
zero-base, factoring in the 
anticipated schedule of elections.  

62.0 (7.4) (71.3) 

A&G2 

Savings as a result of deletion from 
the establishment of vacant principal 
Auditor and Audit Assistant posts - 
less virement of £38k to External 
Support re externalisation of internal 

(24.5) - - 

Page 64



  

Item Policy Changes Identified 21/22 22/23 23/24 

No   £'000 £'000 £'000 

audit support to Lichfield DC 

G&R1 
Reduced predicted income from car 
parking services based on the post 
pandemic trends. 

213.1 (213.1) - 

G&R2 

Reduced predicted education 
income from the operation of the 
castle as we move into Pandemic 
recovery 

16.4 - (16.4) 

G&R3 
Reduced predicted income from the 
operation of the castle as we move 
into Pandemic recovery 

71.8 - (71.8) 

G&R4 

The creation of a budget to support 
business engagement and business 
support activities through the 
Economic Development function and 
Termination of Economic 
Development shared service with 
Lichfield DC 

(5.4) - - 

G&R5 

£10k for the period of April 2022 to 
end of March 2023 (1 financial year), 
to match fund against a European 
funded project, to enable businesses 
and individuals to start up 

- 10.0 (10.0) 

G&R6 

Future High Streets Fund - 
monitoring and evaluation of the 
success and impact of the project 
and its components, and the wider 
medium term change in the Town 
Centre 

20.0 - - 

G&R7 

Reduction in the salaries budgets on 
Environmental Health to be in line 
with the agreed reorganisation 
structure 

(5.0) - - 

  Total New Items / Amendments (8,343.1) 8,451.9 (169.5) 

  Cumulative (8,343.1) 108.8 (60.7) 

 

  

Page 65



  

Capping / Local Referendum 
 

In the past, the Government had the power under the Local Government Act 1999 to 
require councils to set a lower budget requirement if it considered the budget 
requirement and council tax had gone up by too much. The Localism Act 2011 
abolished the capping regime but introduced new requirements on a Council to hold a 
local referendum if it increases its council tax by an amount exceeding principles 
determined by the Secretary of State and agreed by the House of Commons. 
 
The principles for 2021/22 require authorities to seek the approval of their local 
electorate in a referendum if, compared with 2020/21, they set council tax increases that 
are equal to or exceed the greater of 2% or £5. Consideration of the likely level of 
Council Tax increases over the 5-year period is needed to avoid the potential costs of 
holding a referendum and to ensure that balances are maintained at the minimum 
approved level of £0.5m.  The indications are that a potential threshold will be the 
greater of 2.0% or £5 in future years - the impact of a £5 p.a. increase is outlined below. 
 
Council Tax 
 
Last year’s medium term financial plan identified ongoing increases of £5 per annum 
from 2021/22 - following a freeze in 2011/12 & 2012/13 and a below 2% increase from 
2013/14 to 2016/17 (followed by c.3% or £5 p.a. to 2020/21). 
 
Each £1 increase in the band D Council Tax would raise approximately £22k per 
annum. For each 1% increase in Council Tax, the Council will receive c. £40k additional 
income per annum. The Council’s provision for collection losses for 2021/22 has been 
approved at 2.1% (the same level as 2020/21).  In order to meet the on-going 
expenditure requirements the Council will have to increase the underlying income base.  
 
The Band D Council Tax would increase to £186.89 for 2021/22 (£181.89 - 2020/21). 
Future levels of Council Tax and the projected impact on the General Fund revenue 
account forecast would be as follows: 
 

 Year: 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

 Forecast: £’000 £’000 £’000 

Surplus (-) /Deficit 206 2,702 3,320 

Balances Remaining (-) /    
Overdrawn 

(6,548) (3,846) (526) 

  
      

£ Increase 5.00 5.00 5.00 

% Increase 2.75% 2.68% 2.61% 

Note: Resulting Band D Council 
Tax 186.89 191.89 196.89 

 
which indicates potential balances of £0.5m (compared to the minimum approved level 
of £0.5m) is forecast as remaining over the 3 year period.  As current capping guidance 
indicates a ‘capping’ threshold of 2% or £5, this is considered a low risk option. 
 

Page 66



  

Also available to the Council to support expenditure otherwise funded from Council Tax 
are surpluses arising from the Council’s share of surpluses within the Council Tax or 
Business Rates elements of the Collection Fund – arising from exceeding budgeted 
collection levels. However, these have been impacted in 2020/21 by the projected 
impact of the pandemic which means they have been significantly reduced or result in a 
deficit position which will have to be funded in 2021/22 by the preceptors (subject to the 
Government commitment to allow any deficit arising from the pandemic to be spread 
over 3 years).  
 
It is proposed that surpluses / deficits be included (and that the relevant amounts be 
made available to the other precepting authorities – the County Council, Fire & Rescue 
and Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC).  
 
It is estimated that there will be a surplus of £0.59m for Council Tax, mainly due to the 
net surplus brought forward from  2019/20 of £0.9m – reduced by the projected deficit of 
c.£1m in 2020/21 (spread over 3 years), after allowing for increased Local Council Tax 
Reduction scheme claims and increased bad debts. 
 
A Business Rates Collection Fund deficit of £19.1m is reported for 2020/21 – however, 
this will be reduced by additional section 31 grant for the extended retail relief in 
2020/21 of £17.7m due to the pandemic. 
 

This will be transferred to reserve and released during 2021/22 in line with Collection 
Fund accounting practice. It means that it is forecast that there will be a net deficit for 
2020/21 after receipt of section 31 grant of £2m, spread over 3 years in line with the 
revised statutory requirements. 
 

Local Government Share of Deficit after 
Section 31 grants 

Budget Budget Budget 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Transfer Estimated Balance 
 

    

SCC  £1,599,749 £58,689 £58,689 

Staffordshire Fire  £178,430 £6,521 £6,521 

TBC  £7,137,191 £260,839 £260,839 

Sub Total £8,915,370 £326,049 £326,049 

Section 31 Grants for additional Business 
Rate Reliefs       

SCC  (£1,541,060) - - 

Staffordshire Fire  (£171,909) - - 

TBC  (£6,876,352) - - 

Sub Total (£8,589,321) - - 

Estimated Balance after Section 31 grants       

SCC  £58,689 £58,689 £58,689 

Staffordshire Fire £6,521 £6,521 £6,521 

TBC  £260,839 £260,839 £260,839 

Sub Total £326,049 £326,049 £326,049 

 
 
 
 

Page 67



  

 
The resulting surplus/deficits for the Council are as follows. 
 

 Year: 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

 Council Tax £’000 £’000 £’000 

Council Tax Income (4,180) (4,355) (4,523) 

Collection Fund (Surplus) / Deficit 
(Council Tax – 10%) 

(60) 30 30 

Collection Fund (Surplus) / Deficit 
(Business Rates – 40%) 

7,137 261 261 

 

The County Council, Staffordshire OPCC and Staffordshire Commissioner Fire & 
Rescue Authority are due to finalise their budgets for 2021/22 during February 2021. 
The impact of the Borough Council tax proposals is shown for each Council Tax Band in 
Appendix H. 
 
 
Balances 
 

At the Council meeting on 29th February 2000 Members approved a minimum working 
level of balances of £0.5m. At 31st March 2021 General Fund Revenue Balances are 
estimated to be £6.8m, compared with £5.6m anticipated a year ago. The minimum 
level of balances for planning purposes will remain at £0.5m. 
 
  

Page 68



  

Summary and Conclusions 
 

These budget proposals reflect the need to compensate for reduced income levels 
arising from the economic uncertainty (arising from the pandemic) and potential 
significant reductions in Government funding, a desire to continue to address the 
Council’s priorities / issues identified by Members and at the same time to seek 
continuous improvement in service delivery. 
 
In addition, there remains a degree of uncertainty in a number of areas including future 
income levels following the pandemic, local authority pay settlements, the potential for 
interest rate changes and the future local government finance settlements. A summary 
of all the budget proposals is shown in the table below. The summary Revenue Budget 
for 2021/22 appears at Appendix E. A summary of the resulting budgets over the 3 
year period appears at Appendix G. 
 
 

GF Summary 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Estimated Net Cost of Services 8,645 9,096 10,096 

Proposed Policy Changes (8,343) 109 (61) 

Inflationary impact of policy 
changes / final recharges 

(44) (39) (35) 

Net Expenditure 258 9,166 10,000 

Financing:       

RSG (189) - - 

Collection Fund (Surplus) / Deficit 
– Council Tax 

(60) 30 30 

Collection Fund (Surplus) / Deficit 
– Business Rates 

7,137 261 261 

Non Domestic Ratepayers (13,166) (14,919) (15,217) 

Tariff Payable 10,406 12,519 12,769 

Council Tax Income (Model 1) (4,180) (4,355) (4,523) 

Gross Financing (52) (6,464) (6,680) 

Surplus(-)/Deficit 206 2,702 3,320 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(6,548) (3,846) (526) 

 

Per Council, 25th February 2020 (3,139) (506) - 

 

Band D Equivalents 22,366 22,694 22,974 

Page 69



  

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
Technical Adjustments 
 
The 2020/21 approved budget has been used as a base to which amendments have 
been made reflecting the impact of technical adjustments. The impact of the policy led 
changes, will be added to this figure to produce the HRA budget for 2021/22. 
 
The following table illustrates the current position before the effect of policy led 
changes: 
 

Technical Adjustments 
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Base Budget B/Fwd 1,337 527 1,548 275 463 

Committee Decisions (502) 1,198 (1,133) 335 0 

Inflation 128 195 170 172 178 

Other  (540) (462) (397) (401) (410) 

Pay Adjustments (Including 
pay award / reduction of 7.5% 
for vacancy allowance) 

104 90 87 82 79 

Revised charges for non-
general fund activities 

0 0 0 0 0 

Virements 0 0 0 0 0 

Total / Revised Base 
Budget 

527 1,548 275 463 310 

 
Revisions have been made to the 2020/21 base budget in order to produce an adjusted 
base for 2021/22 and forecast base for 2022/23 onwards.  These changes, known as 
technical adjustments, are largely beyond the control of the Council and have been 
calculated to take account of: 
 

 virements approved since the base budget was set; 

 the removal of non-recurring budgets from the base; 

 the effect of inflation; 

 changes in payroll costs and annual payroll increments; 

 changes in expenditure and income following decisions made by the Council; 

 other changes outside the control of the Council such as changes in insurance 
costs, reduction in grant income and the impact of the HRA determinations which 
are set annually by Central Government; and 

 The ‘Zero base budgeting’ review of income levels. 
 
and are summarised in Appendix F2. 
 

Page 70



  

Proposals 
 

The proposed policy changes for inclusion in the base budget for the next 5 years are 
detailed at Appendix C and are highlighted below: 
 

Item Policy Changes  21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 

No Identified  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

HRA1 

Reduction in the salaries 
budgets to be in line with 
the agreed reorganisation 
structure 

(25.9) - - - - 

  
Total New Items / 

Amendments 
(25.9) 

- - - - 

  Cumulative (25.9) (25.9) (25.9) (25.9) (25.9) 

 
 

Assuming increases in Rent in line with the maximum allowed by the Government’s 
Rent Standard (CPI plus 1% p.a.) in order to support investment in the housing stock, 
the proposals will mean that balances will remain above the approved minimum level of 
£0.5m over the five year period. 
 

 Summary 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Expenditure 21,998 23,489 22,711 23,407 23,774 
Total Income (21,471) (21,941) (22,436) (22,944) (23,464) 
Estimated Net 
(Surplus) / Deficit 

527  1,548  275  463  310  

Proposed Policy 
Changes / Additional 
Costs Identified 

(26) (26) (26) (26) (26) 

Inflationary impact of 
policy changes / final 
recharges 

(158) (158) (158) (158) (158) 

Surplus (-) / Deficit 343 1,364 91 279 126 

Balances Remaining 
(-) / Overdrawn 

(4,522) (3,158) (3,067) (2,788) (2,662) 

 

Per Council, 25th 
February 2020 

(3,013) (1,586) (1,447) (1,131) - 

 
Indicating Housing Revenue Account (HRA) balances of £3.1m over 3 years (with  
balances of £2.7m over 5 years) including the minimum recommended balances of 
£0.5m. 
 
  

Page 71



  

Rent Setting Policy 
 
The introduction of rent restructuring in April 2003 required the Council to calculate 
rents in accordance with a formula on a property by property basis and account 
separately for rental payments and payments which are for services (for example 
grounds maintenance, upkeep of communal areas, caretaking) within the total amounts 
charged.  
 
This framework removed the flexibility to independently set rent levels from Social 
Landlords and replaced it with a fixed formula (RPI plus 0.5% plus £2.00) based on the 
value of the property and local incomes.   
 
The aim of the framework was to ensure that by a pre-set date all social landlord rents 
have reached a ‘target rent’ for each property that will reflect the quality of 
accommodation and levels of local earnings. In achieving this target rent councils were 
also annually set a “limit rent” which restricted the level of rent increase in any one year. 
 
From 2015/16, Councils could decide locally at what level to increase rents. 
Government Guidance suggested an increase of CPI plus 1%, however, the Council 
agreed to vary this level, and applied the formula CPI plus 1% plus £2 (capped at 
formula rent) for 2015/16 only, to generate additional funding to support increased 
maintenance costs and the regeneration of key housing areas within the Borough. 
 
Under Benefit regulations and circulars issued by the DWP, the Rent Rebate Subsidy 
Limitation scheme penalises the Council should the average rent be above the notified 
limit rent. 
 
The effect of the reduction in Social Housing Rents announced in the Summer Budget 
2015 means that rents have been reduced by 1% a year for the four years from 
2016/17. 
 
The Government has now confirmed that social housing rents can increase to include 
‘up to’ a factor of the consumer price index (CPI) measure of inflation plus 1% for five 
years from 2020, following the conclusion of a consultation on the new rent standard. 
 
On 30th November 2017, Cabinet considered and approved amendments to the 
Council’s Rent Setting Policy to include arrangements to charge affordable rents on new 
and affordable housing.  
 
The policy provides a framework within which Tamworth Borough Council will set rents 
and service charges and draws on the Department for Communities and Local 
Government Guidance on Rent Setting for Social Housing. 
 
In setting the rent setting policy the Council had full regard to legislation, regulations and 
associated rent setting guidance including the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 
which gave effect to the Government’s 1% rent reduction for four years up to 
2020/2021.  
 

Page 72



  

For 2020/21 (and in the medium term), rents will be set in line with the approved policy 
including a general increase of the consumer price index (CPI) measure of inflation of 
plus 1% - equating to a 1.5% increase (followed by forecast increases of 3% p.a.). 
 
  

Page 73



  

The following options have been modelled: 
 

  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Option 1: CPI + 1%  

 
  

   
  

Rent (52 Weeks) 81.17 82.38 84.86 87.40 90.02 92.72 

Rent (48 Weeks) 87.93 89.25 91.93 94.68 97.52 100.45 

% Increase 2.70% 1.50% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 

Option 2: CPI  

 
  

   
  

Rent (52 Weeks) 81.17 81.57 83.20 84.87 86.56 88.30 

Rent (48 Weeks) 87.93 88.37 90.14 91.94 93.78 95.65 

% Increase 2.70% 0.50% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Reduced Rent 
compared to Option 1 

- 184,560 373,650 570,130 774,190 986,080 

  
 

  5 year impact 
 

2,888,610 

Option 3: No increase 

 
  

   
  

Rent (52 Weeks) 81.17 81.17 81.17 81.17 81.17 81.17 

Rent (48 Weeks) 87.93 87.93 87.93 87.93 87.93 87.93 

% Increase 2.70% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Reduced Rent 
compared to Option 1 

 
- 

   
276,840  

      
834,500  

  
1,403,120  

  
1,982,890  

   
2,574,090  

  
 

  5 year impact 
 

7,071,440 

  
 

  
   

  

Inflation at CPI + 1% 2.70% 1.50% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 

 
Balances 
 

The forecast level of balances at 31st March 2020 is £4.9m. The impact on balances of 
the adjustments outlined in this report would be as follows: 
 

 Balances 
 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Proposed Withdrawal from / 
Addition to (-) Balances 

343 1,364 91 279 126 

Balances Remaining (-) / 
Overdrawn 

(4,522) (3,158) (3,067) (2,788) (2,662) 

 
This would mean that closing balances, over the 5 year period, would be over the 
approved minimum level of £0.5m.  
 
The analysis at Appendix D details the overall Housing Revenue Account budget 
resulting from the recommendations contained within this report. 

Page 74



  

CORPORATE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2020/21 to 2024/25 
 

The Council has an ongoing capital programme of over £40m for 2020/21 and an asset 
base valued at £250m (as at 31st March 2020). 
 
The strategy sets out the Council’s approach to capital investment and the approach 
that will be followed in making decisions in respect of the Council’s Capital assets.  
 
Capital investment is an important ingredient in ensuring the Council’s vision is 
achieved and given that capital resources are limited it is critical that the Council makes 
best use of these resources. 
 
This Strategy sets the policy framework for the development, management and 
monitoring of this investment and forms a key component of the Council’s planning 
alongside the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
The Capital Strategy will: 
 

 Reflect Members’ priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan; 

 Balance the need to maintain the Council’s existing asset base against its future 
ambition and associated long term asset needs and consolidate assets where 
appropriate; 

 Recognise that growth is the strategic driver for financial self-sufficiency; 

 Be affordable in the context of the Council’s MTFS; 

 Seek to ensure value for money through achieving a return on investment or by 
supporting service efficiency and effectiveness; 

 Be flexible to respond to evolving service delivery needs; 

 Seek to maximise investment levels through the leveraging of external 
investment; 

 Recognise the value of assets for delivering long-term growth as opposed to 
being sold to finance capital expenditure; 

 Recognise the financial benefits and risks from growth generated through 
investment to support investment decisions; and 

 Reflect the service delivery costs associated with growth when assessing the 
level of resources available for prudential borrowing. 

 
The capital strategy feeds into the annual revenue budget and MTFS by informing the 
revenue implications of capital funding decisions. The implications for the MTFS are 
fully considered before any capital funding decisions are confirmed. 
 
Equally, the availability of prudential borrowing means that capital and revenue 
solutions to service delivery can be considered, and ranked, alongside each other as 
part of an integrated revenue and capital financial strategy. 
 
The Capital Strategy further sets out the Council’s approach to the allocation of its 
capital resources and how this links to its priorities at a corporate and service level. It 
describes how the Council has responded to the opportunities provided by prudential 
borrowing and other new sources of finance.  

Page 75



  

All proposed schemes requiring capital investment should have as a minimum the 
following information:  
 

 A description of the scheme;  

 The estimated financial implications, both capital and revenue;  

 The expected outputs, outcomes and contribution to corporate objectives;  

 The nature and outcome of consultation with stakeholders and customers (as 
applicable);  

 Any impacts on efficiency and value for money;  

 Risk assessment implications and potential mitigations; and  

 Any urgency considerations (e.g. statutory requirements or health and safety 
issues).  

 
All capital bids should be prepared in light of the following list of criteria, and the 
proposed investment should address and be assessed with regard to: 
 

 the contribution its delivery makes towards the achievement of the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities; 
 

 the achievement of Government priorities and grant or other funding availability; 
 

 the benefits in terms of the contribution to the Council’s Corporate Objectives and 
compliance with the Corporate Capital Strategy requirements of: 
 

1. Invest to save 
2. Maintenance of services and assets 
3. Protection of income streams 
4. Avoidance of cost. 

 
The current de-minimis for capital expenditure is £10k per capital scheme. 
 
It is important that capital investment decisions are not made in isolation and instead 
are considered in the round through the annual budget setting process.  
 
Corporate Management Team and Service Managers identify the potential need for 
capital investment. This will take account of issues including the condition of council 
owned assets (including reference to the council’s Asset Management Plan), health and 
safety requirements, statutory obligations of the council, operational considerations and 
emerging opportunities for investment including possible sources of external financing.  
 
The Asset Strategy Steering Group (ASSG) review capital bids prior to consideration by 
Members. Once capital bids have been prioritised, Executive Management Team will 
review the outcome of the deliberations of the ASSG and will make recommendations to 
Cabinet through an updated Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) report on a 
proposed budget package which will include capital budget proposals.  
 
The MTFS report (including capital budget proposals) will ultimately be considered by 
Budget Setting Council each year. 
 

Page 76



  

 
Following a review of the Capital Programme approved by Council on 25th February 
2020, a revised programme has been formulated including additional schemes which 
have been put forward for inclusion. 
 
A schedule of the capital scheme appraisals for the General Fund (GF) & Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) received for consideration is attached at Appendix I – 
General Fund (GF) and Appendix J – Housing (HRA), together with the likely 
available sources of funding (capital receipts / grants / supported borrowing etc.). 
 
With regard to the contingency schemes/allocation, £135k remains in current year GF 
contingency funds and £100k remains in current year HRA contingency funds (which 
will be re-profiled into 2021/22 to provide contingency funding). 
 
In addition, during December 2020, the Government confirmed that the Council has 
been awarded £21.65m, from the Government’s £1bn Future High Streets Fund to 
renew and reshape town centres, to deliver a number of projects designed to create a 
town centre that meets the needs of 21st century residents, shoppers and visitors. 
 
To inform discussions, the proposals have been reviewed by the Asset Strategy 
Steering Group and Corporate Management Team with initial comments & suggestions 
for each of the schemes outlined within the Strategy. 
 
General Fund Capital 
 
A number of new schemes have been proposed and the forecast has highlighted that 
insufficient resources are available to finance all of the GF schemes submitted which 
means either: 
 

1) the Council would need to use supported borrowing to fund the shortfall – funding 
from borrowing would impact on the revenue budget through interest costs on the 
debt at c.2 to 3% p.a. plus debt repayment costs of 4% p.a. (based on a 25 year 
asset life); or 
 

2) the potential use of part of the capital receipt from the Golf Course sale – which 
would mean the resources would no longer be available for investment through 
the Commercial Investment Strategy projects (and therefore impact on the 
revenue account through loss of potential investment income at c.4% p.a.); or 
 

3) Fund the spend from revenue through a direct contribution to the capital 
programme. 

 
The minimum approved level of GF capital balances is £0.5million which, should the 
programme progress without amendment, would mean £1.7m in borrowing would be 
needed (or use of the capital receipt) over the next 5 years (£1.25m over 3 years, £1.5m 
over 4 years) – a reduction £0.3m over 3 years (& £0.4m over 4 years) since the 
provisional programme was approved, due to higher levels of DFG grant income. 
 
 
 

Page 77



  

Housing Capital 
 
The proposed 5 year Housing Capital Programme is attached at Appendix I.  
 
There have been some significant changes in the Housing capital programme from that 
provisionally approved – with a number of new schemes proposed. It has also been 
updated to include the new year 5 costs for 2025/26. 
 
Given the significant reduction in spend over the 4 years of c.£4m (c.£10m reduction 
less the re-profiling of £6m from years 2,3,4 & 5 into 2020/21 to allow for the acquisition 
of housing property [£1.5m from each year from Regeneration & Affordable Housing]) 
then funding remaining within the HRA capital reserves is forecast at £7m, pending the 
results of the planned stock condition surveys. 
 
It should be noted that there are no debt repayment costs for the HRA and the 
Government has now lifted the previous debt cap (of £79.407m). The current HRA 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) stands at £68.53m with planned borrowing in 
2020/21 of c.£2m relating to the Tinkers Green and Kerria Regeneration projects – 
reduced from £7.2m due to receipt of Homes England grant of c.£5m.

Page 78



 

 

Appendix C 
Policy Changes Summary 
 

SERVICE AREA 
Sheet 
No. 

Budget Budget Budget   

Changes Changes Changes   

21/22 22/23 23/24   

£'000 £'000 £'000   

            
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
ORGANISATION 

  - - -   

PEOPLE   - - -   

OPERATIONS AND LEISURE 1 (10.50) - -   

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
FINANCE   

- - -   

FINANCE 2 (8,701.38) 8,701.38 -   

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
COMMUNITIES 

  - - -   

NEIGHBOURHOODS   - - -   

PARTNERSHIPS 3 39.00 (39.00) -   

ASSETS 4 (18.64) - -   

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 5 37.58 (7.30) (71.35)   

GROWTH & REGENERATION 6 310.84 (203.13) (98.15)   

            

TOTAL   (8,343.10) 8,451.95 (169.50)   

Cumulative Cost / (Saving)   (8,343.10) 108.85 (60.65)   

 
    

    

  
Sheet 
No. 

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget 

HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

Changes Changes Changes Changes Changes 

    21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

              
HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

7 (25.95) - - - - 

          

TOTAL   (25.95) - - - - 

Cumulative Cost / (Saving)   (25.95) (25.95) (25.95) (25.95) (25.95) 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 79



 

 

Policy Changes Summary Staffing Implications 
 

SERVICE AREA 
Sheet 
No. 

Budget Budget Budget   

Changes Changes Changes   

21/22 22/23 23/24   

£'000 £'000 £'000   

            
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
ORGANISATION 

 - - -   

PEOPLE  - - -   

OPERATIONS AND LEISURE 1 - - -   

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
FINANCE 

 - - -   

FINANCE 2 - - -   

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
COMMUNITIES 

 - - -   

NEIGHBOURHOODS  - - -   

PARTNERSHIPS 3 - - -   

ASSETS 4 - - -   

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 5 (2.0) - -   

GROWTH & REGENERATION 6 - - -   

            

TOTAL   (2.0) - -   

     
  

 
    

  

  Sheet 
No. 

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget 

  Changes Changes Changes Changes Changes 

HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

  
21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 

    £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

              
HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

7 - - - - - 

           

TOTAL   - - - - - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

  

Sheet 1

OPERATIONS AND LEISURE

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

OPS1
Removal of vacant posts following cleaning 

review

Reduce salaries budget in line with 

the posts required
(15.50) - -

OPS2 Christmas Lights Event
Additional event in the annual events 

programme delivered by the Council
5.00 - -

Total New Items / Amendments (10.50) - -

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Page 81



 

 

 
 

Sheet 2

FINANCE

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

FIN1 Revised New Homes Bonus

Updated NHB grant notification 

following confirmation of continuation 

of scheme for 2021/22

(446.04) 446.04 -

FIN2 Business Rates Levy payment
Inclusion of budget for levy payment 

following deferral of the reset
687.23 (687.23) -

FIN3 Lower Tier Grant

Inclusion of income budget for new 

lower tier grant notified for 2021/22 (99.59) 99.59 -

FIN4 Business Rates Relief Section 31 Grant 

New Burdens funding for 

Government scheme to reduce 

business rates charges following 

deferral of the reset

(952.59) 952.59 -

FIN5 Local Government Covid support grant

Inclusion of income budget for 

tranche 5 of the Covid Support grant 

notified for 2021/22

(427.15) 427.15 -

FIN6
Transfer from Business Rates Equalisation 

Reserve 

Return of Business rates 

equalisation reserve funding, 

including contributions in 2020/21 to 

account for:

a) Section 31 Grant received in 

2020/21 to fund additional Business 

Rates Relief for small, retail, 

hospitality and leisure businesses

(6,876.35) 6,876.35 -

b) Under the Local tax income 

guarantee for 2020-21 

compensation scheme, funding from 

Government for 75% of business 

rates losses in 2020/21 (following 

NNDR3 return in April 2021)

(586.89) 586.89 -

Total New Items / Amendments (8,701.38) 8,701.38 -

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Page 82



 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Sheet 3

PARTNERSHIPS

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

PAR1 55.00 (55.00) -

(16.00) 16.00 -

Total New Items / Amendments 39.00 (39.00) -

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Reduction in Civil Parking Enforcement 

income and expenditure predictions due to 

COVID-19 pandemic

The proposal is to reduce the 

anticipated income budgets in the 

CPE GP0605 budget by £55,000 to 

lessen impact of reduced income 

and associated reduced expenditure 

and issue of Penalty Charge Notices 

for 2020/21Further proposed to 

reduce expenditure budget for the 

process of penalty charge notices 

on GP0605 30474 to £16,000 per 

year for 2020/21

Page 83



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sheet 4

ASSETS

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

AST1
To reduce vehicle costs budget not needed 

following restructure 

To reduce vehicle costs budget for 

Marmion House as this is not required
(18.64)

Total New Items / Amendments (18.64) - -

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Page 84



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sheet 5

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

A&G1
Establish budget for automated HEF 

Fees

2.00 - -

Rents 5.00 3.00 (5.46)

Training - increased on-line provision 

expected

(1.00)

Software Support Licences (4.52) 6.90 (3.40)

Printing & Stationery 10.00 - (16.64)

Postage 11.55 - (6.85)

Election Staff 39.00 (17.20) (39.00)

A&G2

Savings as a result of deletion from the 

establishment of vacant principal Auditor and 

Audit Assistant posts - less virement of £38k 

to External Support re externalisation of 

internal audit support to Lichfield D C.

(24.45) - -

WM1

Total New Items / Amendments 37.58 (7.30) (71.35)

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

A&G2
Deletion of Principal Auditor and Audit 

Assistant posts

(2.00) - -

TOTAL (2.00) - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Review of Elections budgets from a zero-

base, factoring in the aniticipated schedule 

of elections as a result of the Covid 19 

pandemic and ability to run joint 

elections/claim a share of costs from 

SCC/Gov't/OPCC where appropriate, the 

following budget adjustments are requested. 

It is anticipated that additional costs relating 

to running elections in 2021 in a Covid 

secure manner will be offset by Government 

Grant already received. 

Page 85



 

 

 

 
  

Sheet 6

GROWTH & REGENERATION

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

G&R1 200.00 (200.00)

13.13 (13.13)

G&R2

The proposal is to reduce predicted 

education income from the operation of the 

castle as we move into Pandemic recovery. 

The 2020/2021 income budget is £41k.

A 40% drop in planned castle education revenue for 

financial year 2021 / 2022 that is deemed high likely to 

continue through fy 2022 / 2023 although optimistically 

expected to be at a lesser extent, subject to further 

government guidance on covid-19.  

16.36 (16.36)

G&R3 3.01 (3.01)

54.64 (54.64)

2.76 (2.76)

0.29 (0.29)

0.42 (0.42)

10.67 (10.67)

G&R4 24.56 - -

(30.00)

G&R5

We are asking for an additional £10k for the 

period of April 2022 to end of March 2023 (1 

financial year), to match fund against a 

European funded project, to enable 

businesses and individuals to start up

There is no consolidated support for people wishing to 

start their own businesses in Tamworth. The whole 

project which covers several local authority areas is 

predominantly funded through officer time matched to 

the project and European funding, totalling £1.3million. 

The £10k is a payment that leverages in additional 

investment. The project pays for; a dedicated mentor / 

advisor for Tamworth giving start up advice; monthly 2 

days workshops on starting a business, including room 

hire income at the TEC; marketing and relationship 

building with individuals and interested organisations, 

such as the job centre; additional workshops at the 

TEC 

10.00 (10.00)

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

The proposal is to reduce predicted income 

for financial income from car parking 

services based on the post pandemic trends.

The COVID-19 pandemic has closed significant portions 

of the economy and as such in 2020/2021 has had a 

significant impact on car park income to date. Wider 

projects across the Town Centre, indicate that usage 

and footfall is still only at best 50% and further 

tightening of measures and threats of local lockdowns 

will only compound this further for the foreseeable 

future. At this time it is difficult to predict likely impact 

on car parking revenue throughout 2021 / 2022 but it is 

thought high likely that revenue will be still be impacted 

as people swap habits to online shopping and will 

remain nervous about shopping in the Town Centre. The 

budget for the current financial year, expects a 50% 

decrease in anticipated revenue. Estimates for fy 2021 / 

2022 are a 75% return based on 2019 / 2020 income 

projections. 

The proposal is to reduce predicted income 

from the operation of the castle as we move 

into Pandemic recovery. The 2020/2021 

income budget is £179K.

A 40% drop in planned castle revenue for financial year 

2021 / 2022 that is deemed high likely to continue 

through fy 2022 / 2023 although optimistically expected 

to be at a lesser extent, subject to further government 

guidance on covid-19.  

The creation of a budget to support business 

engagement and business support activities 

through the Economic Development 

function.The proposal is to retain the unspent 

TBC operational budget allocation to the 

shared service (GS0408) of £22k this fy 

year (2020/201) and split this over four 

years, £5500 per annum to create a working 

budget for the ED team. - SUBJECT TO 

AGREEMENT WITH LICHFIELD DC 

For the last 11 years, Tamworth BC Economic 

Development Team has operated a shared service with 

Lichfield DC and as such amalgamated budgets and 

agreed activities. LDC are now in the process of 

terminating this agreement, which will in affect leave the 

TBC ED team with no defined budget. Without an 

operational budget, Tamworth BC cannot; support / 

engage with businesses, become involved in business 

support schemes and work with stakeholders to benefit 

the local economy

Page 86



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

G&R6

Subject to award of Future High Streets 

Fund, monitor and evaluate the success and 

impact of the project and its components, 

and the wider medium term change in the 

Town Centre. This will result in the purchase 

and ongoing costs of digital footfall counters 

(one off purchase funded through existing 

budget) and the tender and award of a 

specialist evaluation consultant to monitor 

and evaluate the impact of the FHSF project. 

The proposal results in a 6 years revenue 

fund of £20k per annum to cover day to day 

costs of footfall monitoring and the cost of 

the contract for the monitoring and evaluation 

service. 

Footfall monitoring is a compulsory monitoring output of 

the FHSF that cannot be recovered from the fund itself, 

but can counted towards the match funding for the 

project. Government wishes to measure footfall in 

places that receive funding to gain a better picture of 

project impact.Government stipulate in the FHSF 

application that the successful project, must be 

independently monitored and evaluated for the life of the 

project and longer, that this cost cannot be met from 

the fund and must be revenue not capital. This again is 

compulsory. 
20.00

G&R7

Reduction in the salaries budgets on 

Environmental Health to be in line with the 

agreed reorganisation structure. 

Change from grade H to G on GW0101 00101 EHO 

post

(5.00)

Total New Items / Amendments 310.84 (203.13) (98.15)

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

Item 

No

Page 87



 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Item 

No

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

Budget 

Change

21/22 22/23 23/24

£'000 £'000 £'000

HRA1
Reduction in the salaries budgets to be in 

line with the agreed reorganisation structure. 

Reduces the budget to reflect the 

transfer of the post in 2019/20
(25.95)

Total New Items / Amendments (25.95) - -

STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

Proposal/(Existing Budget) Implications 21/22 22/23 23/24

FTE FTE FTE

TOTAL - - -

21/22 Budget Process - Policy Changes

Item 

No

Page 88



 

 

Appendix D 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET SUMMARY 2021/22 

 

 
 

 

Base Budget 

2020/21

Technical 

Adjustments Policy Changes

Budget    

2021/22

Budget    

2022/23

Budget    

2023/24

Budget    

2024/25

Budget    

2025/26

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income

Dwelling Rents (18,198,860) (533,390) - (18,732,250) (19,195,460) (19,669,610) (20,154,920) (20,651,660)

Non-Dwelling Rents (400,440) 10,460 - (389,980) (399,240) (408,730) (418,460) (428,430)

Charges for Services and Facilities (838,000) (140) - (838,140) (848,310) (858,770) (870,560) (882,710)

Contributions Towards Expenditure (1,500,100) 60,000 - (1,440,100) (1,440,870) (1,441,670) (1,442,490) (1,443,320)

Subtotal (20,937,400) (463,070) - (21,400,470) (21,883,880) (22,378,780) (22,886,430) (23,406,120)

Expenditure

Repairs and Maintenance 5,679,540 (278,030) - 5,401,510 6,784,770 5,779,800 5,871,580 6,032,590

Supervision and Management 6,497,880 (241,710) (25,950) 6,230,220 6,327,450 6,543,780 6,736,660 6,929,460

Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges 33,560 410 - 33,970 34,560 35,170 35,780 36,420

Increase in Provision for Bad Debts 161,700 31,500 - 193,200 202,100 211,700 222,000 233,100

Depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 2,860,930 (700) - 2,860,230 2,860,230 2,860,230 2,860,230 2,860,230

Debt Management Costs 26,150 430 - 26,580 26,980 26,980 26,980 26,980

Subtotal 15,259,760 (488,100) (25,950) 14,745,710 16,236,090 15,457,660 15,753,230 16,118,780

Net cost of HRA Services per Authority I&E (5,677,640) (951,170) (25,950) (6,654,760) (5,647,790) (6,921,120) (7,133,200) (7,287,340)

Corporate and Democratic Core 16,170 4,270 - 20,440 20,950 21,470 22,010 22,560

Net Cost of HRA Services (5,661,470) (946,900) (25,950) (6,634,320) (5,626,840) (6,899,650) (7,111,190) (7,264,780)

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,745,430 - - 2,745,430 2,745,430 2,745,430 2,745,430 2,745,430

Interest Receivable and Similar Income (207,470) (21,750) - (229,220) (215,920) (215,920) (215,920) (215,920)

Surplus/ Deficit for the year (3,123,510) (968,650) (25,950) (4,118,110) (3,097,330) (4,370,140) (4,581,680) (4,735,270)

Surplus or Deficit for the year (3,123,510) (968,650) (25,950) (4,118,110) (3,097,330) (4,370,140) (4,581,680) (4,735,270)

Additional Items required to be taken into account:

Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA 4,460,720 - - 4,460,720 4,460,720 4,460,720 4,860,720 4,860,720

(Increase)/ Decrease in HRA Balances 1,337,210 (968,650) (25,950) 342,610 1,363,390 90,580 279,040 125,450

Statement of Movement on the HRA Balance

P
age 89



 

 

Appendix E 
General Fund Summary Revenue Budget for 2021/22 
 

Figures exclude internal recharges which have 
no bottom line impact. 

 Base 
Budget 
2020/21 

Technical 
Adjustments 

Policy 
Changes 

Budget 
2021/22 

    £ £ £ £ 

            

            

  Chief Executive 1,639,680 38,880 37,580 1,716,140 

  AD Growth & Regeneration 1,234,150 (779,920) 310,840 765,070 

  ED Organisation 433,340 41,140 - 474,480 

  AD People 2,003,870 (137,820) - 1,866,050 

  AD Operations & Leisure 2,338,360 380,620 (10,500) 2,708,480 

  ED Finance 84,790 1,880 - 86,670 

  AD Finance (120,600) 124,160 (1,825,030) (1,821,470) 

  ED Communities - - - - 

  AD Assets (468,260) (101,250) (18,640) (588,150) 

  AD Neighbourhoods 1,144,420 (175,840) - 968,580 

  AD Partnerships 863,650 56,120 39,000 958,770 

    
 

      

Total Cost of Services 9,153,400 (552,030) (1,466,750) 7,134,620 

Transfer from Business Rates Reserve - - (6,876,350) (6,876,350) 

Net Cost 9,153,400 (552,030) (8,343,100) 258,270 

            
            

  Transfer to / (from) Balances (1,074,572) 868,415 - (206,157) 

  Revenue Support Grant (187,535) (1,037) - (188,572) 

  Retained Business Rates (13,828,842) 662,627 - (13,166,215) 

  Less: Tariff payable 10,405,841 - - 10,405,841 

  Collection Fund Surplus (Council Tax) (77,339) 16,963 - (60,376) 

  Collection Fund Surplus (Business Rates) (322,619) 7,459,810 - 7,137,191 

            

Council Tax Requirement (4,068,334) (8,454,748) 8,343,100 (4,179,982) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

Appendix F1 
General Fund – Technical Adjustments 2021/22 (before policy changes) 
 

   
Technical Adjustments 

  

  

Budget  
2020/21 

£ 

Virement
s 
£ 

Committe
e 

Decisions 
£ 

Inflation 
£ 

Other 
£ 

Pay 
Adjustment

s 
£ 

Changes 
in 

Recharge
s 
£ 

Total 
Adjustment

s 
£ 

 
Total 

Adjusted 
Base 

2021/22 

  
 

                   

  
 

                   

  Chief Executive 1,639,680 (26,130) 53,650 (6,630) 2,300 14,040 - 37,230  1,676,910 

  AD Growth & Regeneration 555,720 (70,270) (139,240) (8,280) 75,560 40,210 - (102,020)  453,700 

  ED Organisation 433,340 37,590 (1,060) 8,420 3,120 10,400 - 58,470  491,810 

  AD People 2,003,870 - (22,790) 12,060 (226,570) 44,250 - (193,050)  1,810,820 

  AD Operations & Leisure 3,016,790 (85,100) (80,650) 500 (155,120) 22,160 - (298,210)  2,718,580 

  ED Finance 84,790 - (790) 120 (670) 3,150 - 1,810  86,600 

  AD Finance (120,600) 34,640 (363,520) 4,600 394,570 61,120 - 131,410  10,810 

  ED Communities - - - - - - - -  - 

  AD Assets (468,260) - (115,750) 10,870 (30,890) 8,550 - (127,220)  (595,480) 

  AD Neighbourhoods 1,144,420 (63,260) (130,700) 840 68,740 12,730 - (111,650)  1,032,770 

  AD Partnerships 863,650 172,530 (4,310) (2,380) (106,690) 36,070 - 95,220  958,870 

  
 

                   

Grand Total 9,153,400 - (805,160) 20,120 24,350 252,680 - (508,010)  8,645,390 

 
* Base budget figures before recharge & inflationary adjustments after inclusion of Policy Changes. 

 
 
 
 

 
  

P
age 91



 

 

Appendix F2 
HRA Technical Adjustments – 2021/22 (before policy changes) 

 

   
Technical Adjustments 

  

    
Budget  
2020/21 

Virements 
£ 

Committe
e 

Decisions 
£ 

Inflatio
n 
£ 

Other 
£ 

Pay 
Adjustment

s 
£ 

Changes 
in 

Recharge
s 
£ 

Total 
Adjustment

s 
£ 

 
Total 

Adjusted 
Base 

2021/22 

  
 

                   

  
 

                   

  HRA Summary 
(2,790,440

) (117,000) (249,830) 98,530 (535,980) - - (804,280)  
(3,594,720

) 

  ED Communities 27,410 74,980 (790) 40 (20) 3,150 - 77,360  104,770 

  AD People 49,570 117,000 (9,490) 120 (10,610) 15,140 - 112,160  161,730 

  AD Operations & Leisure 166,570 - (680) 260 1,130 10,020 - 10,730  177,300 

  AD Assets 271,770 - (5,250) 2,310 470 23,940 - 21,470  293,240 

  AD Neighbourhoods 3,612,330 (74,980) (235,530) 26,040 5,280 51,330 - (227,860)  3,384,470 

  Housing Repairs - - - - - - - -  - 

  
 

                   

Grand Total 1,337,210 - (501,570) 127,300 (539,730) 103,580 - (810,420)  526,790 

 
 

* Base budget figures before recharge & inflationary adjustments after inclusion of Policy Changes. 

P
age 92



 

 

Appendix G 
General Fund 3 Year Revenue Budget Summary 
 

Figures exclude internal recharges which have 
no bottom line impact. 

Base 
Budget  
2020/21 

Budget 
2021/22 

Budget 
2022/23 

Budget 
2023/24 

    £ £ £ £ 

            

            

  Chief Executive 1,639,680 1,716,140 2,128,300 2,166,230 

  AD Growth & Regeneration 1,234,150 765,070 577,980 526,090 

  ED Organisation 433,340 474,480 490,640 506,180 

  AD People 2,003,870 1,866,050 1,888,730 1,950,280 

  AD Operations & Leisure 2,338,360 2,708,480 2,751,000 2,825,020 

  ED Finance 84,790 86,670 89,530 92,440 

  AD Finance (120,600) (1,821,470) (32,330) 597,940 

  ED Communities - 0 0 0 

  AD Assets (468,260) (588,150) (567,620) (546,490) 

  AD Neighbourhoods 1,144,420 968,580 892,730 913,930 

  AD Partnerships 863,650 958,770 946,780 968,400 

  
 

        

Total Cost of Services 9,153,400 7,134,620 9,165,740 10,000,020 

Transfer from Business Rates Reserve - (6,876,350) - - 

Net Cost 9,153,400 258,270 9,165,740 10,000,020 

            

            

  Transfer to / (from) Balances (1,074,572) (206,157) (2,701,808) (3,319,485) 

  Revenue Support Grant (187,535) (188,572) - - 

  Retained Business Rates (13,828,842) (13,166,215) (14,918,867) (15,217,244) 

  Less: Tariff payable 10,405,841 10,405,841 12,518,660 12,769,033 

  Business Rates S.31 Grants         

  Business Rates Levy         

  Collection Fund Surplus (Council Tax) (77,339) (60,376) 30,188 30,188 

  Collection Fund Surplus (Business Rates) (322,619) 7,137,191 260,839 260,839 

            

Council Tax Requirement (4,068,334) (4,179,982) (4,354,752) (4,523,351) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

 

Appendix H 
Council Tax levels at each band for 2021/22 
 

Authority: 

Tamworth 
Borough  
Council 

Tax 
2020/21 

Tamworth 
Borough 
Council 

* 
Staffordshire 

County 
Council 

* 
 Office of the 

Police & 
Crime 

Commissioner 
(OPCC) 

Staffordshire 

* 
Staffordshire 

Commissioner 
Fire and 
Rescue 
Authority 

Total 
2021/22 

Total 
Council 

Tax 
2020/21 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Demand/Precept 
on Collection 

Fund 
 

4,179,982 30,431,627 5,335,857 1,761,993 41,709,459   
                

Council Tax 
Band               

                

A 121.26 124.59 907.08 159.05 52.52 1,243.24 1,186.78 

B 141.47 145.36 1,058.26 185.55 61.27 1,450.44 1,384.58 

C 161.68 166.12 1,209.44 212.06 70.03 1,657.65 1,582.38 

D 181.89 186.89 1,360.62 238.57 78.78 1,864.86 1,780.17 

E 222.31 228.42 1,662.98 291.59 96.29 2,279.28 2,175.76 

F 262.73 269.95 1,965.34 344.60 113.79 2,693.68 2,571.36 

G 303.15 311.48 2,267.70 397.62 131.30 3,108.10 2,966.95 

H 363.78 373.78 2,721.24 477.14 157.56 3,729.72 3,560.34 

% increase 2.83% 2.75% 4.99% 5.99% 1.99% 4.76% 3.78% 

 
* 
Staffordshire County Council Cabinet 27th January 2021, Strategic Plan and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2021-2026 (County Council, 11th February 2021) 
 
Staffordshire Police, Fire, and Crime Panel – 1st February 2021, Police and Crime Budget 
Report for 2021/22 (including Medium Term Financial Strategy) 
 
Staffordshire Police, Fire, and Crime Panel – 15th February 2021, Fire and Rescue Budget 
and Precept 2021/22 (incl. MTFS and Precept) 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



 

 

Appendix I 
General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2025/26 
 
 General Fund 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

 Capital Programme £ £ £ £ £ £ 

  

 
  

 

  

 

  

Off Street Car Parking 
Infrastructure Update 

50,000 - - - - 50,000 

Technology Replacement 60,000 60,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 210,000 

V13 Income Management 
System & 3 D Secure 

27,400 - - - - 27,400 

Endpoint Protection and Web-
Email Filter   

- - 40,000 - - 40,000 

Street Lighting - - 233,560 119,940 50,940 404,440 

Replacement Castle Grounds 
Play Area 

375,000 - - - - 375,000 

Refurbishment of Castle 
Grounds Tennis Courts 

120,000 - - - - 120,000 

Private Sector Grants - 
Disabled Facilities Grants 

650,000 650,000 650,000 650,000 650,000 3,250,000 

Energy Efficiency Upgrades to 
Commercial and Industrial 
Units 

75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 75,000 375,000 

Major repair to Castle 
Elevations    

150,000 - - - - 150,000 

CCTV Upgrades 45,710 45,710 45,710 45,710 45,710 228,550 

Future High Streets Fund 13,657,960 9,994,600 1,848,810 - - 25,501,370 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

Total General Fund Capital 15,211,070 10,825,310 2,923,080 920,650 851,650 30,731,760 

Proposed Financing: - - - - - - 

  - - - - - - 

Grants - Disabled Facilities 481,000 481,000 481,000 481,000 481,000 2,405,000 

Section 106 Receipts 120,000 - - - - 120,000 

General Fund Capital Receipts 2,050,000 4,400 1,853,210 4,400 4,400 3,916,410 

Sale of Council House 
Receipts 

212,400 150,200 150,000 150,000 150,000 812,600 

Other Contributions 24,000 24,000 24,000 24,000 24,000 120,000 

Future High Streets Fund 11,657,960 9,994,600 - - - 21,652,560 

Unsupported Borrowing 665,710 171,110 414,870 261,250 192,250 1,705,190 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  

Total 15,211,070 10,825,310 2,923,080 920,650 851,650 30,731,760 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 

 

Appendix J 
Housing Capital Programme 2021/22 – 2025/26 
 
Housing Revenue Account  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

Capital Programme £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Structural Works  200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,000,000 

Bathroom Renewals  217,800 567,800 567,800 567,800 567,800 2,489,000 

Gas Central Heating 
Upgrades and Renewals  

685,500 685,500 685,500 685,500 685,500 3,427,500 

Kitchen Renewals  787,500 
1,037,50

0 
1,037,50

0 
1,037,50

0 
1,037,50

0 
4,937,500 

Major Roofing Overhaul and 
Renewals  

1,111,40
0 

911,400 911,400 911,400 911,400 4,757,000 

Window and Door Renewals  398,500 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 1,998,500 

Neighbourhood Regeneration  500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 2,500,000 

Disabled Facilities 
Adaptations  

562,500 212,500 212,500 212,500 212,500 1,412,500 

Electrical upgrade & Rewire  150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 750,000 

CO / Smoke Detectors  64,000 64,000 64,000 64,000 64,000 320,000 

Insulation - - - - - - 

Replacement of High Rise 
Soil Stacks 

1,750,00
0 

- - - - 1,750,000 

High Rise Lift Renewal  - - - - - - 

Replacement of High Rise 
Ventilation System  

120,000 - - - - 120,000 

Sheltered Schemes  100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 500,000 

Energy Efficiency 
Improvements  

70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 350,000 

Capital Salaries  200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 200,000 1,000,000 

Street Lighting  - - 350,330 179,910 76,420 606,660 

Improvements to Retained 
Garage Sites  

750,000 750,000 - - - 1,500,000 

Construction of new build 
properties on Caledonian 
depot site  

1,507,90
0 

- - - - 1,507,900 

Regeneration and New 
Affordable Housing 

250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
1,750,00

0 
2,750,000 

Telecare system upgrades 35,500 30,000 - - - 65,500 

Total HRA Capital 
9,460,60

0 
6,128,70

0 
5,699,03

0 
5,528,61

0 
6,925,12

0 
33,742,06

0 

        

Proposed Financing:       

        

Major Repairs Reserve 2,809,43
0 

2,804,67
0 

2,804,80
0 

2,804,30
0 

2,804,80
0 

14,028,00
0  

HRA Capital Receipts 
600,000 600,000 525,330 175,000 - 

  
1,900,330  

Revenue Contribution 3,959,77
0 

2,186,93
0 

1,859,90
0 

2,294,40
0 

3,595,32
0 

13,896,32
0  

Capital Receipts from 
Additional Council House 
Sales (1-4-1) 

527,370 75,000 75,000 75,000 525,000 1,277,370  

Regeneration Reserve 1,564,03
0 

462,100 434,000 179,910 - 
  

2,640,040  
       

Total 
9,460,60

0 
6,128,70

0 
5,699,03

0 
5,528,61

0 
6,925,12

0 
33,742,06

0 

 

Page 96



 

 

 
 

  

Page 97



 

 

Appendix K 
Main Assumptions 
 
 

Inflationary Factors 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Inflation Rate - Pay 
Awards 

2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

National Insurance 9.50% 9.50% 9.50% 9.50% 9.50% 

Superannuation 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 16.50% 

Inflation Rate (RPI) 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

Inflation Rate (CPI) 1.60% 1.93% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Investment Rates 0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 1.00% 1.25% 

Base Interest Rates 0.10% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 

 
1. For 2019/20 a 2% increase in Local Government pay was agreed and included the 

introduction of a new pay spine on 1st April 2019 based on a bottom rate of £17,364 
with additions, deletions and changes to other spinal column points. A 2.75% 
increase has been agreed for 2020/21 but future years remain uncertain. A 2.5% 
p.a. increase from 2021/22 has been assumed. 

 
2. Overall Fees and Charges will rise generally by 2.5% annually except where a 

proposal has otherwise been made (car parking charges, corporate & industrial 
property rental income, statutory set planning fees, leisure fees); 

 
3. Revised estimates for rent allowance / rent rebate subsidy levels have been 

included; 
 
4. At this stage no changes to the level of recharges between funds has been included; 
 
5. A reduction in Revenue Support Grant levels to zero from 2022/23 after an 

inflationary increase for 2021/22, following the deferral of the funding reforms. The 
impact for the Council will be confirmed by MHCLG as part of the Local Government 
Finance Settlement with a provisional announcement in December 2020. 

 
6. Only continuation of the New Homes Bonus scheme legacy payments relating to 

2017/18 and 2018/19 pending consultation on the future of the scheme; 
 
7. Lower investment income returns due to delayed forecast interest rate increases; 
 
8. An increase of £5 p.a. in Council Tax - current indications are that increases of 2% 

or £5 and above risk ‘capping’ (confirmed as 2% or £5 for District Councils for 
2020/21); 

 
9. The major changes to the previously approved policy changes are included within 

this forecast – Assistant Directors were issued with the provisional information in 
August to review, confirm & resubmit by the end of September; 

 

Page 98



 

 

10. Future Pension contribution levels – following an option to ‘freeze’ the ‘lump sum’ 
element for the 3 years from 2020/21 (after the triennial review during 2019), 2% 
p.a. year on year increases have been included from 2023/24; 

 
11. Increase in rent levels by CPI plus 1% - the Government has confirmed that social 

housing annual rent increases can rise by up to the consumer price index (CPI) 
measure of inflation plus 1% for five years from 2020, following the conclusion of a 
consultation on the new rent standard. Current indications that sales of council 
houses will be approximately 30 per annum.  

 

12. Forecasts have been informed by the Bank of England Inflation report (August 
2020), HM Treasury – Forecasts for the UK Economy (August 2020), Office for 
Budget Responsibility Economic & Fiscal Outlook (March 2020). Any significant 
variances will be considered later in the budget setting process. 

 

Page 99



 

 

Appendix L 
Sensitivity Analysis (3 years) 
 

  

Potential 
Budgetary 

Effect 
    

 
Risk 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24   

  
£'000 £'000 £'000   

     

  

Pay Award / National Insurance (GF) 
   

  

Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 
£'000 L 45 91 139   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 45 
    Budget Impact over 3 years M 275 
    

       Pay Award / National Insurance 
(HRA) 

     Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 
£'000 L 14 28 42   

Budget Impact over 1 years L 14 
    Budget Impact over 3 years L 84 
    

       Subject to finalisation of Local Government pay (including any protection for low paid employees) 

       Pension Costs 
      Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 

£'000 L 0 0 62   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 0 
    Budget Impact over 3 years L 62 
    

       3 year agreement in place from 2020/21 - subject to stock market & membership changes 
 

       Council Tax 
      Impact on Council Tax income £'000 41 64 89   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 41 
  

  

Budget Impact over 3 years L 194 
  

  

     

  

Inflation / CPI 
    

  

Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 
£'000 L 56 120 179   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 56 
  

  

Budget Impact over 3 years L 355 
  

  

     

  

Government Grant 
    

  

Impact +/- 1.0% Variance 
£'000 L 44 68 93   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 44 
    Budget Impact over 3 years L 205 
    

       Investment Interest 
      Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 

£'000 L 189 330 460   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 189 
  

  

Budget Impact over 3 years H 979 
  

  

 

 

    

  

Page 100



 

 

  

Potential 
Budgetary 

Effect 
    

 
Risk 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24   

  
£'000 £'000 £'000   

     

  

Key Income Streams (GF) 
    

  

Impact +/- 10% Variance £'000 L 177 368 571   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 177 
    Budget Impact over 3 years H 1116 
    

       Key Income Streams (HRA) 
      Impact +/- 1% Variance £'000 L 187 379 576   

Budget Impact over 1 years L 187 
  

  

Budget Impact over 3 years H 1142 
  

  

     

  

Business Rates 
    

  

Impact +/- 0.5% Variance 
£'000 L 73 148 224   

Budget Impact over 1 year L 73 
    Budget Impact over 3 years M 445 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 

Appendix M 
Contingencies 2021/22 - 2025/26 
 

Revenue 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24   

Specific Earmarked & £'000 £'000 £'000   

General         

General Fund         

General Contingency*      

General Contingency re 
Income Targets 

169 169 169   

Total General 
Contingency 

169 169 169   

Total GF Revenue 169 169 169   

          

Housing Revenue 
Account 

        

HRA - General 
Contingency 

130 130 130   

      

Total HRA Revenue 130 130 130   

 
* Reduced by £165k as part of Qtr 1 unspent budget review 
 

Capital 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Specific Earmarked & £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

General           

General Fund           

General Contingency ** 135 - - - - 

  - - - - - 

Total GF Capital 135 - - - - 

            

Housing Revenue 
Account 

          

 
     

General Contingency ** 100 - - - - 

            

Total HRA Capital 100 - - - - 

 
** Forecast to be re-profiled from 2020/21 Capital Programme 

 

 

Page 102



 

 
 

 APPENDIX  N 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT, TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
POLICY STATEMENT, MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT AND 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2021/22 

 

Purpose 

To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in reporting to 
Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local Government Act 2003 with 
the reporting of the Prudential Indicators. 

Executive Summary 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to produce prudential indicators in line 
with the Prudential Code.   

This report outlines the Council’s prudential indicators for 2021/22 – 2023/24 and sets out the 
expected Treasury operations for this period. This report and associated tables fulfil the 
statutory requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 by: 

 Reporting the prudential indicators as required by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities; 

 Setting the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy, which defines how the 
Council will pay for capital assets through revenue contributions each year (as required 
by Regulation under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007); 

 Setting the Treasury Management Strategy in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management; 

 Adopting the Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement as recommended within 
the CIPFA Code of Practice 2017; 

 Setting the Investment Strategy (in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) investment guidance); and 

 Affirming the effective management and responsibility for the control of risk and clearly 
identifying our appetite for risk. The Council’s risk appetite is low in order to give priority 
to Security, Liquidity then Yield (or return on investments). 

Under the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice and associated Guidance Notes 2017, 
the following four clauses have been adopted: 

a) This Council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management: 

Page 103



 

 
 

A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities; and  

Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs) setting out the manner in which the 
organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and prescribing how 
it will manage and control those activities. 

b) This Council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the 
year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close. 

c) This Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring 
of its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution 
and administration of treasury management decisions to the Executive Director 
Finance, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement and 
TMPs. 

d) This Council nominates the Audit and Governance Committee to be responsible for 
ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 

Equalities Implications 

There are no equalities implications arising from the report. 

Legal Implications 

Approval of Prudential Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy is a legal requirement of 
the Local Government Act 2003. Members are required under the CIPFA Code of Practice to 
have ownership and understanding when making decisions on Treasury Management matters. 

Resource and Value for Money Implications 

All financial resource implications are detailed in the body of this report which links to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Strategy. 

Risk Implications 

Risk is inherent in Treasury Management and as such a risk based approach has been 
adopted throughout the report with regard to Treasury Management processes. 

A Glossary of terms utilised within the report can be found at ANNEX 9. 

Report Author Please contact Jo Goodfellow, Head of Finance, ext 241 or Stefan Garner, 
Executive Director Finance, ext 242 

  

 

 

Page 104



 

 
 

Background Papers:-  Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22 

 Mid-year Treasury Report 2020/21 Council, 15/12/20 

 Annual Treasury Report 2019/20 Council, 15/09/20 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Treasury 
Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement & Annual Investment Statement 
2020/21 Council 25/02/20  

Treasury Management Training slides 20th November 2019 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public 
Services 2017 

DCLG Guidance on Local Government Investments March 
2010 

Local Government Act 2003 

Treasury Management Practices 2021/22 (Operational 
Detail)  

 

Page 105



 

 
 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised during 
the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the Treasury Management operation is to ensure that 
this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus monies 
are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk 
appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 

The second main function of the Treasury Management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially 
the longer term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. This management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, 
or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  

The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is critical, as the balance 
of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as 
they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations 
will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from cash 
deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally result from reserves and 
balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal 
will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance. 

Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, these 
activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure), 
and are separate from the day to day treasury management activities. 

CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.  

1.2 Reporting Requirements 

1.2.1 Capital Strategy 

The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to 
prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the following:  

 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; 

 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

Page 106



 

 
 

The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full Council fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, 
governance procedures and risk appetite. 

The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the 
separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the 
policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset.  The capital 
strategy will show: 

 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities; 

 Any service objectives relating to the investments; 

 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;  

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;  

 The payback period (MRP policy);  

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value;  

 The risks associated with each activity. 

Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and their 
monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information will be 
disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash. 

Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be an 
explanation of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG Investment Guidance and CIPFA 
Prudential Code have not been adhered to.  

If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, the 
strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the capital 
strategy. 

To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the non-treasury operation, 
high-level comparators are shown throughout this report. 

1.2.2 Treasury Management Reporting 

The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.  

Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) –  

The first, and most important, report is forward looking and covers: 

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

 a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy (how residual capital expenditure is charged to 
revenue over time); 

Page 107



 

 
 

 the Treasury Management Strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 
organised) including treasury indicators; and  

 an Investment Strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 

A Mid Year Treasury Management Report 

This is primarily a progress report and will update Members on the capital position, amending 
prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision. 

An Annual Treasury Report 

This is a backward looking review document and provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates 
within the strategy. 

Scrutiny 

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being recommended to the 
Council. This role is undertaken by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22 

The strategy for 2021/22 covers two main areas: 

Capital Issues 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated Prudential Indicators; 

  the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy.  
 

Treasury Management Issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators  which will limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;  

 prospects for interest rates;  

 the borrowing strategy;  

 policy on borrowing in advance of need;  

 debt rescheduling;  

 the investment strategy;  

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 policy on use of external service providers.  

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIFPA Prudential 
Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and MHCLG Investment 
Guidance. 

1.4 Training 

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with responsibility for 
treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. This especially applies to 
Members responsible for scrutiny. Detailed Treasury Management training was most recently 
provided in November 2019, and will be provided as and when required. 

Page 108



 

 
 

The training needs of Treasury Management officers are regularly reviewed.  

1.5 Treasury Management Consultants 

The Council uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury management advisors. 

The Council recognises that responsibility for Treasury Management decisions remains with the 
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the services of our 
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available information, 
including, but not solely, our treasury advisors. 

It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of Treasury Management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021/22 – 2023/24 

The Council’s Capital Expenditure plans are the key driver of Treasury Management activity.  
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

2.1 Capital Expenditure 

This prudential Indicator is a summary of the Council’s Capital Expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members are asked to approve 
the capital expenditure forecasts: 

Capital 
Expenditure 

2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

£m Actual Predicted 
Outturn* 

Budget Re-
profiling 

Estimate** Estimate Estimate 

Non-HRA 4.734 1.939 4.278 1.850 15.211 10.825 2.923 

HRA 20.462 15.107 22.250 5.435 9.461 6.129 5.699 

Commercial 
Activities/Non-
Financial 
Investments *** 

- - 

12.849 12.849 

- - - 

Total 25.196 17.046 39.377 20.133 24.672 16.954 8.622 

* Actual Projected at Period 9                       ** excludes projected slippage from 2020/21 

*** commercial activities/non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital expenditure 
on investment properties & investments in property funds. 

The projected slippage into 2021/22 of £20.133m relates mainly to Gungate development, 
Gateways projects, Amington Woodland & Cycleway, Property Fund investments and Solway 
LATC, and Regeneration & Affordable Housing schemes. 

Other long-term liabilities - the above financing need excludes other long-term liabilities, such 
as PFI and leasing arrangements which already include borrowing instruments. 

Page 109



 

 
 

The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are 
being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding 
(borrowing) need.  

Capital 
Financing 
(GF/HRA)  

2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Actual Predicted 
Outturn* 

Budget Re-
profiling 

Estimate** Estimate Estimate 

Capital 
Receipts 

4.810 3.990 17.333 13.184 3.390 0.830 2.604 

Capital 
Grants 

0.681 1.851 2.009 0.215 12.163 10.500 0.505 

Capital 
Reserves 

11.844 5.710 11.390 5.314 5.524 2.649 2.294 

Revenue 
Reserves 

4.426 2.953 5.284 1.029 2.929 2.805 2.805 

Revenue 
Contributions 

0.192 0.226 0.226 - - - - 

Net 
financing 
need for the 
year 

3.243 2.316 3.135 0.392 0.666 0.171 0.415 

Total 25.196 17.046 39.377 20.133 24.672 16.954 8.622 

* Actual Projected at Period 9                ** excludes projected slippage from 2020/21 

The net financing need for commercial activities/non-financial investments included in the 
above table against expenditure is shown below: 

Commercial 
Activities/Non-
Financial 
Investments 

2019/20 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Actual Predicted 
Outturn* 

Budget Re-
profiling 

Estimate** Estimate Estimate 

Capital 
Expenditure 

- - 12.849 12.849 - - - 

Financing 
Costs 

- -- (12.849) (12.849) - - - 

Net financing 
need for the 
year 

- - - - - - - 

Percentage of 
total net 
financing need 
% 

- - - - - - - 

 

 

Page 110



 

 
 

2.2 The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The 
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for 
from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s 
indebtedness  and so its underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above, which has 
not immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR.   

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 
asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used. 

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases).  Whilst 
these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
scheme include a borrowing facility by the PFI lease provider and so the Council is not 
required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has no such schemes 
within the CFR. 

The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

£m 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Actual Revised 
Estimate 

Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

          

CFR – non housing 3.523 3.865 4.736 4.657 4.797 

CFR - housing 68.532 70.396 70.396 70.396 70.396 

CFR - commercial 
activities/non-
financial 
investments - - - - - 

Total CFR 72.055 74.261 75.132 75.053 75.193 

Movement in CFR 3.188 2.206 0.871 (0.079) 0.140 

 

Movement in CFR 
represented by 

          

Net financing need 
for the year (above) 3.243 2.316 1.058 0.171 0.415 

Less MRP/VRP and 
other financing 
movements 

(0.056) (0.110) (0.187) (0.250) (0.275) 

Movement in CFR 3.188 2.206 0.871 (0.079) 0.140 

* CFR 2018/19 £68.869m 

A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members are aware of 
the size and scope of any commercial activity in relation to the Council’s overall financial 
position. The capital expenditure figures shown in 2.1 and the details above demonstrate the 
scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the scale proportionate to the 
Council’s remaining activity. 

Page 111



 

 
 

2.3 Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset 
sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and 
anticipated day to day cash flow balances. 

Year End Resources 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

£m Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

Fund Balances/Reserves 30.310 27.875 19.463 17.381 16.310 

Capital Receipts 20.431 18.400 5.194 5.883 6.383 

Provisions* 2.032 2.032 2.032 2.032 2.032 

Other - - - - - 

Total Core Funds 52.773 48.307 26.689 25.296 24.724 

Working Capital** 15.202 4.309 12.580 11.992 11.592 

(Under)/Over Borrowing (8.995) (11.201) (12.072) (11.993) (12.132) 

Expected Investments 58.980 41.415 27.197 25.295 24.184 

* Includes full provision for NNDR appeals   

** Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid year.  

2.4 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund Capital spend 
each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP), 
although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary 
revenue provision - VRP).   

MHCLG Regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an MRP 
Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as 
there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP 
Statement: 

For Capital Expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported 
Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

 Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former MHCLG 
regulations (option 1)  

This option provides for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each year. 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP 
policy will be: 

 Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in 
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure 
capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3); 

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s life.  

Page 112



 

 
 

There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there is a 
requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are transitional 
arrangements in place).  Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as 
MRP. 

MRP Overpayments – a change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance was the 
allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue provision (MRP), 
voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if 
deemed necessary or prudent. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, 
this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. The Council has made 
no VRP overpayments. 

3. BORROWING 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the 
Council. The Treasury Management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in 
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this 
service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash 
flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities. The 
strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected debt positions 
and the annual investment strategy. 

3.1 Current Portfolio Position 

The overall Treasury Management portfolio as at 31st March 2020 and for the position as at 31st 
December 2020 are shown below for both borrowing and investments. 

  TREASURY PORTFOLIO 

  ACTUAL AT 31/3/20 CURRENT AT 31/12/20 

  £m % £m % 

Treasury Investments         

Banks 30.199 51.20 21.000 30.95 

Building Societies - - - - 

Local Authorities 14.000 23.74 24.000 35.37 

DMADF (H M Treasury) - - - - 

Money Market Funds 5.059 8.58 19.258 28.38 

Certificates of Deposit 6.002 10.18 - - 

Total Managed in-House 55.260 93.69 64.258 94.70 

Property Funds 3.720 6.31 3.593 5.30 

Total Managed Externally 3.720 6.31 3.593 5.30 

Total Treasury Investments 58.980 100 67.851 100 

Treasury External 
Borrowing         

Local Authorities - - - - 

PWLB 63.060 100 63.060 100 

Total External Borrowing 63.060 100 63.060 100 

Net Treasury 
Investments/(Borrowing) (4.080)   4.791   

Page 113



 

 
 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows the actual 
external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement - 
CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing. 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Treasury Portfolio Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

External Debt           

Debt at 1st April  63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 

Expected change in 
Debt - 

- 
- - - 

Actual gross debt at 
31st March  63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 

The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

72.055 74.261 75.132 75.053 75.193 

Under / (over) 
borrowing 8.995 11.201 12.072 11.993 12.132 

Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the 
Council operates its activities within well defined limits. One of these is that the Council needs to 
ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and the following two financial 
years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that 
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.       

The Executive Director Finance (the Section 151 Officer) reports that the Council complied 
with this prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. 
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this 
budget report.   

 

3.2.  Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

The Operational Boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower 
or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by 
other cash resources. 

Operational Boundary 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Borrowing 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 

Other long term liabilities - - - - 

Commercial Activities/non-
financial Investments         

Total 63.060 63.060 63.060 63.060 

 

Page 114



 

 
 

The Authorised Limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator and represents a 
control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit beyond which external 
debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It reflects the 
level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not 
sustainable in the longer term.   

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a 
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

The Council is asked to approve the following Authorised Limit: 

Authorised limit 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Estimate     
£m 

Borrowing 86.272 87.143 87.064 87.204 

Total 86.272 87.143 87.064 87.204 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

 
 

3.3. Prospects for Interest Rates 

A more detailed interest rate view and economic commentary are at ANNEXES 2 & 3.  

The Council has appointed Link Group as its Treasury Advisor and part of their service is to 
assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  Link provided the following forecasts 
on 9.11.20.  However, following the conclusion of the review of PWLB margins over gilt yields 
on 25.11.20, all forecasts below have been reduced by 1%.  These are forecasts for certainty 
rates, gilt yields plus 80bps: 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20

These Link forecasts have been amended for the reduction in PWLB margins by 1.0% from 26.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

10 yr PWLB 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

25 yr PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80

50 yr PWLB 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60  

The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and economies around 
the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March to cut Bank Rate to first 
0.25%, and then to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings to 5th 
November, although some forecasters had suggested that a cut into negative territory could 
happen. However, the Governor of the Bank of England has made it clear that he currently 
thinks that such a move would do more damage than good and that more quantitative easing 
is the favoured tool if further action becomes necessary. As shown in the forecast table above, 
no increase in Bank Rate is expected, as economic recovery is expected to be only gradual 
and, therefore, prolonged. 

Gilt yields/PWLB rates 

There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were in a 
bubble which was driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very low levels. The 
context for that was a heightened expectation that the US could have been heading for a 
recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations of a downturn in world 
economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact of the trade war between the US 
and China, together with inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected to 
remain subdued. Combined, these conditions were conducive to very low bond yields.  While 
inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last thirty years in 
lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen 
considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers. This means that central banks 
do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major impact on consumer spending, 
inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the gradual lowering of the overall level of 
interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 30 years.  Over the year prior 
to the coronavirus crisis, this has seen many bond yields up to 10 years turn negative in the 
Eurozone. In addition, there has, at times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 
10 year yields have fallen below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a 
recession.  The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated as investors would be 

Page 116



 

 
 

expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in anticipation of a downturn in 
corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.   

Gilt yields had therefore already been on a generally falling trend up until the coronavirus crisis 
hit western economies during March 2020. After gilt yields spiked up during the financial crisis 
in March, we have seen these yields fall sharply to unprecedented lows as investors panicked 
during March in selling shares in anticipation of impending recessions in western economies, 
and moved cash into safe haven assets i.e. government bonds. However, major western 
central banks took rapid action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets during March, 
and started massive quantitative easing purchases of government bonds - this also acted to 
put downward pressure on government bond yields at a time when there has been a huge and 
quick expansion of government expenditure financed by issuing government bonds. Such 
unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise 
sharply.  Gilt yields and PWLB rates have been at remarkably low rates so far during 2020/21. 

As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is expected to be 
little upward movement in PWLB rates over the next two years as it will take economies, 
including the UK, a prolonged period to recover all the momentum they have lost in the sharp 
recession caused during the coronavirus shut down period. From time to time, gilt yields, and 
therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, 
sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and sharp changes in investor 
sentiment, (as shown on 9th November when the first results of a successful COVID-19 
vaccine trial were announced). Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast 
period.  

Investment and borrowing rates 

 Investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low during 2021/22 with little 
increase in the following two years.  

 Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID crisis 
and the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England, indeed, gilt yields up to 6 
years were negative during most of the first half of 20/21. The policy of avoiding new 
borrowing by running down spare cash balances has served local authorities well over the 
last few years.  The unexpected increase of 100 bps in PWLB rates on top of the then current 
margin over gilt yields of 80 bps in October 2019, required an initial major rethink of local 
authority treasury management strategy and risk management.  However, in March 2020, the 
Government started a consultation process for reviewing the margins over gilt rates for PWLB 
borrowing for different types of local authority capital expenditure. It also introduced the 
following rates for borrowing for different types of capital expenditure: - 

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 200 basis points (G+200bps) 

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 180 basis points (G+180bps) 

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 
 

  As a consequence of these increases in margins, many local authorities decided to refrain 
from PWLB borrowing unless it was for HRA or local infrastructure financing, until such time 
as the review of margins was concluded. 

Page 117



 

 
 

 On 25.11.20, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review of margins over gilt 
yields for PWLB rates - the standard and certainty margins were reduced by 1% but a 
prohibition was introduced to deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local authority 
which had purchase of assets for yield in its three year capital programme. The new margins 
over gilt yields are as follows: -. 

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps) 
 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 
 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 
 Borrowing for capital expenditure.   As Link’s long-term forecast for Bank Rate is 

2.00%, and all PWLB rates are under 2.00%, there is now value in borrowing from the PWLB 
for all types of capital expenditure for all maturity periods, especially as current rates are at 
historic lows.  However, greater value can be obtained in borrowing for shorter maturity 
periods so the Council will assess its risk appetite in conjunction with budgetary pressures to 
reduce total interest costs.  Longer-term borrowing could also be undertaken for the purpose 
of certainty, where that is desirable, or for flattening the profile of a heavily unbalanced 
maturity profile.  

 While the Council will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital expenditure,  
there will be a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs and lower 
investment returns), to any new borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash 
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost. 

3.4  Borrowing Strategy  

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the capital 
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan debt, as 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary 
measure. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and counterparty risk is still an 
issue that needs to be considered. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted with the 
2021/22 treasury operations.  The Executive Director Finance will monitor  interest rates in financial 
markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

* if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, then 
borrowing will be postponed. 

* if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing rates than 
that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of increase in central 
rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in 
inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised.  Most likely, fixed rate funding 
will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next few 
years. 

Any decisions will be reported to Council at the next available opportunity. 

 

 

Page 118



 

 
 

3.5  Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need  

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be within forward 
approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that 
value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  

Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and 
subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism.  

3.6. Debt Rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as the 100 bps increase 
in PWLB rates only applied to new borrowing rates and not to premature debt repayment rates. If 
rescheduling was to be done, it will be reported to the Council at the earliest meeting following its 
action. 

3.7 New Financial Institutions as a Source of Borrowing 

Where appropriate, consideration will be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the 
following in order to finance capital expenditure for non-HRA and infrastructure purposes: 

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities) 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also some 
banks, out of spot or forward dates) 

 Municipal Bonds Agency  

The degree to which any of these options proves cheaper than PWLB Certainty Rate is still 
evolving at the time of writing but our advisors will keep us informed. 

3.8 Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable    

PWLB   

Municipal bond agency    

Local authorities   

Banks   

Pension funds   

Insurance companies   

 

Market (long-term)   

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Stock issues   

 

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

Local authority bills                                                                    

Overdraft   

Negotiable Bonds   

Page 119



 

 
 

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Commercial Paper  

Medium Term Notes   

Finance leases   

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

4.1  Investment Policy – Management of Risk 

The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and 
non-financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments (as managed by the 
treasury management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income 
yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy. 

The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:- 

 MHCLG’s  Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)   

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018 

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second, and then yield 
(return). The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In the 
current economic climate it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash 
flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an internal as well as external perspective), the 
Council will also consider the value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit rated 
financial institutions, as well as wider range fund options. 

The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA places a high priority on the management of risk. 
This Council has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the 
following means:- 

1) Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and 
Long Term ratings. 

2) Other Information: Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it 
is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and 
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a 
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on 
top of the credit ratings.  

Page 120



 

 
 

3) Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny 
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 

4) This Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the Treasury 
Management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in Annex 4 under the 
categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 
maturity limit of one year, or have less than a year left to run to maturity if they were 
originally classified as being non-specified investments solely due to the maturity 
period exceeding one year.  

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for periods in 
excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require greater 
consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use.  

5) Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the maximum 
total exposure to non-specified investments as being 25% of the total investment portfolio 
(see paragraph 4.3) 

6) Lending limits (amounts and maturity) for each counterparty will be set though applying the 
matrix table in paragraph 4.2 

7) Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2 

8) This Council will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for longer 
than 365 days (see paragraph 4.4) 

9) Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified minimum 
sovereign rating (see paragraph 4.3) 

10) This Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.5) to provide expert 
advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the 
risk appetite of this Council in the context of the expected level of cash balances and need 
for liquidity throughout the year. 

11) All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

12) As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2020/21 under IFRS 9, this Council will 
consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in an adverse 
movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year 
to the General Fund. In November 2018, MHCLG concluded consultation for a temporary 
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled 
investments by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five 
years ending 31st March 2023. 

This Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor the yield 
from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment performance (see 
paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year. 

Page 121



 

 
 

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

Changes in risk management policy from last year. The above criteria are unchanged from last 
year. 

4.2  Creditworthiness Policy  

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by the Link Group. This service employs 
a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies 
- Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 
with the following overlays:  

 ‘watches’ and ‘outlooks’ from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads that may give early warning of changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, and any assigned watches and outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads. The end product 
of this is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of 
counterparties.  These colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration 
for investments.  The Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands:  

 Yellow 5 years * 

 Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

 Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

 Purple  2 years 

 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 

 Orange 1 year 

 Red  6 months 

 Green  100 days   

 No colour  not to be used  

 

 

The Link creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information other than just primary ratings. 
Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance to just 
one agency’s ratings. 

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council uses will be a short term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a  Long Term rating of A -. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In 
these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical 
market information, to support their use. 

Page 122



 

 
 

All credit ratings will be monitored on a daily basis/as and when notified. The Council is alerted to 
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness service:  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately; 

 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 
movements in Credit Default Swap spreads against the iTraxx European Financials 
benchmark and other market data on a daily basis via its Passport website, provided 
exclusively to it by Link. Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also 
use market data and market information, as well as information on any external support for banks, 
to help support its decision making process. 

 Counterparty Colour (and long 
term rating where 

applicable) 

Money 
and/or % 

Limit 

Time Limit 

Banks/Building Societies * Yellow £10m  5yrs 

Banks/Building Societies Purple £10m  2 yrs 

Banks/Building Societies Orange £10m  1 yr 

Banks – part nationalised Blue £10m  1 yr 

Banks/Building Societies Red £10m  6 mths 

Banks/Building Societies green £10m  100 days 

Banks/Building Societies No colour Not to be 
used 

 

Council’s banker (where “No 
Colour”) 

 No colour £2m  1 day 

DMADF UK sovereign 
rating  

£10m 6 months 

Local authorities n/a £10m  5yrs 

 

Page 123



 

 
 

 Fund Rating ** 

 

Money 
and/or % 

Limit 

Time Limit 

Money Market Funds CNAV AAA £10m  Liquid 

Money Market Funds LVNAV AAA £10m  Liquid 

Money Market Funds VNAV AAA £10m  Liquid 

* The yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money market funds and 
collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt – see  Annex 4. 

** ‘Fund’ ratings are different to individual counterparty ratings, coming under either specific ‘MMF’ 
or ‘Bond Fund’ rating criteria. 

Creditworthiness 

Although the credit rating agencies changed their outlook on many UK banks from Stable to 
Negative during the quarter ended 30.6.20 due to upcoming risks to banks’ earnings and asset 
quality during the economic downturn caused by the pandemic, the majority of ratings were 
affirmed due to the continuing strong credit profiles of major financial institutions, including UK 
banks. However, during Q1 and Q2 2020, banks made provisions for expected credit losses 
and the rating changes reflected these provisions. As we move into future quarters, more 
information will emerge on actual levels of credit losses. (Quarterly earnings reports are 
normally announced in the second half of the month following the end of the quarter.) This has 
the potential to cause rating agencies to revisit their initial rating adjustments earlier in the 
current year. These adjustments could be negative or positive, although it should also be 
borne in mind that banks went into this pandemic with strong balance sheets. This is 
predominantly a result of regulatory changes imposed on banks following the Great Financial 
Crisis. Indeed, the Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6th August revised down their 
expected credit losses for the UK banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that 
in its assessment, “banks have buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses that 
are likely to arise under the MPC’s central projection”. The FPC stated that for real stress in 
the sector, the economic output would need to be twice as bad as the MPC’s projection, with 
unemployment rising to above 15%.  

All three rating agencies have reviewed banks around the world with similar results in many 
countries of most banks being placed on Negative Outlook, but with a small number of actual 
downgrades. 

CDS prices 

Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), spiked upwards at the 
end of March/early April 2020 due to the heightened market uncertainty and ensuing liquidity 
crisis that affected financial markets, they have returned to more average levels since then. 
Nevertheless, prices are still elevated compared to end February 2020. Pricing is likely to 
remain volatile as uncertainty continues. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it will remain 

Page 124



 

 
 

important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current 
circumstances. Link monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness service to local 
authorities and the Council has access to this information via its Link-provided Passport portal. 

4.3 Other Limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment portfolio to non-
specified investments, countries, groups and sectors. 

a) Non-specified treasury management investment limit. The Council has determined that 
it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as being 25% of the 
total investment portfolio. 

b) Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
the UK and from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of ‘AA-‘ from Fitch. The list 
of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in 
Annex 5. This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in 
accordance with this policy. 

c) Other limits. In addition:- 

 no more than 25% will be placed with any non-UK country at any time; 

 a limit of £14m per group will apply to a group of companies;  

 sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness. 

4.4  Investment Strategy 

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months).   Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. While most cash 
balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flows, where cash sums can 
be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed. 

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being 
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being short 
term or variable. 

 Conversely, if is is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer periods. 

Investment Returns Expectations  

Bank Rate is unlikely to rise from 0.10% for a considerable period.  It is very difficult to say when it 
may start rising so it may be best to assume that investment earnings from money market-related 
instruments will be sub 0.50% for the foreseeable future.  

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for periods 
up to about three months during each financial year are as follows (the long term forecast is for 
periods over 10 years in the future):  

 

Page 125



 

 
 

Average earnings in 
each year 

 

2020/21 0.10% 

2021/22 0.10% 

2022/23 0.10% 

2023/24 0.10% 

2024/25 0.25% 

Long term later years 2.00% 

 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now skewed to the 
upside, but is subject to major uncertainty due to the virus and how quickly successful 
vaccines become available and widely administered to the population.   

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate and 
significant changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has effectively ruled 
out the use of negative interest rates in the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely 
to be some years away given the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always 
possible that safe haven flows, due to unexpected domestic developments and those in 
other major economies, or a return of investor confidence in equities, could impact gilt yields, 
(and so PWLB rates), in the UK. 

 

Negative investment rates 

While the Bank of England said in August/September 2020 that it is unlikely to introduce a 
negative Bank Rate, at least in the next 6 -12 months, and in November omitted any mention 
of negative rates in the minutes of the meeting of the Monetary Policy Committee, some 
deposit accounts are already offering negative rates for shorter periods.  As part of the 
response to the pandemic and lockdown, the Bank and the Government have provided 
financial markets and businesses with plentiful access to credit, either directly or through 
commercial banks.  In addition, the Government has provided large sums of grants to local 
authorities to help deal with the COVID crisis; this has caused some local authorities to have 
sudden large increases in cash balances searching for an investment home, some of which 
was only very short term until those sums were able to be passed on.  

As for money market funds (MMFs), yields have continued to drift lower. Some managers have 
already resorted to trimming fee levels to ensure that net yields for investors remain in positive 
territory where possible and practical. Investor cash flow uncertainty, and the need to maintain 
liquidity in these unprecedented times, has meant there is a surfeit of money swilling around at 

Page 126



 

 
 

the very short end of the market. This has seen a number of market operators, now including 
the DMADF, offer nil or negative rates for very short term maturities. This is not universal, and 
MMFs are still offering a marginally positive return, as are a number of financial institutions for 
investments at the very short end of the yield curve.  

Inter-local authority lending and borrowing rates have also declined due to the surge in the 
levels of cash seeking a short-term home at a time when many local authorities are probably 
having difficulties over accurately forecasting when disbursements of funds received will occur 
or when further large receipts will be received from the Government. 

Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need 
for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 

The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: - 

Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days 

  2021/22     
£m 

2022/23     
£m 

2023/24     
£m 

Principal sums invested > 365 
days 6.324 6.046 6.114 

Current investments as at 
31.12.20 in excess of 1 year 
maturing in each year 

- 5.000 - 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve instant 
access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (overnight to 100 days) 
in order to benefit from the compounding of interest. 

4.5 Investment Risk Benchmarking 

This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment performance of its 
investment portfolio of 3 month LIBID. The Council is appreciative that the provision of LIBOR 
and associated LIBID rates is expected to cease at the end of 2021. It will work with its 
advisors in determining suitable replacement investment benchmark(s) ahead of this cessation 
and will report back to members accordingly. 

4.6 End of year investment report 

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its Annual 
Treasury Report.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 

 
 

5. ANNEXES   

1. Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

2. Interest Rate Forecasts 

3. Economic Background 

4. TMP 1 Credit & Counterparty Risk Management 

5. Approved Countries for investments 

6. Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

7. The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 

8. Treasury Management Practices 

9. Treasury Management Glossary of Terms 

10. Prudential Indicators – Definitions/Interpretation 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 
 

ANNEX 1  

THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2021/22 – 2023/24  

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. 
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are 
designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

 

1 Capital expenditure 

A breakdown of capital expenditure by Directorate is detailed within the Performance 
Healthcheck reported quarterly to Cabinet. 

2 Affordability Prudential Indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators, 
but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the 
capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment 
plans on the Council’s overall finances. The Council is asked to approve the following 
indicators: 

a)  Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream. 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream (net cost of services). 

Ratio of 
financing 
costs to net 
revenue 
stream. 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Actual % Estimate 
% 

Estimate 
% 

Estimate 
% 

Estimate 
% 

Non-HRA (7.31)% (3.03)% (0.17)% 0.68% 0.43% 

HRA  28.38% 28.58% 28.09% 27.45% 26.74% 

Commercial 
Activities/non-
Financial 
Investments 

(3.60)% (4.44)% (5.69)% (6.07)% (5.26)% 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this budget 
report. 

Commercial Activities/non-Financial Investments includes investments in property funds and 
the return on the Gungate Site purchase. 

 

Page 129



 

 
 

b) Housing Revenue Account Debt Ratios 

HRA Debt to 
Revenues Ratio 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

HRA Debt £m 68.532 70.396 70.396 70.396 70.396 

HRA Revenues 
£m 18.243 18.783 19.303 19.775 20.259 

Ratio of Debt to 
Revenues % 376 375 365 356 347 

 

HRA Debt per 
Dwelling 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

HRA Debt £m 68.532 70.396 70.396 70.396 70.396 

Number of HRA 
Dwellings 4,160 4,140 4,110 4,080 4,050 

Debt per Dwelling 
£'000 16.474 17.004 17.128 17.254 17.382 

 

4 Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due 
for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits. 

The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits: 

Maturity structure of Fixed Interest Rate borrowing 2021/22 

Timeline Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 25% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 75% 

10 years and above 0% 100% 

 

Maturity structure of Variable Interest Rate borrowing 2021/22 

Timeline Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 25% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 75% 

10 years and above 0% 100% 

5. Control of Interest Rate Exposure 

Please see paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.4 

Page 130



 

 
 

ANNEX 2 Interest Rate Forecasts 2020 – 2024 

The PWLB rates below are based on the new margins over gilts announced on 26th November 2020.  PWLB forecasts shown below have taken into account 
the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012. 

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20 (The Capital Economics forecasts were done 11.11.20)

These Link forecasts have been amended for the reduction in PWLB margins by 1.0% from 26.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

10 yr PWLB 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

25 yr PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80

50 yr PWLB 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60

Bank Rate

Link 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

Capital Economics 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate

Link 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80

Capital Economics 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 - - - - -

10yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

Capital Economics 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30 - - - - -

25yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80

Capital Economics 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80 - - - - -

50yr PWLB Rate

Link 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60

Capital Economics 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 - - - - -  

P
age 131



 

 
 

ANNEX 3 ECONOMIC BACKGROUND 

UK. The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee kept Bank Rate unchanged on 5th 
November. However, it revised its economic forecasts to take account of a second national 
lockdown from 5th November to 2nd December which is obviously going to put back economic 
recovery and do further damage to the economy.  It therefore decided to do a further tranche of 
quantitative easing (QE) of £150bn, to start in January when the current programme of £300bn of 
QE announced in March to June, runs out.  It did this so that “announcing further asset purchases 
now should support the economy and help to ensure the unavoidable near-term slowdown in 
activity was not amplified by a tightening in monetary conditions that could slow the return of 
inflation to the target”. 

Its forecasts appeared, at the time, to be rather optimistic in terms of three areas:  

The economy would recover to reach its pre-pandemic level in Q1 2022 

The Bank also expects there to be excess demand in the economy by Q4 2022. 

CPI inflation is therefore projected to be a bit above its 2% target by the start of 2023 and 
the “inflation risks were judged to be balanced”. 

Significantly, there was no mention of negative interest rates in the minutes or Monetary Policy 
Report, suggesting that the MPC remains some way from being persuaded of the case for such a 
policy, at least for the next 6 -12 months. However, rather than saying that it “stands ready to adjust 
monetary policy”, the MPC this time said that it will take “whatever additional action was necessary 
to achieve its remit”. The latter seems stronger and wider and may indicate the Bank’s willingness 
to embrace new tools. 

One key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August was a new phrase in the policy 
statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy until there is clear evidence 
that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and achieving the 2% target 
sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation rises to 2% in a couple of 
years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise Bank Rate – until they can clearly see 
that level of inflation is going to be persistently above target if it takes no action to raise Bank Rate.  
Our Bank Rate forecast currently shows no increase through to quarter 1 2024 but there could well 
be no increase during the next five years due to the slow rate of recovery of the economy and the 
need for the Government to see the burden of the elevated debt to GDP ratio falling significantly. 
Inflation is unlikely to pose a threat requiring increases in Bank Rate during this period as there is 
likely to be spare capacity in the economy for a considerable time.  It is expected to briefly peak at 
around 2% towards the end of 2021, but this is a temporary short lived factor and so not a concern. 

However, the minutes did contain several references to downside risks. The MPC reiterated that 
the “recovery would take time, and the risks around the GDP projection were judged to be skewed 
to the downside”. It also said “the risk of a more persistent period of elevated unemployment 
remained material”. Following the second lockdown in November, there was a temporary relaxation 
of restrictions over Christmas, and then a further national lockdown in January. It is likely that most 
regions will be subject to Tier 3  and Tier 4 restrictions when the lockdown ends. Hopefully, 
restrictions should progressively ease during the spring.  It is only to be expected that some 
businesses that have barely survived the first lockdown, will fail to survive the second or third 
lockdown, especially those businesses that depend on a surge of business over the Christmas 
period.  This will mean that there will be some level of further permanent loss of economic activity, 
although the extension of the furlough scheme to the end of 31st March will limit the degree of 
damage done.  
 
As for upside risks, we have been waiting expectantly for news that various COVID19 vaccines 
would be cleared as being safe and effective for administering to the general public. The Pfizer 
announcement on 9th November was very encouraging as its 90% effectiveness was much higher 
than the 50-60% rate of effectiveness of flu vaccines which might otherwise have been expected.  
However, their phase three trials are still only two-thirds complete. More data needs to be collected 

Page 132



 

 
 

to make sure there are no serious side effects. We don’t know exactly how long immunity will last or 
whether it is effective across all age groups. The Pfizer vaccine specifically also has demanding 
cold storage requirements of minus 70C that might make it more difficult to roll out. However, the 
logistics of production and deployment can surely be worked out over the next few months. 
 
However, there has been even further encouraging news since then with another two vaccines 
announcing high success rates. Together, these three announcements have enormously boosted 
confidence that life could largely return to normal during the second half of 2021, with activity 
in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel and hotels returning to their pre-pandemic 
levels, which would help to bring the unemployment rate down. With the household saving rate 
currently being exceptionally high, there is plenty of pent-up demand and purchasing power stored 
up for these services. A comprehensive  roll-out of vaccines might take into late 2021 to fully 
complete; but if these vaccines prove to be highly effective, then there is a possibility that 
restrictions could begin to be eased, possibly in Q2 2021, once vulnerable people and front-line 
workers had been vaccinated. At that point, there would be less reason to fear that hospitals could 
become overwhelmed any more.  Effective vaccines would radically improve the economic outlook 
once they have been widely administered; it may allow GDP to rise to its pre-virus level a year 
earlier than otherwise and mean that the unemployment rate peaks at 7% next year instead of 9%. 
But while this would reduce the need for more QE and/or negative interest rates, increases in Bank 
Rate would still remain some years away. There is also a potential question as to whether the 
relatively optimistic outlook of the Monetary Policy Report was swayed by making positive 
assumptions around effective vaccines being available soon. It should also be borne in mind that as 
effective vaccines will take time to administer, economic news could well get worse before it starts 
getting better. 

 

Public borrowing is now forecast by the Office for Budget Responsibility (the OBR) to reach 
£394bn in the current financial year, the highest ever peace time deficit and equivalent to 19% of 
GDP.  In normal times, such an increase in total gilt issuance would lead to a rise in gilt yields, and 
so PWLB rates. However, the QE done by the Bank of England has depressed gilt yields to historic 
low levels, (as has similarly occurred with QE and debt issued in the US, the EU and Japan). This 
means that new UK debt being issued, and this is being done across the whole yield curve in all 
maturities, is locking in those historic low levels through until maturity.  In addition, the UK has one 
of the longest average maturities for its entire debt portfolio, of any country in the world.  Overall, 
this means that the total interest bill paid by the Government is manageable despite the huge 
increase in the total amount of debt. The OBR was also forecasting that the government will still be 
running a budget deficit of £102bn (3.9% of GDP) by 2025/26.  However, initial impressions are that 
they have taken a pessimistic view of the impact that vaccines could make in the speed of 
economic recovery. 

 
Overall, the pace of recovery was not expected to be in the form of a rapid V shape, but a more 
elongated and prolonged one. The initial recovery was sharp but after a disappointing increase in 
GDP of only 2.1% in August, this left the economy still 9.2% smaller than in February; this 
suggested that the economic recovery was running out of steam after recovering 64% of its total fall 
during the crisis. The last three months of 2020 were originally expected to show zero growth due to 
the impact of widespread local lockdowns, consumers probably remaining cautious in spending, 
and uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations concluding at the end of the year 
also being a headwind. However, the second national lockdown which began on 5th November for 
one month is expected to depress GDP by 8% in November while the rebound in December is likely 
to be muted and vulnerable to the previously mentioned downside risks.  It was expected that the 
second national lockdown would push back recovery of GDP to pre pandemic levels by six months 
and into sometime during 2023.  However, the graph below shows what Capital Economics forecast 
could happen if successful vaccines were widely administered in the UK in the first half of 2021; this 
would cause a much quicker recovery.  

Page 133



 

 
 

 

Level of real GDP   (Q4 2019 = 100) 

 

 

 

There will be some painful longer term adjustments as e.g. office space and travel by planes, trains 
and buses may not recover to their previous level of use for several years, or possibly ever, even if 
vaccines are fully successful in overcoming the current virus. There is also likely to be a reversal of 
globalisation as this crisis has exposed how vulnerable long-distance supply chains are. On the other 
hand, digital services are one area that has already seen huge growth. 
 
The Financial Policy Committee (FPC) report on 6th August revised down their expected credit losses 
for the banking sector to “somewhat less than £80bn”. It stated that in its assessment “banks have 
buffers of capital more than sufficient to absorb the losses that are likely to arise under the MPC’s 
central projection”. The FPC stated that for real stress in the sector, the economic output would need to 
be twice as bad as the MPC’s projection, with unemployment rising to above 15%.  

US. The result of the November elections means that the Democrats have gained the presidency, a 
majority in the House of Representatives, and control of the Senate. This means that the Democrats will be 
able to do a massive fiscal stimulus, as they had been hoping, which may result in another surge of debt 
issuance and could put upward pressure on debt yields and gilt yields.  On the other hand, equity prices leapt 
up on 9th November on the first news of a successful vaccine and have risen further during November as 
more vaccines announced successful results.  This could cause a big shift in investor sentiment i.e. a swing 
to sell out of government debt to buy into equities which would normally be expected to cause debt prices to 
fall and yields to rise. However, the rise in yields has been quite muted so far and it is too early to say 
whether the Fed would feel it necessary to take action to suppress any further rise in debt yields.   
 

The economy had been recovering quite strongly from its contraction in 2020 of 10.2% due to the 
pandemic with GDP only 3.5% below its pre-pandemic level and the unemployment rate dropping 
below 7%. However, the rise in new cases during quarter 4, to the highest level since mid-August, 
suggests that the US could be in the early stages of a third wave. While the first wave in March and 
April was concentrated in the Northeast, and the second wave in the South and West, the latest wave 
has been driven by a growing outbreak in the Midwest. The latest upturn poses a threat that the 
recovery in the economy could stall. This is the single biggest downside risk to the shorter term 
outlook – a more widespread and severe wave of infections over the winter months, which is 
compounded by the impact of the regular flu season and, as a consequence, threatens to overwhelm 
health care facilities. Under those circumstances, states might feel it necessary to return to more 
draconian lockdowns. 

Page 134



 

 
 

 

COVID-19 New infections & hospitalisations 

 

After Chair Jerome Powell unveiled the Fed's adoption of a flexible average inflation target in his 
Jackson Hole speech in late August, the mid-September meeting of the Fed agreed by a majority to a 
toned down version of the new inflation target in his speech - that "it would likely be appropriate to 
maintain the current target range until labour market conditions were judged to be consistent with the 
Committee's assessments of maximum employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on track to 
moderately exceed 2% for some time." This change was aimed to provide more stimulus for economic 
growth and higher levels of employment and to avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary 
“trap” like Japan. It is to be noted that inflation has actually been under-shooting the 2% target 
significantly for most of the last decade, (and this year), so financial markets took note that higher levels 
of inflation are likely to be in the pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. The Fed 
also called on Congress to end its political disagreement over providing more support for the 
unemployed as there is a limit to what monetary policy can do compared to more directed central 
government fiscal policy. The FOMC’s updated economic and rate projections in mid-September 
showed that officials expect to leave the fed funds rate at near-zero until at least end-2023 and 
probably for another year or two beyond that. There is now some expectation that where the Fed has 
led in changing its inflation target, other major central banks will follow. The increase in tension over the 
last year between the US and China is likely to lead to a lack of momentum in progressing the initial 
positive moves to agree a phase one trade deal. The Fed’s meeting on 5 November was unremarkable 
- but at a politically sensitive time around the elections. 

EU. The economy was recovering well towards the end of Q2 and into Q3 after a sharp drop in GDP 
caused by the virus, (e.g. France 18.9%, Italy 17.6%).  However, growth is likely to stagnate during Q4, 
and Q1 of 2021, as a second wave of the virus has affected many countries, and is likely to hit hardest 
those countries more dependent on tourism. The €750bn fiscal support package eventually agreed by 
the EU after prolonged disagreement between various countries, is unlikely to provide significant 
support, and quickly enough, to make an appreciable difference in the worst affected countries. With 
inflation expected to be unlikely to get much above 1% over the next two years, the ECB has been 
struggling to get inflation up to its 2% target. It is currently unlikely that it will cut its central rate even 
further into negative territory from -0.5%, although the ECB has stated that it retains this as a possible 
tool to use. It is therefore expected that it will have to provide more monetary policy support through 
more quantitative easing purchases of bonds in the absence of sufficient fiscal support from 
governments. The current Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) scheme of €1,350bn of 
QE which started in March 2020 is providing protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker 
countries like Italy.  There is therefore unlikely to be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain this 
level of support. However, the PEPP scheme is regarded as being a temporary measure during this 
crisis so it may need to be increased once the first PEPP runs out during early 2021. It could also 
decide to focus on using the Asset Purchase Programme to make more monthly purchases, rather than 
the PEPP scheme, and it does have other monetary policy options. 

Page 135



 

 
 

China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1, economic recovery was strong 
in Q2 and then into Q3 and Q4; this has enabled China to recover all of the contraction in Q1. Policy 
makers have both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal support 
that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth. At the same time, China’s economy 
has benefited from the shift towards online spending by consumers in developed markets. These 
factors help to explain its comparative outperformance compared to western economies. 

However, this was achieved by major central government funding of yet more infrastructure spending. 
After years of growth having been focused on this same area, any further spending in this area is likely 
to lead to increasingly weaker economic returns in the longer term. This could, therefore, lead to a 
further misallocation of resources which will weigh on growth in future years. 

Japan. Japan’s success in containing the virus without imposing draconian restrictions on activity 
should enable a faster return to pre-virus levels of output than in many major economies. While the 
second wave of the virus has been abating, the economy has been continuing to recover at a 
reasonable pace from its earlier total contraction of 8.5% in GDP. However, there now appears to be 
the early stages of the start of a third wave.  It has also been struggling to get out of a deflation trap for 
many years and to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up to its target of 
2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. There has also been little progress on fundamental 
reform of the economy. The change of Prime Minister is not expected to result in any significant change 
in economic policy. 

World growth.  While Latin America and India have, until recently, been hotspots for virus infections, 
infection rates have begun to stabilise. World growth will be in recession this year. Inflation is unlikely to 
be a problem for some years due to the creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand 
caused by the coronavirus crisis. 

Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. countries 
specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an economic advantage and 
which they then trade with the rest of the world.  This has boosted worldwide productivity and growth, 
and, by lowering costs, has also depressed inflation. However, the rise of China as an economic 
superpower over the last thirty years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has 
unbalanced the world economy. The Chinese government has targeted achieving major world positions 
in specific key sectors and products, especially high tech areas and production of rare earth minerals 
used in high tech products.  It is achieving this by massive financial support, (i.e. subsidies), to state 
owned firms, government directions to other firms, technology theft, restrictions on market access by 
foreign firms and informal targets for the domestic market share of Chinese producers in the selected 
sectors. This is regarded as being unfair competition that is putting western firms at an unfair 
disadvantage or even putting some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on the political 
front as China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic and military power for 
political advantage. The current trade war between the US and China therefore needs to be seen 
against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a 
reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China 
to supply products.  This is likely to produce a backdrop in the coming years of weak global growth and 
so weak inflation.   

Summary 

Central banks are, therefore, likely to come under more pressure to support growth by looser 
monetary policy measures and this is likely to result in more quantitative easing and keeping 
rates very low for longer. It will also put pressure on governments to provide more fiscal 
support for their economies.  

 

Page 136



 

 
 

If there is a huge surge in investor confidence as a result of successful vaccines which leads to 
a major switch out of government bonds into equities, which, in turn, causes government debt 
yields to rise, then there will be pressure on central banks to actively manage debt yields by 
further QE purchases of government debt; this would help to suppress the rise in debt yields 
and so keep the total interest bill on greatly expanded government debt portfolios within 
manageable parameters. It is also the main alternative to a programme of austerity. 

The graph below as at 10th November, shows how the 10 and 30 year gilt yields in the UK spiked up after the 
Pfizer vaccine announcement on the previous day, (though they have levelled off during late November at 
around the same elevated levels): - 

 

 

 

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 

Brexit. The interest rate forecasts provided by Link in paragraph 3.3 were predicated on an assumption of a 
reasonable agreement being reached on trade negotiations between the UK and the EU by 31.12.20.   

Brexit may reduce the economy’s potential growth rate in the long run. However, much of that drag is now 
likely to be offset by an acceleration of productivity growth triggered by the digital revolution brought about by 
the COVID crisis.  

So in summary there is not likely to be any change in Bank Rate in 20/21 – 21/22 and while there may 
be some movement in gilt yields / PWLB rates after the 31st December, there will probably be minimal 
enduring impact. 

The balance of risks to the UK 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably now skewed to the upside, but 
is subject to major uncertainty due to the virus and how quickly successful vaccines may become 
available and widely administered to the population.  

 There is relatively little UK domestic risk of increases or decreases in Bank Rate and significant 
changes in shorter term PWLB rates. The Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of 
negative interest rates in the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely to be some years away 
given the underlying economic expectations. However, it is always possible that safe haven flows, 
due to unexpected domestic developments and those in other major economies, could impact gilt 
yields, (and so PWLB rates), in the UK. 

 

Page 137



 

 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include:  

 UK - further national lockdowns or severe regional restrictions in major conurbations during 2021.  

 UK / EU trade negotiations – if they were to cause significant economic disruption and downturn in 
the rate of growth. 

 UK - Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank 
Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently 
anticipate.  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. The ECB has taken monetary policy action to 
support the bonds of EU states, with the positive impact most likely for “weaker” countries. In 
addition, the EU agreed a €750bn fiscal support package.  These actions will help shield weaker 
economic regions for the next year or so. However, in the case of Italy, the cost of the virus crisis has 
added to its already huge debt mountain and its slow economic growth will leave it vulnerable to 
markets returning to taking the view that its level of debt is unsupportable.  There remains a sharp 
divide between northern EU countries favouring low debt to GDP and annual balanced budgets and 
southern countries who want to see jointly issued Eurobonds to finance economic recovery. This 
divide could undermine the unity of the EU in time to come.   

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, which could be undermined further depending on 
extent of credit losses resultant of the pandemic. 

 German minority government & general election in 2021. In the German general election of 
September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on 
the fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD 
party. The CDU has done badly in subsequent state elections but the SPD has done particularly 
badly. Angela Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader but she intends to remain 
as Chancellor until the general election in 2021. This then leaves a major question mark over who will 
be the major guiding hand and driver of EU unity when she steps down.   

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands, Ireland and 
Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which could prove 
fragile.  

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration bloc 
within the EU. In November, Hungary and Poland threatened to veto the 7 year EU budget due to the 
inclusion of a rule of law requirement that poses major challenges to both countries. There has also 
been a rise in anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and France. 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in China, Iran or North Korea, but also in Europe and other Middle 
Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.  

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates 

 UK - stronger than currently expected recovery in UK economy, especially if effective vaccines are 
administered quickly to the UK population and lead to a resumption of normal life and a return to full 
economic activity across all sectors of the economy. 

 Post-Brexit – if the majority of threats of economic disruption between the EU and the UK are 
removed.  

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, therefore, 
allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates 
a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.  

 

Page 138



 

 
 

ANNEX 4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE (TMP1) CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up 
to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. (Non-
specified investments which would be specified investments apart from originally being for a period 
longer than 12 months, will be classified as being specified once the remaining period to maturity 
falls to under twelve months.) 

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the specified 
investment criteria. A maximum of 25% will be held in aggregate in non-specified investments.  

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and, 
depending on the type of investment made, it will fall into one of the above categories. 

The criteria, time limits and monetary limits applying to institutions or investment vehicles are: 

Counterparty 
 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band 

£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

DMADF – UK Government Yellow £10m 
6 months (max is set 
by the DMO*) 

UK Government gilts Yellow  £10m 5 years 

UK Government Treasury bills Yellow £10m 
364 days (max is set 
by the DMO*)  

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

Yellow  £10m 5 years 

Money Market Funds  CNAV AAA £10m Liquid 

Money Market Funds  LVNAV AAA £10m Liquid 

Money Market Funds  VNAV AAA £10m Liquid 

Local authorities Yellow £10m 5 years 

Term deposits with banks and 
building societies 

Blue 

Orange 

Red 

Green 

£10m 

12 months  

12 months  

 6 months 

100 days 

Page 139



 

 
 

Counterparty 
 Minimum credit 
criteria / colour 
band 

£ limit per 
institution 

Max. maturity period 

No Colour Not for use 

CDs or corporate bonds  with 
banks and building societies 

Blue 

Orange 

Red 

Green 

No Colour 

£10m 

12 months  

12 months  

 6 months 

100 days 

Not for use 

Gilt funds  
UK sovereign 
rating  

£10m  

Non-Specified Investments    

Property Funds  - the use of 
these instruments can be 
deemed as capital expenditure 
and as such will be an 
application (spending) of capital 
resources 

 £10m 

Limit will be set based 
on level of reserves 
and balances going 
forward and 
appropriate due 
diligence will be 
undertaken before 
investment of this type 

Wider Investment Funds - the 
use of these instruments can be 
deemed as capital expenditure 
and as such will be an 
application (spending) of capital 
resources 

 £10m 

Limit will be set based 
on level of reserves 
and balances going 
forward and 
appropriate due 
diligence will be 
undertaken before 
investment of this type 

* DMO – is the Debt Management Office of HM Treasury 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may differ from the underlying 
cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To ensure that the 
Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we 
will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are undertaken. 

 

Page 140



 

 
 

ANNEX 5 APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENT 

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (showing the 
lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also (except - at the time of writing – for Hong 
Kong, Norway and Luxembourg) have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit 
ratings of green or above in the Link credit worthiness service. 

Based on lowest available rating 

AAA                      

 Australia 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands 

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Canada 

 Finland  

 U.S.A. 

 

AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 France  

 

AA- 

 Belgium 

 Hong Kong 

 Qatar 

 UK * 

 

 (Per Link 27/11/20)   

 

* At its meeting of the 15th September 2009, full Council approved a recommendation that; 

 

‘authorises the use of institutions currently supported by the UK Government should its 
Sovereign rating be downgraded below the current requirement for a ‘AAA’ rating by all 
three rating agencies’ 

 this approval continues to form part of the strategy in 2021/22. 

Page 141



 

 
 

ANNEX 6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 (i)  Full Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on Treasury Management policies, practices and activities. 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, Treasury Management 
Policy statement and Treasury Management practices. 

 budget consideration and approval. 

 approval of the division of responsibilities. 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations. 

 

(ii)  Cabinet 

 receiving and reviewing Treasury Management policy statement and Treasury Management 
practices and making recommendations to the full Council. 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making recommendations to the full 
Council. 

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of appointment. 

 

(iii)  Audit and Governance Committee 

 reviewing the Treasury Management policy and procedures and making recommendations 
to the Cabinet. 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet. 

 

Page 142



 

 
 

ANNEX 7 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER 

 

The S151 (responsible) Officer is responsible for 

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 
same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports 

 submitting budgets and budget variations 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers  

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long-term and 
provides value for money 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

 ensuring that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a 
level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its 
financial resources 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken 
on by an authority 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, to 
carry out the above 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury 
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following  - 

o Risk management (TMP1), including investment and risk management criteria for 
any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2), including methodology 
and criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury 
investments;          

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5), including a statement of 
the governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury 

Page 143



 

 
 

investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 
diligence is carried out to support decision making; 

o Reporting and management information (TMP6), including where and how often 
monitoring reports are taken; 

o Training and qualifications (TMP10), including how the relevant knowledge and 
skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.  

Page 144



 

 
 

  ANNEX 8 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES  

The Treasury Management Practices document (TMPs) forms detailed operational procedures and 
processes for the Treasury Management function. This document can be found on the Council’s 
Internet by following the following link; 

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices 

 and clicking on the TMPs folder. 

The items below are summaries of the individual TMPs which the Council has to produce and 
adopt under the Treasury Code of Practice. 

TMP1 : RISK MANAGEMENT 

General Statement 

The Section 151 Officer will design, implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 
management and control of Treasury Management risk; will report at least annually on the 
adequacy/suitability of the arrangements and will report, as a matter of urgency, the circumstances 
of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the Council’s objectives. The reports will be in 
accordance with the procedures contained in TMP6. 

1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 
obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership 
financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the resulting 
detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources. 

This organisation regards a key objective of its Treasury Management activities to be the 
security of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and 
limits reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with which funds may be deposited, and 
will limit its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in 
TMP4 Approved Instruments Methods and Techniques and detailed in the TMP Operational 
document. 

It also recognises the need to have, and will therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in 
respect of those organisations from which it may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other 
financing arrangements. 

1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 

This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management of 
liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s business/service 
objectives will be thereby compromised. 

 

Page 145

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/treasury-practices


 

 
 

This organisation will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, borrowing 
arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the level of funds 
available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service objectives. This 
organisation will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business case for doing so 
and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt maturities. 

1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management 

The risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden 
on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately. 

This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to containing 
its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts provided in its 
budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements. 

It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, 
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the 
same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially 
advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be subject to the 
consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary implications. 

1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted burden on 
the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect itself adequately. 

The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 

1,5 Inflation Rate Risk Management 

Inflation risk, also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that cash flows from an investment 
won’t be worth as much in the future because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation.  

The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and liabilities to 
inflation, and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context of the whole organisation’s 
inflation exposures. 

1.6 Refinancing Risk Management 

The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be refinanced on 
terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those refinancings, both capital and 
current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing market conditions at the 
time. 

The Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements are 
negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised is 
managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, which are 
competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved in the light of 
market conditions prevailing at the time. 

Page 146



 

 
 

 

It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid over reliance on any one source of funding if this 
might jeopardise achievement of the above. 

1.7 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its Treasury 
Management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements, 
and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 

The Council will ensure that all of its Treasury Management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to all 
parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is evidence of 
counterparties’ powers, and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect with the 
organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 

This organisation recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its 
Treasury Management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise 
the risk of these impacting adversely on the organisation. 

1.8 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be exposed to the 
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management 
dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain effective contingency 
management arrangements to these ends. It includes the area of risk commonly referred to as 
operational risk. 

This organisation will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the risk 
of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its Treasury Management dealings. 
Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain effective contingency 
management arrangements, to these ends. 

The Council will therefore:- 

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all times of an 
adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.   

b) Fully document all its Treasury Management activities so that there can be no possible 
confusion as to what proper procedures are.   

c) Ensure that staff will not be allowed to take up Treasury Management activities until they have 
had proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and appropriate level 
of supervision.   

Records will be maintained of all Treasury Management transactions so that there is a full audit trail 
and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. 

 

Page 147



 

 
 

1.9 Price Risk Management 

The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an organisation 
borrows and invests, its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives are compromised, 
against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately. 

The Council will seek to ensure that its stated Treasury Management policies and objectives will not 
be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, and 
will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 

TMP2 : PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

The Council is committed to the pursuit of best value in its Treasury Management activities, 
and to the use of performance methodology in support of that aim, within the framework set out 
in the Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

The Treasury Management function will be the subject of ongoing analysis of the value it adds 
in support of the Council’s stated service objectives. It will be the subject of regular 
examination of alternative methods of service delivery, of the availability of fiscal, grant or 
subsidy incentives, and the scope for other potential improvements.  The performance of the 
Treasury Management function will be measured using the criteria set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document. 

TMP3 : DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 

The Council will maintain full records of its Treasury Management decisions, and of the 
processes and practices applied in reaching those decisions, both for the purposes of learning 
from the past, and for demonstrating that reasonable steps were taken to ensure that all issues 
relevant to those decisions were taken into account at the time. The issues to be addressed 
and processes and practices to be pursued in reaching decisions are set out in the detailed 
TMP Operational document. 

TMP4 : APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

The Council will undertake its Treasury Management activities by employing only those 
instruments, methods and techniques set out in the detailed TMP Operational document and 
within the limits and parameters defined in TMP1. 

TMP5 : ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES, AND 
DEALING ARRANGEMENTS 

The Council considers it essential, for the purposes of the effective control and monitoring of 
its Treasury Management activities, for the reduction of risk of fraud or error, and for the 
pursuit of optimum performance, that these activities are structured and managed in a fully 
integrated manner, and that there is at all times clarity of Treasury Management 
responsibilities. 

The principle on which this will be based is the clear distinction between those charged with 
setting Treasury Management policies and those charged with implementing and controlling 
these policies, particularly with regard to the execution and transmission of funds, the 

Page 148



 

 
 

recording and administering of Treasury Management decisions and the audit and review of 
the Treasury Management function. 

If and when this organisation intends, as a result of lack of resources or other circumstances, 
to depart from these principles, the Section 151 Officer will ensure that the reasons are 
properly reported in accordance with TMP6 and the implications properly considered and 
evaluated. 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there are clear written statements of the 
responsibilities for each post engaged in Treasury Management, and the arrangements for 
absence cover. He will also ensure that at all times those engaged in Treasury Management 
will follow the policies and procedures set out. The present arrangements are set out in the 
detailed TMP Operational document. 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that there is proper documentation for all deals and 
transactions, and that procedures exist for the effective transmission of funds. The present 
arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document. 

The delegations to the Section 151 Officer in respect of Treasury Management are set out in 
the detailed TMP Operational document. He will fulfil all such responsibilities in accordance 
with the Council’s policy statement and TMPs and, if a CIPFA member, the Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

TMP6 : REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS 

The Council will ensure that regular reports are prepared and considered on the 
implementation of its Treasury Management policies; on the effects of decisions taken and 
transactions executed in pursuit of those policies; implications of changes, particularly 
budgetary, resulting from regulatory, economic, market or other factors affecting its Treasury 
Management activities; and on the performance of the Treasury Management function. 

As a minimum Cabinet and Council will receive: 

 An annual report on the planned strategy to be pursued in the coming year and the 
reporting of Prudential Indicators. 

 A mid-year review 

 An annual report on the performance of the Treasury Management function including the 
performance against the Prudential Indicators, the effects of the decisions taken and the 
transactions executed in the past year and on any circumstances of non-compliance with 
the Council’s Treasury Management policy statement and TMPs. 

Cabinet will receive regular monitoring reports on Treasury Management activities and risks. 

The Audit and Governance Committee will have responsibility for the scrutiny of Treasury 
Management policies and practices. 

 

Page 149



 

 
 

The Treasury Management indicators will be considered together with the Treasury 
Management indicators in the Prudential Code as part of the budget approval process. 

The present arrangements and the form of these reports are set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document. 

TMP7 : BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

The Section 151 Officer will prepare and Council will approve and, if necessary from time to 
time, will amend, an annual budget for Treasury Management, which will bring together all of 
the costs involved in running the Treasury Management function together with associated 
income.  The matters to be included will at minimum be those required by statute or regulation, 
together with such information as will demonstrate compliance with TMP1, TMP2 and TMP4. 

The Section 151 Officer will exercise effective controls over this budget and report upon and 
recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6. 

The Council will account for its Treasury Management activities, for decisions made and 
transactions executed in accordance with appropriate accounting practices and standards, and 
with statutory and regulatory requirements in force for the time being. 

TMP8 : CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT 

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of the 
Council will be under the control of the Section 151 Officer and will be aggregated for cash flow 
and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections will be prepared on a regular 
and timely basis and the Section 151 Officer will ensure that these are adequate for the 
purpose of monitoring compliance with TMP1. The present arrangements for preparing cash 
flow projections, and their form, are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document. 

TMP9 : MONEY LAUNDERING 

The Council is alert to the possibility that it may become the subject of an attempt to involve it 
in a transaction involving the laundering of money. The Council will, therefore, maintain 
procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties and reporting suspicions, 
and will ensure that all staff involved are properly trained. The present arrangements, including 
the name of the officer to whom reports should be made, are set out in the detailed TMP 
Operational document. 

TMP10 : TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 

The Council recognises the importance of ensuring that all staff involved in the Treasury 
Management function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated 
to them.  It will seek to appoint individuals, who are both capable and experienced and will 
provide training for staff to enable them to acquire and maintain an appropriate level of 
expertise, knowledge and skills. The Section 151 Officer will recommend and implement the 
necessary arrangements. 

 

Page 150



 

 
 

The Section 151 Officer will ensure that Council members tasked with Treasury Management 
responsibilities, including those responsible for scrutiny, have access to training relevant to 
their needs and those responsibilities. 

Those charged with governance recognise their individual responsibility to ensure that they 
have the necessary skills to complete their role effectively. 

TMP11 : USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 

The Council recognises that responsibility for the Treasury Management decisions remains 
with the Council at all times. It recognises that there may be potential value in employing 
external providers of Treasury Management services, in order to acquire access to specialist 
skills and resources. When it employs such service providers, it will ensure it does so for 
reasons which will have been submitted to a full evaluation of the costs and benefits. Terms of 
appointment will be properly agreed, documented and subject to regular review. It will ensure, 
where feasible and necessary, that a spread of service providers is used, to avoid over 
reliance on one or a small number of companies. Where services are subject to formal tender 
or re-tender arrangements, legislative requirements will always be observed. The monitoring of 
such arrangements rests with the Section 151 Officer, and details of the current arrangements 
are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document. 

TMP12 : CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Council is committed to the pursuit of proper corporate governance throughout its 
services, and to establishing the principles and practices by which this can be achieved.  
Accordingly the Treasury Management function and its activities will be undertaken with 
openness, transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability. 

The Council has adopted and implemented the key recommendations of the Code. This, 
together with the other arrangements are set out in the detailed TMP Operational document 
and are considered vital to the achievement of proper governance in Treasury Management, 
and the Section 151 Officer will monitor and, if and when necessary, report upon the 
effectiveness of these arrangements.  

TMP 13: MANAGEMENT PRACTICES FOR NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS 

This Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for 
financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment 
management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in 
subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios. 

The Council will ensure that all of its investments are covered in the capital strategy and/or 
investment strategy, and will set out, where relevant, the Council’s risk appetite and specific 
policies and arrangements for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk 
appetite for these activities may differ from that for treasury management. 

The Council maintains a schedule setting out a summary of existing material investments, 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and the Council’s risk 
exposure. 

The following TMPs will apply with regard to non-treasury management investments:- 

Page 151



 

 
 

TMP1 - Risk management - including investment and risk management criteria for material 
non-treasury investment portfolios 

TMP2 - Performance measurement and management - including methodology and criteria 
for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury investments   

TMP5 - Decision making and analysis - including a statement of the governance 
requirements for decision-making in relation to non-treasury investments, and arrangements to 
ensure that appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision making 

TMP6 - Reporting and management information - including where and how often monitoring 
reports are taken     

TMP10 - Training and qualifications - including how the relevant knowledge and skills in 
relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

 

 

Page 152



 

 
 

ANNEX 9 

Treasury Management Glossary of Terms 

 

Bank Rate  The Official Bank rate paid on commercial bank 
reserves i.e. reserves placed by commercial banks 
with the Bank of England as part of the Bank’s 
operations to reduce volatility in short term interest 
rates in the money markets.  

Base Rate  Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution 
in the UK.  

Capital Financing Requirement The Council’s underlying need for borrowing for a 
capital purpose. 

Counterparty  The organisations responsible for repaying the 
Council’s investment upon maturity and for making 
interest payments.  

Credit Default Swap (CDS) A specific kind of counterparty agreement which 
allows the transfer of third party credit risk from one 
party to the other. One party in the swap is a lender 
and faces credit risk from a third party, and the 
counterparty in the credit default swap agrees to 
insure this risk in exchange for regular periodic 
payments (essentially an insurance premium). If the 
third party defaults, the party providing insurance will 
have to purchase from the insured party the defaulted 
asset. In turn, the insurer pays the insured the 
remaining interest on the debt, as well as the principal. 

Credit Rating  This is a scoring system that lenders issue 
organisations with, to determine how credit worthy 
they are.  

Gilts  These are issued by the UK Government in order to 
finance public expenditure. Gilts are generally issued 
for a set period and pay a fixed rate of interest for the 
period.  

iTraxx This is an index published by Markit who are a leading 
company in CDS pricing and valuation. The index is 
based on an equal weighting of the CDS spread of 25 

Page 153



 

 
 

European financial companies.  

Clients can use the iTraxx to see where an institution’s 
CDS spread is relative to that of the market and judge 
its creditworthiness in that manner, as well as looking 
at the credit ratings. 

Liquidity An asset is perfectly liquid if one can trade 
immediately, at a price not worse than the uninformed 
expected value, the quantity one desires. 

Long term  A period of one year or more.  

Maturity  The date when an investment is repaid or the period 
covered by a fixed term investment.  

Minimum Revenue Provision Capital expenditure is generally expenditure on assets 
which have a life expectancy of more than one year 
e.g. buildings, vehicles, machinery etc. It would be 
impractical to charge the entirety of such expenditure 
to revenue in the year in which it was incurred 
therefore such expenditure is spread over several 
years in order to try to match the years over which 
such assets benefit the local community through their 
useful life. The manner of spreading these costs is 
through an annual Minimum Revenue Provision. 

Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)  Interest rates are set by the Bank’s Monetary Policy 
Committee. The MPC sets an interest rate it judges 
will enable the inflation target to be met. Their primary 
target (as set by the Government) is to keep inflation 
at or around 2%. 

Security An investment instrument, issued by a corporation, 
government, or other organization which offers 
evidence of debt or equity. 

Short Term A period of 364 days or less 

Supranational Bonds A supranational entity is formed by two or more 
central governments with the purpose of promoting 
economic development for the member countries. 
Supranational institutions finance their activities by 
issuing debt, such as supranational bonds. 
Examples of supranational institutions include the 

Page 154



 

 
 

European Investment Bank and the World Bank. 

Similar to government bonds, the bonds issued by 
these institutions are considered very safe and 
have a high credit rating. 

Treasury Management The management of the local authority’s investments 
and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital 
market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

Working Capital Cash and other liquid assets needed to finance the 
everyday running of a business such as the payment 
of salaries and purchases. 

Yield The annual rate of return on an investment, expressed 
as a percentage. 

 

 

Page 155



 

 
 

ANNEX 10 

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS – DEFINITIONS / INTERPRETATION 

CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance requires local authorities to prepare Prudential 
Indicators of their intended capital spending plans for the forthcoming and future years. The 
indicators are intended to help the decision making process within an authority and must be 
approved by the full Council before the beginning of the financial year. The indicators are 
neither comparative statistics nor performance indicators. Different Councils will have different 
figures reflecting their history and local circumstances. 

1. Estimate of total capital expenditure to be incurred – This summarises the Council’s 
current plans for the total capital expenditure over the next 3 years. Details of individual 
schemes are contained within the capital estimate pages. 

2. Estimates of Capital Financing Summary – This details the capital financing sources for 
the next 3 years. 

3. Estimated Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream - This indicator has been 
calculated as debt interest, borrowing refinancing costs, minimum revenue provision, 
depreciation for HRA, net of investment income and divided by the General Fund (GF) budget 
requirement for the GF element of costs and the total of HRA income for the HRA costs. For 
GF Account, the indicator has been calculated gross of government support in the form of 
RSG for the proportion of capital expenditure funded from supported level of borrowing. 

4. Capital Financing Requirement – This represents the Council’s underlying need to borrow 
to finance historic capital expenditure and is derived by aggregating specified items from the 
Council’s balance sheet. The actual net borrowing is lower than this because of the current 
strategy to use internal borrowing rather than replace maturing debt. 

5. Actual External Debt –This is a key indicator and Section 3 of the Local Government Act 
2003 requires the Council to ensure that gross external debt does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of  the Capital Financing Requirement in the preceding year plus estimates of 
any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. 

6. Authorised Borrowing Limit for external debt - This indicator represents the maximum 
amount the Council may borrow at any point in time in the year and has to be set at a level the 
Council considers is prudent. It allows for uncertain cash flow movements and borrowing in 
advance for future requirements. The Council does not currently have any finance lease 
liabilities.  

The recommended authorised limits for external debt are gross of investments and are 
consistent with the Council’s current commitments, existing plans and the current treasury 
management policy and strategy. The authorised limit determined for 2021-22 is the statutory 
limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 

7. Operational Boundary for external debt - The proposed operational boundary for external 
debt is calculated on the same estimates as the authorised limit but reflects estimates of the 
most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario, without the additional headroom included 
within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, and equates to 

Page 156



 

 
 

the maximum of external debt projected by this estimate. Within the operational boundary, 
figures for borrowing and other long term liabilities are separately identified. 

8. Treasury Management – these indicators form part of the treasury management strategy 
and policy statement approved by the Council each year before the beginning of the financial 
year. The main indicators are: 

(a) The adoption of CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management, which the Council 
adopted before the current Prudential System was introduced. 

(b) Interest Rate Exposure - The approved Treasury Policy Statement and Strategy contains 
upper and lower limits for fixed and variable interest rate exposure for net outstanding principal 
sums. 

(c) Maturity Structure of Borrowing – The approved treasury management strategy also sets 
out the maturity structure of the Council’s borrowing to ensure the Council is not exposed to 
risks of having to refinance large level of debt at a time in future when interest rates may be 
volatile or uncertain. 

(d) Investments longer than 365 days – The approved treasury management strategy 
includes a limit of £20m for investments maturing beyond 365 days. 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX O 
 

CORPORATE CAPITAL STRATEGY 
 

PURPOSE 
 
This strategy sets out the Council’s approach to capital investment and the approach 
that will be followed in making decisions in respect of the Council’s Capital assets. 
 
Capital investment is an important ingredient in ensuring the Council’s vision is 
achieved and given that capital resources are limited it is critical that the Council 
makes best use of these resources. 
 
The Strategy sets the policy framework for the development, management and 
monitoring of this investment and forms a key component of the Council’s planning 
alongside the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 
It sets out the strategic influences on the Council’s capital investment plan and how 

the Council is going to work with these influences to bring about the best advantage 
to meet local needs – including working with Partners: 
 

 the Local Enterprise Partnerships (Greater Birmingham and Solihull and 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent) of which the council is a Member;  

 the West Midlands Combined Authority as a Non-Constituent member; 

 Staffordshire Commissioner for Police, Fire and Rescue and Crime; 
 

with the aim to drive economic regeneration, deliver local plan objectives and access 
inward investment to support the delivery of local capital priorities.    
 
The Council plans to update its approach to Asset Management and long term asset 
planning to improve the way strategic property objectives can be delivered. This will 
enable the development of a longer term plan for the management and maintenance 
of its assets, whilst identifying the funding ambition gap to maximise inward 
investment opportunities for funding from Partners.  
 
It also demonstrates that the Council has regard to the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance by giving a clear and concise view of how much it can afford to borrow and 
its risk appetite. It is intended to give a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and 
the implications for future financial sustainability. 
 
Summary Capital Investment Plan 
 
  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

Capital Programme  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

General Fund 15,211 10,825 2,923 921 852 30,732 

HRA 9,461 6,129 5,699 5,529 6,925 33,742 

 

Page 159



The General Fund capital programme will require unsupported borrowing of £1.7m 
over the next 5 years subject to the exploration and availability of alternative funding.  
Key Schemes include: 

 Disabled Facilities Grants, £650k p.a. (including £481k p.a. BCF grant); 

 Replacement Castle Grounds Play Area 2021/22, £375k; 

 Refurbishment of the Castle Grounds tennis courts 2021/22, £120k (Section 
106 funded); 

 Energy Efficiency Upgrades-Commercial and Industrial Units, £75k p.a. 

 Street lighting £404k;  

 Technology upgrades, £277k;  

 Major repairs to the Castle, £150k; 

 CCTV, £229k;  

 Off street parking infrastructure, £50k. 
 
In addition, during December 2020, the Government confirmed that the Council has 
been awarded £21.65m, from the Government’s £1bn Future High Streets Fund to 
renew and reshape town centres, to deliver a number of projects designed to create 
a town centre that meets the needs of 21st century residents, shoppers and visitors. 
 
The HRA capital programme can be fully funded through projected capital resources.  
Key HRA Schemes: 

 HRA Business plan works to dwellings, £19.7m;  

 Neighbourhoods £2.5m; 

 Disabled Facilities Adaptations £1.4m; 

 Energy Efficiency works £0.35m; 

 Street lighting £0.6m; 

 High Rise works £1.9m;  

 Retained Garage Sites, £1.5m; 

 Regeneration & Affordable Housing, £4.25m; 

 Sheltered schemes, £0.6m. 
 
Impact on Medium Term Financial Plan 
 
The General Fund capital programme will require unsupported borrowing of £1.7m 
over the next 5 years which will be funded through internal borrowing (with an 
associated loss of investment interest) and will require provision for debt repayment. 
The HRA capital programme will be funded though capital receipts and annual 
revenue contributions of c.£7m. 
 
Summary of Risk Assessment 
 
Risks specific to the capital programme and the capital strategy are managed in 
accordance with the Council’s Risk Management Policy and are recorded and 
monitored through the Pentana Performance Management system. Risks are 
monitored on an ongoing basis as part of routine risk management practices and  
are reviewed and updated where appropriate  as part of the refresh of the Capital 
Strategy. Risks specific to the capital strategy are included in a table at Annex C. 
They align with other corporate risk registers and are informed by project/ 

Page 160



programme level risks to ensure risks are monitored and managed from operational 
through to strategic level.  
The Capital Strategy 
 
The Capital Strategy is a ‘live’ and dynamic document, which will update and evolve 
as strategic influences and priorities change. The Corporate Capital Strategy will be 
reviewed annually and an update presented to Council in February each year as part 
of the MTFS report. However should a significant situation arise, whether it be a 
policy matter, an investment opportunity or a new risk for example, an update to the 
Capital Strategy will be presented to Members as part of the quarterly performance 
report. 
 
The Capital Strategy will: 
 

 Reflect Members’ priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan including the 
approach to the allocation of its capital resources and how this links to its 
priorities at a corporate and service level; 

 Balance the need to maintain the Council’s existing asset base against its 
future ambition and associated long term asset needs, and consolidate assets 
where appropriate; 

 Recognise that growth is the strategic driver for financial self-sufficiency; 

 Be affordable in the context of the Council’s MTFS; 

 Seek to ensure value for money through achieving a return on investment or 
by supporting service efficiency and effectiveness; 

 Be flexible to respond to evolving service delivery needs; 

 Seek to maximise investment levels through the leveraging of external 
investment through working with regional/County partners; 

 Recognise the value of assets for delivering long-term growth as opposed to 
being sold to finance capital expenditure; 

 Recognise the financial benefits and risks from growth generated through 
investment to support investment decisions; and 

 Reflect the service delivery costs associated with growth when assessing the 
level of resources available for prudential borrowing. 

 
The capital strategy informs the strategic direction of capital investment through 
consideration of strategic priorities and objectives. It feeds into the annual revenue 
budget and MTFS by informing the revenue implications of capital funding decisions. 
The implications for the MTFS are fully considered before any capital funding 
decisions are confirmed. 
 
The Strategy is supported by the leadership of the Council, including the Chief 
Executive and the Leader of the Council. The recently updated CIPFA Prudential 
Code now requires that ‘the chief finance officer should report explicitly on the 
affordability and risk associated with the capital strategy and where appropriate have 
access to specialised advice to enable them to reach their conclusions.’  The 
statement below is the response of the Executive Director Finance:-  
 

Page 161



Affordability and risk are key considerations within this capital strategy. The key 
principles articulated are that the strategy must support the financial viability of the 
Council, and that payback should be a key consideration of the strategy.  
 
The capital investments detailed within the strategy provide for a number of 
regeneration opportunities. Robust risk management is also a requirement of our 
strategy. Business cases for new schemes are required to ensure that risks are 
adequately considered. The most significant risks are currently capacity to deliver 
individual projects, and adequately identifying resources required at the 
commencement of projects.  
 
Over the next five years the strategy is expected to see c.£60m of capital 
expenditure (both General Fund and HRA). The HRA capital programme is a key 
element of the 30 year HRA Business Plan. Within this financial context and 
considering the Council’s balance sheet and asset base, and its track record in 
acquiring, managing and disposing of assets where required to support its 
objectives, the capital strategy as a whole is proportionate to the Council’s overall 
activities and financial position. 
 
Specialised external advice is obtained where required with regard to specific 
schemes, for example to support commercial acquisitions or in considering the 
financial implications of major schemes included within the strategy. The Council 
also utilises our treasury management advisors, Link Asset Services, to consider the 
implications of the Prudential Code and the impact on the treasury management 
strategy. 
 
The strategy articulates a wide range of new and existing activities. This includes 
regeneration ambitions, new infrastructure and significant investment in Housing as 
well as smaller schemes. The strategy also leaves space for consideration of new 
income streams that fit with our ambitions as a Council and support areas in which 
we already have skills and knowledge. 
 
Background 
 

The Council has an ongoing capital programme of over £40m for 2020/21 and an 
asset base valued at £250m (as at 31st March 2020). 
 
Traditionally the Council’s capital programme has been set and approved for a five 
year period, with a 30 year HRA business plan setting out future plans for the 
Council’s housing stock.   In order to improve longer term strategic planning, so that 
the Council can better prioritise spending and align with local, regional and national 
priorities, it is recognised that the current capital programme needs to have a longer-
term focus for the purposes of the capital strategy, ideally looking to a 20-30 year 
timeframe.  
 
As a result, the following 2019/20 action plan item was implemented through the 
development of a 30 year whole life costing model:- 
 
The process for the consideration of capital expenditure within the MTFS 
process has been reviewed and refined to ensure that there are provisional 

Page 162



plans for expenditure out to a 10 year timeframe, with an indication of 
requirements out to 20-30 years. 
 
A number of actions/improvements have been identified throughout this capital 
strategy, and they are summarised in an action plan, with target completion dates 
and responsible officers, at Annex B. 
 
Influences 
 

The following diagram illustrates some of the main internal and external influences 
on the Council’s capital strategy, including our partners. Consideration of these plans 
and strategies in the context of our own capital ambitions is important because it 
may provide new opportunities for investment or funding. 

 
The Council’s corporate priorities are an integral influence in informing the Capital 
Strategy and set the scene for how capital projects and individual proposals are 
assessed.  
 

 
TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL: VISION 

 
To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of everything 

we do 
 

 
OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

FOR 2019-2022 
 

People and Place 
 
1. To meet housing needs through a 

variety of approaches and 

 

Organisation 
 
1. To be financially stable 
2. To ensure our employees have the 

External 

Partnership 

Internal 

• West Midlands Combined Authority 
pland and strategies 

• Greater Birmingham & Solihull LEP 
Strategic Economic Plan 

• Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire 
LEP Strategic Economic Plan 

•  Private sector 

•  Tamworth Strategic Partnership 

•  Community bodies 

•  Third sector 

• Corporate Vision and Priorities 

• Local Plan 2006-31  

• Asset Management Strategy 2015 

• Housing / economic / regeneratoin 
strategies  

Page 163



interventions 
2. To facilitate sustainable growth and 

economic prosperity 
3. To work collaboratively and flexibly 

to meet the needs of our 
communities 

4. To create a new and developing 
vision for the continued evolution of 
Tamworth, including a Town Centre 
fit for the 21st century 

 

right skills and culture to help our 
residents, visitors and businesses 
 

3. To ensure our service delivery is 
consistent, clear, and focused 

4. To ensure our decisions are driven 
by evidence and knowledge 

 

 
The Council is committed to working with its public, peers and partners in order to: 
 
a) Sustain essential services at agreed standards for those in greatest need; 
 
b) Deliver a programme of projects, planned initiatives and work streams 

designed to achieve outcomes against the Corporate Priorities; 
 
c) Adopt a commercial approach to growth and investment designed to generate 

a sustainable income to support a) and b); and 
 
d) Continue its excellent performance in financial planning, management and 

investment.  By being ‘Risk Aware’ rather than ‘Risk Averse’, the Council will 
consider all opportunities to improve and/or sustain services. 

 
The Capital Appraisal Process 
 
The capital appraisal process is important as it helps to prioritise schemes in order to 
target spending in a challenging funding climate, and to ensure that the Council is 
spending on projects which help to deliver its strategic priorities. 
 
As part of the Council’s business planning process, managers and Assistant 
Directors are required to consider the capital resources needed to deliver their 
services now and into the future (5 year timeframe). The asset management plan 
and HRA business plan also inform the capital strategy.  
 
All capital bids should be prepared in light of the following list of criteria, and the 
proposed investment should address and be assessed with regard to: 
 

 the contribution its delivery makes towards the achievement of the Council’s 
Corporate Priorities; 
 

 the achievement of Government priorities and grant or other funding availability; 
 

 the benefits in terms of compliance with the Corporate Capital Strategy 
requirements of: 
 

1. Invest to save 
2. Maintenance of services and assets 

Page 164



3. Protection of income streams 
4. Avoidance of cost. 

 
The current de-minimis for capital expenditure is £10k per capital scheme. 
 
It is important that capital investment decisions are not made in isolation and instead 
are considered in the round through the annual budget setting process.  
 
All proposed schemes requiring capital investment should have as a minimum the 
following information:  
 

 A description of the scheme;  

 The expected outputs, outcomes and contribution to corporate objectives;  

 The estimated financial implications, both capital and revenue;  

 Any impacts on efficiency and value for money;  

 The nature and outcome of consultation with stakeholders and customers (as 
applicable);  

 Risk assessment implications and potential mitigations; and  

 Any urgency considerations (e.g. statutory requirements or health and safety 
issues). 

 
Corporate Management Team and Service Managers identify the potential need for 
capital investment, in light of external influences, internal strategies and plans, 
service delivery plans and, in particular, the Asset Management plan. This is seen as 
a core influence on the Capital Strategy, and informs the priorities and schemes 
considered as it  takes account of issues such as the  condition of council owned 
assets and future maintenance requirements. Other key considerations are health 
and safety requirements, statutory obligations of the council, operational 
considerations and emerging opportunities for investment including possible sources 
of external financing.  
 
The Asset Strategy Steering Group (ASSG) review capital bids prior to consideration 
by Members. Once capital bids have been prioritised, Executive Management Team 
will review the outcome of the deliberations of the ASSG and will make 
recommendations to Cabinet through an updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) report on a proposed budget package which will include capital budget 
proposals. The MTFS report (including capital budget proposals) will ultimately be 
considered by Budget Setting Council each year.  
 
It was recognised last year that further action is required to fully embed the capital 
appraisal process, including proper consideration of options and risk, into the capital 
strategy and planning processes at Tamworth, and ensure that this is not just a ‘tick-
box’ exercise. Therefore the following action plan task has been implemented:- 
 

1) Consideration of service units’ capital requirements now form part of 
the business planning process and a template has been drawn up to 
ensure this is properly considered and captured on Pentana, the 
performance management system; 

 

Page 165



2) The capital appraisal process and associated documentation has been 
reviewed and updated to ensure proper consideration given to whole life 
costs of scheme. Further work is needed during 2021/22 to further 
improve the consideration of alternative options; risk management, etc, 
and to address the concerns outlined on completion of the CIPFA 
Property Capital Strategy Self-Assessment Checklist. 

 
Monitoring of Approved Capital Schemes  
 
Each capital scheme has a budget holder/project manager who is responsible for 
ensuring progress against scheme in line with agreed timescales and for ensuring 
adherence to the approved budget. The Collaborative Planning (CP) system is used 
to monitor spend against budget and to inform the projected outturn position. The 
budget holder/project manager will hold monthly meetings with his/her Accountant to 
update budget monitoring information on the system and provide a brief commentary 
as to the progress of each project. Projected capital slippage and potential re-
profiling of associated budgets is also reported. The monitoring of progress on 
individual schemes is reported to Corporate Management Team on a monthly basis 
and to Cabinet quarterly as part of Financial and Performance Healthcheck reports.  
 
An annual Capital Outturn report is prepared for Cabinet in June each year which 
details the final outturn for the year, the latest project update from the Service 
Manager and any proposals to re-profile spend to future financial years for Cabinet 
approval. 
 
A post implementation review is not appropriate or necessary for all capital projects. 
They should be prepared where learning is identified which could assist future 
projects or where there is a significant financial or political impact. Directors should 
encourage the collation of data during the project and identify any lessons learned 
which will assist in improving the process in the future. 
 
As part of the approved Strategy for 2019/20, the following action plan tasks 
have been implemented: 
 

a) A post implementation review is completed for each scheme where 
learning is identified which could assist future projects or where there is 
a significant financial or political impact; 
 

b) The Asset Strategy Steering Group now meet on a Quarterly basis to: 
i. scrutinise the completed post implementation reports; 

ii. review the management and monitoring of the capital programme; 
with appropriate feedback and challenge – identifying improvements to 
improve the future management of the capital programme. 

 
The full capital appraisal and monitoring process and guidance for managers can be 
found on the intranet at this link:- 
 

http://infozone.tamworth.gov.uk:901/financial-guidance 
 

A review of the guidance to reflect changes implemented is planned for 
2021/22. 

Page 166

http://infozone.tamworth.gov.uk:901/financial-guidance


 
  

Page 167



Review of Asset Management Plan  
 
The Council’s Asset Management Plan will be reviewed on an ongoing basis. This 
will identify any assets held by the Council that are no longer either required or fit for 
purpose and appropriate recommendations made regarding retention for alternative 
use or disposal.  
 
The Corporate Asset Management Strategy was last updated in 2015 relating to the 
following assets: 
 

Asset Description Value 
(31/03/15) 

Investment Properties £14,588,052 

Land and Buildings £6,537,500 

Total £21,125,552 

 
It details an estimated 10 year maintenance cost for each asset (totalling c.£8m) 
based on the inspections that had been undertaken.  
 

Asset Type Estimated 
Backlog Costs 
(10 years) 

Non-Operational – Commercial £3.288m 

Non-Operational – Retail £1.861m 

Operational Properties – Direct £0.482m 

Operational Properties – Indirect £1.052m 

Non-Operational – Community spaces £0.194m 

Non-Operational – Cemetery Land £0.179m 

Operational Properties – Office & Admin. £1.038m 

Other Properties £0.333m 

Total £8.427m 

 
It has been identified that the Council, through this strategy and through the 
development of a long term strategic plan, needs to take a longer-term view of the 
assets required to deliver its Corporate Plan priorities and to support its Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), including spend required (and associated potential 
funding streams) to address the identified maintenance and repairs backlog for 
corporate assets. This could include the option to invest in or dispose of current 
asset holdings or make further acquisitions. 
 
It was recognised that significant further work is required in this area in order to 
deliver a robust capital strategy, and the following action is to be finalised by March 
2021:- 
 

The Asset Management Plan is to be reviewed and updated, with an up 
to date stock condition survey. This should set out the detailed capital 
resources/expenditure required to maintain assets, together with the 
associated timeframe, to inform options appraisal and feed into the 
capital strategy for ASSG/CMT review of potential schemes. 

Page 168



 
HRA BUSINESS PLAN 
 
The Local Plan to 2031 has a target of 177 units of new housing, of which only 40 
units per year are likely to be delivered by private developers. This represents only 
21% of the total required number of new affordable homes – leaving 79% of need 
unmet. 
 
The HRA Business Plan has the potential to address some of this unmet need. 
However the extent to which it can make up a shortfall depends on the resources 
available within the HRA.  
 
As at April 2018, the Council’s stock comprised 4,269 homes, 390 leasehold 
properties and 1,454 garages. Of the 4,269 homes, 2,391 (56%) are houses, 1,278 
(30%) flats or maisonettes, 235 (5.5%) are bungalows. A further 365 properties 
(8.5%) are sheltered accommodation located in 10 separate schemes and 
comprising a mixture of flats and bungalows. 1029 properties (24%) are of non-
traditional construction. The construction type, location and mix of properties in 
Tamworth have implications for the Investment Programme and Business Plan. 
 
We know that resources within the Business Plan are unlikely to allow the Council to 
achieve all that it wants to do. However, over the course of the next thirty years 
opportunities may arise and there may be scope to progress these if the Business 
Plan has capacity at the time. 
 
Three areas in particular will continue to be actively considered as priorities if 
additional resources become available:  
  

 New affordable housing 

 Regeneration of additional estates 

 Investment in early help and preventative based strategies 
 
Where savings are achieved when delivering existing Business Plan commitments, 
these may be used on the priority areas above. 
 

 

  

Page 169



DEBT AND BORROWING AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
Details of the Council’s borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement – CFR), 
current and forecast debt, and other prudential indicators, as required by the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance, will be set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement, Treasury Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2021/22. 
 
Capital Funding Streams 
 
Decisions on capital investment should be made in the context of limited resources. 
The capital programme is currently reliant on funding from capital receipts and third 
party contributions/external grants. Other potential funding opportunities for future 
consideration include external borrowing and direct revenue funding (from other 
sources such as revenue contribution).  
 
External Grants – external grant allocations are received from central government, 
for example Disabled Facilities Grant, and also other organisations such as the 
Heritage Lottery Fund (currently part-funding the Assembly Rooms project). 
 
Section 106 and External Contributions – S106 contributions from developers can 
support Leisure and open space programmes in the Borough. 
 
Capital Receipts – the Council is able to generate capital receipts through the sale 
of surplus assets such as land and buildings and has recently benefitted from £24m 
as a result of the sale of the Golf Course at Amington, which is earmarked for 
investment under the Council’s Commercial Strategy. The potential for future sales 
will be determined as part of the Council’s Asset Management Strategy, to be 
refreshed as per the action plan detailed previously. Any further capital receipts 
generated will be reinvested in the capital programme. 
 
Reserves – the Council has a level of reserves which are earmarked to be used to 
support delivery of the Corporate Plan or Invest to Save projects. 
 
Revenue Funding – the Council can use revenue resources to fund capital projects 
by making a ‘revenue contribution to capital,’ however continuing revenue budgetary 
constraints mean this option is limited. 
 
Prudential Borrowing – the introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004 allows 
Councils to undertake unsupported borrowing which is subject to the requirements of 
the Prudential Code for Capital Expenditure. The Council must ensure that 
unsupported borrowing is affordable, prudent and cost effective. This type of 
borrowing has revenue implications for the Council in the form of financing costs.   
 
  

Page 170



APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Council is committed to the culture of Risk Management ensuring that its 
reputation is not tarnished by an unforeseen event nor is it financially or operationally 
affected by the occurrence. The risks considered in the capital strategy are 
considered with reference to the corporate risk management policy and practices. 
The Risk Management Strategy and further information can be accessed at the 
following link:- 
 
http://infozone.tamworth.gov.uk:901/risk-management 
 
Risk Appetite 
 
The risk appetite is “the amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to accept, 
tolerate, or be exposed to at any point in time” (CIPFA). The Council will manage the 
risks by reducing, preventing, transferring, eliminating or accepting the risk. 
 
Whilst the Council acknowledges that it will have “severe” (red) risks from time to 
time, it will endeavour to reduce those to an acceptable level either through controls 
or ceasing the activity (if applicable). Sometimes risks are identified and even though 
managed, may still remain “severe” (red risk). 
 
Risk Management Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The importance of establishing roles and responsibilities within the risk management 
framework is pivotal to successful delivery. Considering risks must be embedded into 
corporate policy approval and operational service delivery. 
 
The agreed roles and responsibilities within the risk management framework are 
outlined in the table below: 
 

Group /Individual Role 

Corporate 
Management 
Team 

 Provide leadership for the process to manage risks 
effectively. 

 Review and revise the Risk Management Policy and 
Strategy in accordance with the review period. 

 Monitor and review the Corporate Risk Register on a 
quarterly basis including the identification of trends, 
upcoming events and potential new corporate risks. 

Audit & 
Governance 
Committee 

 Monitor the effectiveness of the Authority’s risk 
management arrangements, including the actions taken to 
manage risks and to receive regular reports on risk 
management. 

 To monitor the actions being taken to mitigate the impact 
of potentially serious risks 
 

Cabinet  To provide strategic direction with regard to risk 
management. 
 

Page 171

http://infozone.tamworth.gov.uk:901/risk-management


Group /Individual Role 

Directors / Assistant 
Directors 

 To provide leadership for the process of managing risks. 

 To ensure that risk management methodology is applied to 
all service plans, projects, partnerships and proposals. 

 To identify and manage business /operational risks. 

 To ensure that the management of risk is monitored as 
part of the performance management process. 

Directors / Assistant 
Directors 

 To ensure that all risks are identified, recorded and 
effectively managed in their area or responsibility. 

 To review and update their risk register on at least an 
annual basis but appropriate to the risk. 

 To determine the method of controlling the risk. 

 To delegate responsibility if appropriate for the control of 
the risk.  

 To notify the Director of new risks identified for 
consideration for inclusion on the corporate risk register. 

All staff  To ensure that risk is effectively managed in their areas. 

 To ensure that they notify their managers of new and 
emerging risks. 

Assistant Director – 
Finance 

 To ensure that the risk management strategy is regularly 
reviewed and updated. 

 Promote and support the risk management process 
throughout the Authority. 

 Advise and assist managers in the identification of risks. 

 
The Audit & Governance Committee will regularly review the Risk Management 
Policy and Strategy to ensure their continued relevance to the Borough. They will 
also assess performance against the aims and objectives. 
 
Specific capital risks are contained within a register at Annex C to the Capital 
Strategy, alongside mitigating actions.  
 
COMMERCIAL ACTIVITY 
 
The Council’s Commercial Investment Strategy set out a number of alternative 
investment options to generate improved returns of c. 4 to 5% p.a. (plus asset 
growth) including: 
 

o Set up of trading company to develop new income streams; 
o Local investment options – Lower Gungate development including the 

potential to drawdown funding from the Local Growth Fund/ Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (GBS and Staffordshire);  

o Investments in Diversified Property Funds – a savings target to return c.4% 
p.a. from £12m invested has already been included from 2019/20. 

 
Note: these would represent long term investments of between 5 – 10 years 
(minimum) in order to make the necessary returns (after set up costs). 
 
 

Page 172



CIPFA defines commercial investments as those which are taken for mainly financial 
reasons. These may include investments arising as part of business structures, such 
as loans in subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures; or investments explicitly 
taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for the organisation. Commercial 
investments also include non-financial assets which are held primarily for financial 
benefit, such as investment properties.  

 
The Code requires that such investments are proportional to the level of resources 
available, and that the same robust procedures for the consideration of risk and 
return are applied to investment decisions. All such investments are therefore 
included within the capital strategy/investment strategy, setting out the risk appetite 
and including specific policies and arrangements for such investments, and details of 
existing material investments and risk exposure. 
 
Investment in Property Funds 
 
As part of the Capital Programme, the Council has since 2018/19 begun to invest in 
Commercial Property Funds to establish a portfolio which is managed to generate a 
revenue return to the Council to support financial sustainability and to protect the 
provision of services to residents, along with maintaining and growing the capital 
value of the investment.  A capital scheme of £12m was included within the 2018/19 
capital programme to generate a target net additional income of c. £300k per annum, 
financed from part of the capital receipt from the sale of the former Golf Course.  
 
A Property Fund Manager selection exercise was undertaken following the  
appointment of Link Asset Services to provide support and advice in the identification 
and selection of suitable UK-focussed property funds.  

 
At the outset, the Council was looking to engage with funds that had a broad remit of 
exposures to different property types, rather than being focussed on one particular 
area, such as shopping centres. Link Asset Services looked to the “Balanced Fund” 
universe of UK property funds, as outlined in the AREF/IPD UK Quarterly Property 
Fund Index, for the starting point for selection. This universe is the industry accepted 
standard for balanced property funds and included 27 funds as at the close of 
September 2017.  

 
From this initial list, a number of funds were removed in instances where the Council 
would not be able to invest, for example those that are solely for pension funds and 
others where investor types are limited, excluding Local Authorities. The Council also 
looked to exclude funds below a minimum size threshold of £750m.  This left 10 
funds from which to further shortlist, and each was sent a copy of a questionnaire to 
complete, which had been drawn up in conjunction with Link Asset Services and 
focussed on a number of key areas. Following consideration of the completed 
questionnaires, a shortlist of 6 funds was drawn up, and the Fund Managers were 
invited to attend the Council’s offices and give a presentation on their fund and 
answer questions from the selection panel, which consisted of Council officers and 
Link Asset Services. Further details of the selection process were included in Link 
Asset Services’ report presented to Members on 21st February 2018. 

 
 

Page 173



The result of the process was to look to consider splitting investment across the 
following six funds:- 
 
BlackRock UK Property Fund  
Hermes Property Unit Trust  
Lothbury Property Trust  
Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  
The Local Authorities Property Fund (CCLA)  
Threadneedle Property Unit Trust  
 
This will provide the Council with a range of approaches to property fund investment, 
diversification across a number of funds, rather than a concentration in only one or 
two options, as well as the ability to take advantage of entering a number of funds 
via the secondary market, whereby the Council would be purchasing units from 
investors looking to exit the particular fund, and may potentially gain access to a fund 
at a lower level of cost than via the primary route. 
 
The Council is able to invest in property funds under legislation contained within the 
Local Government Act 2003. 
 
Members endorsed the above approach and approved investment in the above 
property funds, making use of both primary and secondary markets as appropriate, 
at full Council on 27th February 2018.   
 
Investments in property funds as at September 2020 are as follows:- 
 
Schroders UK Real Estate Fund - £1.85m, with an estimated return/yield of 3.2% 
 
Threadneedle Property Unit Trust - £2.0m, with an estimated return/yield of 4.7% 
 
Total investments - £3.85m, with an estimated return of c.4% plus any capital 
growth. 
 

 
 
Performance information is received from each fund on a monthly/quarterly basis 
and a monitoring spreadsheet has been established to track income received and 
growth in the funds. Income generated is reported to CMT monthly and to Members 
quarterly as part of regular financial healthcheck reports, as well as in the regular 
Treasury Management reports presented to Cabinet and Council (three each year). 
Performance management/monitoring is also undertaken with reference to the 
financial press and Link Asset Services advice.  

Fund
Settlement 

Date

Standard 

Entry Cost

Actual Entry 

Cost/Saving

Net 

consideration
Fees Total Cost

Estimated 

Return p.a.

£ % £ £ £ %

Schroders UK Real Estate Fund 08-May-18 1,880,516 -1.60% 1,782,933 12,951 1,795,884

Schroders UK Real Estate Fund 08-May-18 69,612 -1.60% 66,000 479 66,479

1,950,128 -1.60% 1,848,933 13,431 1,862,364 3.20%

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 31-Jul-18 2,052,709 3.50% 2,000,249 7,046 2,007,295 4.68%

Totals 3,849,182 20,477 3,869,659 4.00%

Page 174



 
The annual revenue return is dependent on the property fund achieving rental 
income returns on the commercial property portfolio which has been relatively stable 
in the past due to the quality of the commercial property owned by the fund. With 
regard to the growth (or contraction) in the overall asset value – over the longer term, 
growth has been consistent but can be subject to market correction (and losses) in 
the short term. However, it has been recognised that the funds will be a long term 
investment for 10-15 years and would not be redeemed to realise a loss. A budget / 
reserve of £600k will also be available to mitigate any losses. 
 
The MTFS includes budgeted income of £300k for 2020/21 (£480k pa from 2021/22) 
arising from investment of the full £12m budgeted, however, due to uncertainty 
around arrangements for Brexit and the associated impact on the economy, and then 
the further uncertainty and questions over the potential outlook for future property 
fund returns as a result of the coronavirus, any further investment in property funds 
had been delayed until there is more clarity. 
 
At the meeting on 15th July 2020, Members of the Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
considered the Capital Outturn report for 2019/20 concluding before any further 
investments in property funds under existing delegations are made, that a review be 
carried out. 
 
As the Committee nominated by Council for the scrutiny of Treasury Management 
functions, it was recommended to and approved by Cabinet on 30th July that the 
review be scrutinised by the Audit & Governance Committee to inform the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Mid-Year Review 
Report due to be presented to Council in December 2020. This was considered at 
the Audit & Governance Committee on 29th October 2020 where it was resolved that 
it be recommended to Cabinet that the planned investments in property funds be 
deferred, with a review during Spring 2021 when the situation should be clearer, to 
inform future investment plans. This was approved at the Council meeting on 15th 
December 2020. 
 
Regeneration of Town Centre and Purchase of Gungate site 
 
Council on 11th April 2018 approved the purchase of the Gungate site within 
Tamworth town centre, incorporating the site of the former Gungate shopping 
precinct; a private pay and display car park currently leased to NCP for a term of 26 
years; and a Council run pay and display car park leased to the Council on a 
peppercorn lease until 2062. This was funded from a £4milion capital budget 
financed from capital receipts from the sale of the Golf Course. Following the 
purchase of this site, the Council is now in receipt of an additional income stream in 
respect of the area leased to NCP.  
 
The Council is entitled to purchase land to hold as an investment and regeneration 
opportunity under the Local Government Act 1972; and the Local Government Act 
2003 gives the Council the power to invest for any purpose relevant to its functions 
under any enactment, or for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial 
affairs. 
 

Page 175



As part of this report, Members also approved the development of a regeneration 
opportunity including further site acquisition should this be beneficial; including 
formal negotiations with Staffordshire County Council and Staffordshire Police to 
look at the inclusion of land bordering the site; and to commence masterplanning 
works to bring the site to a commercially viable development opportunity. 
 
The report to Council recognised that any return from future redevelopment is not 
guaranteed, and that it could take several years to get a major regeneration project 
up and running.  Initial plans are for a mixed housing/leisure development.  
 
The Council has been working with Aspinall Verdi and Altair  to develop options for 
the site, and resources were secured from the Local Government Association (LGA) 
to pay for 40 days’ consultancy; and an £80k grant was  received from the Greater 
Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership.   
 
Solway (Tamworth) Ltd 
 
In line with plans set out in the Commercial Investment Strategy, Council on 17th July 
2018 approved the establishment of Solway (Tamworth) Ltd, a trading company to 
be wholly owned by the Council, with the Chief Executive, Leader of the Council and 
Executive Director Finance as Directors of the Company. The disposal of land 
owned by the Council at Solway Close to be purchased by the Company for the 
development of private housing  for rent was also approved, with a budget of 
£4million being established from capital receipts from the sale of the Golf Course to 
provide a loan for the company to purchase the land.  
 
Extensive legal advice was received from Trowers and Hamlins on potential options 
and governance models, and tax advice and a financial viability model was obtained 
from KPMG to inform decision making. A full risk assessment as part of the business 
case was developed and reported to Members. 
 
It has been projected that the Council will earn a return to the General Fund from the 
Company from the following sources:- 
 

 Debt interest charged to the Company on the planned loan from the Council -  
market interest rate will be applied to comply with state aid legislation; 

 

 A return on equity invested (through dividends) which reflects profits back to 
the Council from the Company offering the properties for rent at market value; 
and 

 

 The repayment of the loan over approx. 30 years. 
 

Including projected land acquisition costs (generating a capital receipt for the 
Council) the projected start-up and construction cost for 20 dwellings is £3.6m which 
will be financed via a loan from the Council to the company of £1.7m (48%) and an 
equity investment as sole shareholder of £1.9m (52%). 
 
  

Page 176



The table below details the target returns to the Council’s General Fund over the 
next three years. Beyond this, the Council will receive a steady inflation-linked 
income, plus debt repayment and asset growth. The financial viability model 
prepared by KPMG shows over a 30 year timeframe annual returns to the General 
Fund ranging from £160k to £231k. 
 

General Fund Returns 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  £ £ £ 

Interest on loan (c 4.5%) 66,887 77,342 75,457 

Dividends (c 4.5%) 0 41,358 34,078 

Sub-Total (Revenue) 66,887 118,700 109,535 

Debt repayment (capital receipt) 0 41,104 42,046 

TOTAL 66,887 159,804 151,581 

Return 3.90% 4.50% 4.30% 

 
Future High Streets Fund 
 
The Government Future High Streets Fund was launched at the start of 2019 as part 
of a package of interventions aimed at improving Town Centres. Tamworth 
submitted its Expression of Interest (EOI) by the short deadline of March 22nd 2019. 
The EOI had to primarily focus on the story of the Town Centre and its need for this 
funding. The fund will grant between £5million and £25million to projects that will 
structurally transform Town Centres and meet local challenges. There was no 
requirement in the EOI to provide detailed projects, instead just provide short 
summaries of potential opportunities for which the funding could be used. 
 
The £625 million fund had the following objectives: 

 Investment in physical infrastructure 

 Acquisition and assembly of land including to support new housing, 
workspaces and public realm. 

 Improvements to transport access, traffic flow and circulation in the area. 

 Supporting change of use including (where appropriate) housing delivery and 
densification. 

 Supporting adaptation of the high street in response to changing technology. 
 
The key challenges articulated in the EOI for Tamworth Town Centre were: 

 High levels of vacant properties (predominantly retail – 14.2%) 

 Unbalanced housing, retail and office accommodation offer, above average 
number of retail units, below average number of offices and homes.  

 Limited night time economy: poor food drink and evening leisure offer. 

 General perception that the Town is a dated, unsafe and unattractive 
environment. 

 
On August 27th 2019 the Council was informed that it had successfully been moved 
into tranche 2 of the fund project and would move directly to business case 
development stage.  
 
Following its completion and approval by Full Council, the Council submitted the 
completed Full Business Case to government during July 2020. 

Page 177



 
During December 2020, the Government confirmed that the Council has been 
awarded £21.65m, from the Government’s £1bn Future High Streets Fund to renew 
and reshape town centres, to deliver a number of projects designed to create a town 
centre that meets the needs of 21st century residents, shoppers and visitors. 
 
It will bring town centre landowners, businesses, councils and other partners 
together, working on the common goal of reshaping the town centre into a place that 
Tamworth residents are proud of, that is economically successful and that draws 
visitors from around the country. 
 
Commercial and Industrial Property 
 
The following table details the Council’s current holding of commercial and industrial 
property. 
 
INVESTMENT  

VALUATION 
@ 31/03/19      

£ 

 
INCOME 
2019/20     

£ 

 
 

RETURN    
% 

 
VALUATION 
@ 31/03/20      

£ 

ESTIMATED 

INCOME 
2020/21     

£ 

 
 

RETURN    
% 

Amington Industrial 
Estate (ground rents) 

6,531,250 305,720 4.68 6,551,000 305,720 4.67 

Lichfield Industrial Estate 
(ground rents plus 1 
leased plot) 

2,947,000 124,700 4.23 2,947,000 144,830 4.91 

Local Centre Shops 
1,986,600 223,777 11.26 2,355,800 226,292 9.61 

Misc Corporate Property 
18,707,042 1,188,952 6.36 18,752,529 1,187,905 6.33 

Sandy Way Industrial 
Units 

2,420,550 284,858 11.77 2,642,900 295,871 11.19 

Tamworth Business 
Centre 

934,900 118,090 12.63 1,130,800 120,073 10.62 

Town Centre Shops 
1,563,752 141,632 9.06 1,757,752 140,282 7.98 

Total 
35,091,094 2,387,729 6.80 36,137,781 2,420,972 6.70 

 
The corporate asset management strategy report prepared by Ridge in October 
2015 indicated estimated costs of maintenance over 10 years of £3.288m for non-
operational commercial property and £1.861m for non-operational retail property.  
 
The above assets currently deliver a return for the Council and assist in balancing 
the MTFS.  The capital programme includes £75k p.a. to ensure Industrial properties 
are compliant with the Energy Act and have Energy Performance Certificates as with 
effect from April 2018 it will not be possible to enter into long term lease agreements 
for commercial and industrial units with an EPC rating of 'E' or less. Many of our 
units fall into this category and will require a degree of improvement once they 
become vacant in order to relet- 
 

The Council also has a Building Repairs Fund of c.£400k p.a. which should be 
included in the planned approach to asset management. 
 

Page 178



A disposals policy is in place at the Council, however there is currently no plan or 
strategy to manage those assets which may be surplus to requirements/do not 
generate a return. It is recognised that the following action needs to be finalised in 
2021/22, informed by the results of the Stock Condition survey and updated Asset 
Management plan:- 
 

1) Corporate asset viability model to be developed, identifying whole life 
costs and value for money of each group of assets, with reference to 
demand, costs and income generated 
 

2) The Asset Strategy Steering Group to consider the results of this 
modelling and identify poorly performing and well performing assets, 
and as a result develop a plan for future maintenance and investment, 
and options appraisal/disposals plans as appropriate 

 
3) Risk register around corporate asset management to be developed 

 
4) Process for monitoring performance of commercial property to be 

established, and reporting on a routine and exception basis to be 
implemented 
 

5) A planned approach to be established for the use of the Building 
Repairs Fund for both planned maintenance & responsive repairs & 
Building Condition Standards. 

 
 
KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS 
 
Treasury Management staff are either AAT or CCAB qualified and the three CCAB 
qualified staff must complete the annual CPD requirements of their professional 
accountancy bodies.  Link Asset Services are currently contracted to provide 
treasury management advice and guidance, and have also been engaged to provide 
other one-off pieces of work, eg. property funds review in early 2018 and 
guidance/review of the draft Capital Strategy in December 2018.  
 
Training for Members with regard to treasury management is undertaken on a 
regular basis, most recently in November 2019. In February 2018, there was also a 
presentation to Members from Link Asset Services with regard to our investments in 
property funds. 
 
With regard to non-treasury investments, the Council employs qualified and 
experienced staff such as accountants, solicitors and surveyors. It is fully supportive 
in providing access to courses both internal and external to enable those staff to 
complete their Continuing Professional Development (CPD) requirements. 
 
The Council ensures that its Members are qualified to undertake their governance 
role by providing training opportunities and access to workshops, etc. 
 
The Council also procures expert advice and assistance such as financial and legal 
advice as and when required.  

Page 179



 
Annex A 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 – 2025/26 
 
Following a review of the Capital Programme approved by Council on 25th February 
2020, a revised programme has been formulated including additional schemes which 
have been put forward for inclusion. 
 
A schedule of the capital scheme appraisals for the General Fund (GF) & Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) received for consideration is attached at Appendix H – 
General Fund (GF) and Appendix I – Housing (HRA), together with the likely 
available sources of funding (capital receipts / grants / supported borrowing etc.). 
 
With regard to the contingency schemes/allocation, £135k remains in current year 
GF contingency funds and £100k remains in current year HRA contingency funds 
(which will be re-profiled into 2020/21 to provide contingency funding). 
 
To inform discussions, the proposals have been reviewed by the Asset Strategy 
Steering Group and Corporate Management Team with initial comments & 
suggestions for each of the schemes outlined below. 
 
 

 General Fund 

  

 The minimum approved level of GF capital balances is £0.5million which, 
should the programme progress without amendment, would mean £1.7m in 
borrowing would be needed (or use of the capital receipt) over the next 5 
years (£1.25m over 3 years, £1.5m over 4 years) – a reduction £0.3m over 3 
years (& £0.4m over 4 years) since the provisional programme was approved, 
due to higher levels of DFG grant income. 

  

1) Technology Replacement – Infrastructure upgrade/Network 
Security/Refresh of Thin Clients 

 Project Score: 72 

 An updated capital submission had been prepared for £60kp.a. – revised to 
£60k for 2 years then £30k p.a. 
Significantly increased reliance on ICT has resulted in a commitment to 
ongoing, large scale upgrade and maintenance to the TBC infrastructure, in 
line with technology lifecycles. The Council is also on a journey towards 
digital transformation and self service for customers, demand for flexible 
resilient and available ICT services to support this requires continued 
investment into the authorities hardware and associated software. The 
organisation is also establishing new, more flexible and agile ways of working 
which requires investment into technology to support ongoing effectiveness. 
External factors including legislative requirements from central government in 
the guise of the Public Sector Network (PSN) Code of Connection, and the 
increase in required investment into cyber security to keep the councils 
network secure and available means continued investment is essential. It 
should be noted that corporate applications are excluded from this schedule 
of planned work. 

Page 180



 An annual £60k budget was approved for 2020/21 with an expectation 
that budgets from 2021/22 onwards would be informed by the 
conclusions of the priority review and ICT Strategy (including a detailed 
breakdown of the proposed spend). 
 
No savings / payback from the investment have been identified. 
The section for Consultation and project plan has not been completed. 

  

2) V13 Income Management System & 3 D Secure 

 Project Score: 48 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £27.4k in 
2021/22 for an upgrade of the payment management system to V13 & 
implementation of 3D Secure to meet mandatory customer authentication 
system as required by the FCA. 

 The appraisal identifies additional hosting costs of £8.5k p.a. A Cloud hosted 
solution is available with an additional revenue budgetary impact for the 
hosting fee, but, including capital impact, over 5 years savings will be around 
£6k. Annual revenue commitments associated with the system will increase 
but there will be no capital outlay required for upgrades over the longer year 
term. Savings could also be made in associated on premise hardware 
maintenance. However, the Cloud solution proposed is subject to review 

 An up to date income system is needed and switching to another system 
would be more costly in terms of implementation, training, interfaces, etc 

  

3) Off Street Car Parking Infrastructure Update 

 Project Score: 24 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £50k in 
2021/22 to update all car parking machines across the Council’s Town Centre 
car parking estate in order to ensure:  

 less maintenance costs;  

 lower staff resource required;  

 full back end reporting system;  

 cashless paying on machines;  

 less vulnerable to criminal activity;  

 consistent machines across all estate,  

 ability to generate more income through less down time and more user 
friendly interface.  

£68k of current budgets/reserves in 2020/21 will be used to start this project. 
The capital allocation in this bid is to complete the project. 

 Use of an existing Growth and Enterprise officer (0.6 FTE) at a cost of £24k 
p.a. is included in the revenue implications – offset by increased income of 
£52k p.a. 

Page 181



 Implementation, for one year only, will be funded through the use of 
existing Officers. 
 
The effect of the pandemic on income levels needs to be considered – 
which will affect the additional income forecasts. 
 
The business case makes reference to more efficient working / less 
management and collection costs but no savings have been included. 

  

3) Refurbishment of Castle Grounds Tennis Courts 

 Project Score: 48 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £125k 
(fully funded from Section 106 monies of £120k and a £5k revenue 
contribution) in 2021/22 for resurfacing of existing tennis courts in castle 
grounds with an all weather type surface to provide multi sport access and 
hire all year round for tennis, 5 a side football, basketball etc. Will also include 
changes/improvements to access gates and external fencing and lighting.  
 

 The current surface is in a poor condition and only suitable for tennis and has 
a limited life for use. The COVID19 pandemic has resulted in people requiring 
more high quality outdoor facilities for exercise and recreation. 

 There will be ongoing maintenance costs of £1k from 2022/23 which can be 
met from existing budgets, together with increased income of £2k p.a.. 

 A £2k p.a. return on the investment seems low given the projected 
demand / quality of the facilities outlined. 
The section for Consultation has not been completed. 

  

4) With regard to the provisional programme: 

  

a) Endpoint Protection and Web-Email Filter 

 Project Score: 60 

 An updated appraisal has not been prepared for spend of £40k in 2023/24 
following the 3 year contracts for Endpoint Protection (covering Anti Virus,Anti 
Malware and Encryption and the contract for Web and Email filtering). 

  

b) Street Lighting 

 An updated appraisal has not been prepared – following inclusion of a rolling 
programme with an annual spend required from 2016/17. The Council has its 
own stock of street lighting across the borough, mainly in housing areas and 
other communal parts such as play areas and car parks. The street lighting 
assets are inspected and maintained by Eon on behalf of the Council under 
the terms of Staffordshire County Council PFI contract with Eon. Eon have 
produced a replacement street lighting programme which spans 40 years and 
includes the replacement of all the lighting columns based on 'their life 
expectancy'  and a lighting head replacement programme based on providing 
more efficient low energy lighting heads. The profile reflects the HRA related 
element of the costs. 

 
 

 

Page 182



c) Replacement Castle Grounds Play Area 

 An updated appraisal has not been prepared following inclusion of £375k for 
2021/22. 

  

d) Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

 The provisional programme included £650k p.a. part funded by redistributed 
Better Care Fund (BCF) grant of £481k (increased from £400k p.a.).  

 An update regarding the Government review is requested (including 
options for managing / mitigating costs (e.g. use of the Regulatory 
Reform Order – RRO - approach) and current demand levels). 
 
The c.£0.2m p.a. net funding is be funded via capital receipts (with an 
associated revenue loss of investment interest), borrowing (with 
revenue interest/debt repayment costs) or a revenue contribution. 

  

e) Energy Efficiency Upgrades to Commercial & Industrial Units 

 An updated appraisal has not been prepared following inclusion of a rolling 
programme with an annual spend of £75k required from 2017/18 for 5 years. 

 To fund a degree of improvement to industrial units when they become 
vacant in order to be able to re-let them – as, with effect from April 2018, it 
will not be possible to enter into long term lease agreements for commercial 
and industrial units with and EPC rating of 'E' or less. 

 Depending on void levels, we could expect to lose around £20k p.a. 
increasing by £20k p.a. for the next 5 years (c.£300k over 5 years). 

 If we are able to let on License or Tenancy at Will arrangements we may be 
able to maintain a level of income but there will be an increase in other costs 
such as NNDR payments, repair costs, security costs and the like. 

 Investment in enveloping works to improve energy efficiency will prolong the 
life of the estate at the current rent levels but ultimately Sandy Way phase 2 
will require a more significant investment project to give a long life 
expectancy. 

  

f) Major repair to Castle Elevations 

 Project Score: 8 

 An updated capital submission has not been prepared for spend of £150k in 
2021/22 (£250k in 2020/21) for major repairs to castle elevation walls, roof 
areas and walkways. 

  

g) CCTV Upgrades 

 Following approval of the Shared Service, Capital budgets of £45,714 p.a. 
have been included from 2021/22 – part funded by OPCC grant of £24k p.a. 

  

7) General Fund Capital Contingency Budget 

 The remaining 2020/21 contingency budget of £135k will be rolled forward to 
2021/22.  

Page 183



Housing 
 
There has been some significant changes in the Housing capital programme from 
that provisionally approved – with a number of new schemes proposed. It has also 
been updated to include the new year 5 costs for 2025/26. 
 
Given the significant reduction in spend over the 4 years of c.£4m (c.£10m reduction 
less the re-profiling of £6m from years 2,3,4 & 5 into 2020/21 to allow for the 
acquisition of housing property [£1.5m from each year from Regeneration & 
Affordable Housing]) then funding remaining within the HRA capital reserves is 
forecast at £7m, pending the results of the planned stock condition surveys. 
 
It should be noted that there are no debt repayment costs for the HRA and the 
Government has now lifted the previous debt cap (of £79.407m). The current HRA 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) stands at £68.53m with planned borrowing in 
2020/21 of £2m relating to the Tinkers Green and Kerria Regeneration projects – 
reduced from £7.2m due to receipt of Homes England grant of c.£5m. 
 

 Housing Revenue Account 

  

The provisional capital programme has been reviewed and updated: 

  

a) Regeneration and New Affordable Housing 

 Funding of £1.75m p.a. from 2021/22 had been provisionally approved. 

 This has been reduced to £250k for 2021/22 to 2024/25 (due to the re-
profiling of £6,000,000 from years 2,3,4 & 5 into 2020/21 to allow for the 
acquisition of housing property [£1,500,000 from each year] with £1.75m 
added for 2025/26. 

  

b) Street Lighting 

 HRA share of £76k for year 5 has been included in line with the approved 
programme. 

  

c) High Rise Lift Renewal (£180k in 2021/22) and Insulation (£17.9k p.a.) 
budgets have been removed as no new bids have been received. Capital 
salaries have remained at £200k p.a. 

 
  

Page 184



Detailed Programme Changes: 
 
Housing Revenue Account  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

Capital Programme £ £ £ £ £ £ 

      
 

  
 

  

Structural Works  (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) 200,000 (200,000) 

Bathroom Renewals  (350,000) - - - 567,800 217,800 
Gas Central Heating 
Upgrades and Renewals  - - (302,900) (302,900) 685,500 79,700 

Kitchen Renewals  (250,000) - - - 1,037,500 787,500 
Major Roofing Overhaul and 
Renewals  200,000   (284,800) (284,800) 911,400 541,800 

Window and Door Renewals  (250,400) (248,900) (331,900) (331,900) 400,000 (763,100) 
Neighbourhood 
Regeneration  (249,100) (249,100) (249,100) (249,100) 500,000 (496,400) 
Disabled Facilities 
Adaptations  350,000 - - - 212,500 562,500 

Electrical upgrade & Rewire  (212,200) (212,200) (212,200) (212,200) 150,000 (698,800) 

CO / Smoke Detectors  - - (16,000) (16,000) 64,000 32,000 

Insulation (17,900) (17,900) (17,900) (17,900) - (71,600) 
Replacement of High Rise 
Soil Stacks 805,000 - - - - 805,000 

High Rise Lift Renewal  - (180,000) - - - (180,000) 
Replacement of High Rise 
Ventilation System  120,000 - - - - 120,000 

Sheltered Schemes  - - (40,000) (40,000) 100,000 20,000 
Energy Efficiency 
Improvements  - - - - 70,000 70,000 

Capital Salaries  - - - - 200,000 200,000 
Street Lighting  - - - - 76,420 76,420 
Improvements to Retained 
Garage Sites  50,000 50,000 (700,000) (700,000) - (1,300,000) 
Construction of new build 
properties - Caledonian 
depot site  1,507,900 - - - - 1,507,900 
Regeneration and New 
Affordable Housing (1,500,000) (1,500,000) (1,500,000) (1,500,000) 1,750,000 (4,250,000) 
Telecare system upgrades 35,500 30,000 - - - 65,500 

Total HRA Capital 138,800 (2,428,100) (3,754,800) (3,754,800) 6,925,120 (2,873,780) 

 

 Revised Bids Part 1 

 Revised Bids Part 2 

 New Scheme Bids 

 Amended Bid 

 Removed / Amended 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 185



 New Capital Appraisals have been received: 

  

1) Improvements to Retained Garage Sites 

 Project Score: 12 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £750k in 
2021/22 and 2022/23 (previously approved programme included £700k p.a.) 
for Improvements to garage sites identified for retention following completion 
of survey work during 2020. 

 
 

 

2) Construction of new build properties on Caledonian depot site 

 Project Score: 40 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £1.508m 
in 2021/22 for the construction of new build properties on Caledonian depot 
site. 

 Rental income of £48k p.a. is forecast with additional repairs and investment 
costs of £2.5k p.a. 

  

3) Telecare system upgrades 

 A new capital submission had been prepared for potential spend of £65.5k 
over 2 years for the upgrade of telecare systems to sheltered schemes and 
high-rise to make them digitally compatible in time for the BT digital 
switchover in 2025. 

  

 
  

Page 186



 

CAPITAL STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 
 

ANNEX B 

    REF ACTION RESPONSIBILITY TIMESCALE 

1 

The capital appraisal process and associated documentation to 
be reviewed and updated where appropriate to ensure proper 
consideration is given to whole life costs of schemes; alternative 
options; risk management, etc, and to address the concerns 
outlined on completion of the CIPFA Property Capital Strategy 
Self-Assessment Checklist.  

L Pugh Summer 2021 

2 

The Asset Management Strategy to be reviewed and updated. 
An up to date stock condition survey should be commissioned, 
to feed into the Asset Management Plan. This should set out the 
detailed capital resources/expenditure required to maintain 
assets, together with the associated timeframe, to inform 
options appraisal and feed into the capital strategy for 
ASSG/CMT review of potential schemes.  

P Weston Spring 2021 

3 

Corporate asset viability models to be developed, identifying 
whole life costs and value for money of each group of assets, 
with reference to demand, costs and income generated  

L Pugh/P 
Weston/J 
Goodfellow/Asset 
Strategy Steering 
Group 
 

Commenced 
October 2019 – 

ongoing 
 

Autumn 2021 

4 

The Asset Strategy Steering Group to consider the results of this 
modelling and identify poorly performing and well performing 
assets, and as a result develop a plan for future maintenance 
and investment, and options appraisal/disposals plans as 
appropriate 

Asset Strategy 
Steering Group 

Commence 
October 2019 – 

ongoing 
 

Autumn 2021 

5 
Risk register around corporate asset management to be 
developed 

P Weston Spring 2021 

6 

Process for monitoring performance of commercial property to 
be established, and reporting on a routine and exception basis 
to be implemented 

P Weston/L 
Pugh/J 
Goodfellow 

Commence 
October 2019 – 

ongoing 
 

Summer 2021 
 

7 

A planned approach to be established for the use of the Building 
Repairs Fund for both planned maintenance & responsive 
repairs & Building Condition Standards 

P Weston/L 
Pugh/J 
Goodfellow 

 Commence 
October 2019 – 

ongoing 
 

Summer 2021 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 187



CAPITAL STRATEGY RISK REGISTER           ANNEX C 
 
 

 
 
 

 

P
age 188



 
 

Part 1 – Details  
What Policy/ Procedure/ 
Strategy/Project/Service 
is being assessed? 

Statutory requirement to prepare a budget, set the 
Council tax and rent for the following financial year. 
 
The report incorporates the Corporate Vision & Corporate 
Priorities of the Authority which are reflected within the 
Budget 2021/22 & Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(Revenue & Capital). The Corporate Vision & Corporate 
Priorities are clear and accessible by stating what we aim 
to achieve, how we will do it and the resources we will 
use to support these aims.  
 
The Vision for Tamworth is underpinned by high level, 
evidence based priorities that focus upon both Tamworth 
(the place), the communities served (the people) as well 
as the Council (the organisation). 
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity 
will be less than in previous years which means that we 
will need to maintain our approach to innovation, 
collaboration and transformation.  So, not only will the 
Council seek investment from businesses and developers, 
but the Council itself will explore viable and sustainable 
investment opportunities using all returns to support 
public services. 
 
The Vision is focused on longer term, aspirational goals of 
the Council. The Corporate Priorities identify, in the short 
to medium term, the key areas for improvement which 
will change in future years as the Council realigns to local 
aspirations, central government policy and its 
performance. 
 
The budget and associated forecast will ensure that 
appropriate resources are focussed on areas we have 
identified as priorities. 
 
 

Date Conducted 
 

February 2021 

Name of Lead Officer 
and Service Area 

Stefan Garner, Executive Director Finance 

Commissioning Team 
(if applicable) 

N/A 

Appendix P 

Page 189



Director Responsible for  
project/service area 

Stefan Garner, Executive Director Finance 

Who are the main 
stakeholders 

Local residents / customers 
Members 
Partners (Local Businesses, Voluntary Organisations, other 
public sector bodies, other stakeholders) 
Tamworth Strategic Partnership 
 

Describe what 
consultation has been 
undertaken.  Who was 
involved and what was 
the outcome 

The Budget and Priorities were informed through 
consultation with the people of Tamworth. This included 
feedback from The State of Tamworth Debate, responses 
arising from the Tamworth Listens consultation & 
customer feedback. 
 
Budget Consultation feedback reported to Cabinet 12th 
November 2020. 
 
Tenants Consultative Group – informed HRA business 
plan & associated budgetary implications. 
 
Members – prior to approval by Cabinet/Council (Budget 
Workshop 2nd December 2020,  Joint Scrutiny Committee 
(Budget) 27th January 2021); 

Outline the wider 
research that has taken 
place (E.G. 
commissioners, 
partners, other 
providers etc) 

The budget consultation is carried out through 3 online 
surveys. A survey that is tailored for businesses, a full 
survey aimed at residents and a survey that is tailored for 
the voluntary and community sector.  
 
The online residents survey is promoted using social 
networking/media sites and through email contact 
databases. The business survey is promoted through 
business social networking sites and business email 
contact databases. The voluntary and community sector 
survey is promoted through email contact databases. 
 

What are you assessing? 
Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A decision to review or 
change a service 
 

 

A 
Strategy/Policy/Procedure 
 
 

 

A function, service or 
project 
 

 

What kind of 
assessment is it?  
Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 

New 
 

 

Existing 
 

 

Being reviewed  

Page 190



 

Being reviewed as a result 
of budget constraints / End 
of Contract 

 

 
 

Part 2 – Summary of Assessment  
Give a summary of your proposal and set out the aims/ objectives/ purposes/ and 
outcomes of the area you are impact assessing. 
 
Sound procedures / strategy in place 
Financial governance, accountability & steward ship 
Compliance with legislation – Council tax, rent and revenue & capital programme set 
Based on informed feedback from interested parties / focus groups (Tamworth 
Listens Consultation, Tenants Groups etc.) 
 
The way the Council prepares and monitors its budgets (including professional 
standards and statutory timetables) is one of the external auditors key lines of 
enquiry in assessing the Council’s performance under their annual VFM assessment. 
 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief Finance Officer to 
report on the robustness of the estimates included in the budget and the adequacy 
of the reserves for which the budget provides. (In the Executive Director Finance’s 
view, the budget proposals include estimates which take into account circumstances 
and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the budget.  In 
his view, the level of reserves remains adequate for the Borough Council based on 
this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of preparing it.) 
 

Who will be affected and how? 
 
Local residents / customers 
Members 
Partners (Local Businesses, Voluntary Organisations, other public sector bodies, 
other stakeholders) 
 
Through continued service provision 
 

Are there any other functions, policies or services linked to this impact assessment? 
 

Yes    No   
 

If you answered ‘Yes’, please indicate what they are? 
 
Corporate Capital Strategy & Asset Management Plan (Separate CIA) 
Treasury Management Strategy & Prudential Indicators (Separate CIA) 
 
 

Part 3 – Impact on the Community  
Thinking about each of the Areas below, does or could the Policy function, or 
service have a direct impact on them? 
 

Page 191



Impact Area Yes No Reason (provide brief 
explanation ) 

Age   

None directly arising from 
the MTFS but through 

associated actions, 
strategies and plans 

(separate EIAs completed) – 
informed by budget 

consultation process 

Disability   
Gender Reassignment   
Marriage & Civil Partnership   
Pregnancy & Maternity   
Race   
Religion or belief   
Sexual orientation   
Sex   
Gypsy/Travelling Community   
Those with Caring/Dependent 
responsibilities  

  

Those having an offending 
past 

  

Children   
Vulnerable Adults   
Families   
Those who are homeless   
Those on low income   
Those with Drug or Alcohol 
problems 

  

Those with Mental Health 
issues 

  

Those with Physical Health 
issues 

  

Other (Please Detail) 
 

  

 

Part 4 – Risk Assessment 
From evidence given from previous question, please detail what measures or 
changes will be put in place to mitigate adverse implications 

Impact Area 
 

Details of the Impact Action to reduce risk 

Eg:  Families Families no longer 
supported which may 
lead to a reduced 
standard of living & 
subsequent health 
issues 

Signposting to other services.  Look to 
external funding opportunities.  

None directly arising from the MTFS but through associated actions, strategies and 
plans (separate EIAs completed) – informed by budget consultation process. 
 

Page 192



 
Part 5 - Action Plan and Review  
 
Detail in the plan below, actions that you have identified in your CIA, which will eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
and/or foster good relations. 
 
If you are unable to eliminate or reduce negative impact on any of the impact areas, you should explain why 
 

Impact (positive or 
negative) identified 

Action Person(s) 
responsible 

Target date Required outcome 

 
 

Outcomes and Actions entered onto 
Pentana 

   

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
Date of Review (If applicable) ……………………………………………….. 

P
age 193



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To receive the Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22
	Appendix N Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22
	Appendix O Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22
	Appendix P Corporate Vision, Priorities Plan, Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22


